





The Sugarcane Value Chain in Latin America and Asia

Main Actors, Market Mechanisms, Labour Issues and Opportunities

Diana Quiroz, Barbara Kuepper, Gerard Rijk, Eline Achterberg 5 May 2021

Colophon

This research report is commissioned and published by CNV Internationaal.

About Profundo

With profound research and advice, Profundo aims to make a practical contribution to a sustainable world and social justice. Quality comes first, aiming at the needs of our clients. Thematically we focus on commodity chains, the financial sector and corporate social responsibility. More information on Profundo can be found at www.profundo.nl.

Authorship

This report was researched and written by Diana Quiroz, Barbara Kuepper, Gerard Rijk and Eline Achterberg, with contributions of Ward Warmerdam and Mara Werkman. Correct citation of this document: Quiroz, D., Kuepper, B., Rijk, G., and E. Achterberg (2021, May), *The Sugarcane Value Chain in Latin America and Asia*, Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Profundo.

Front page cover photograph by Carl Davies, CSIRO is licensed under CC BY 3.0.

Copyright

© 2021 CNV Internationaal

Disclaimer

Profundo observes the greatest possible care in collecting information and drafting publications but cannot guarantee that this report is complete. Profundo assumes no responsibility for errors in the sources used, nor for changes after the date of publication. The report is provided for informational purposes and is not to be read as providing endorsements, representations or warranties of any kind whatsoever. Profundo will not accept any liability for damage arising from the use of this publication.

Contents

Summary		1
Abbreviation	5	3
Introduction .		4
Chapter 1	Methodology	6
1.1	Objective	6
1.2	Sugar sector mapping	6
1.2.1	Global developments and dynamics in the sugar sector	6
1.2.2	Country sector profiles	7
1.2.3	Relationships with Dutch financial institutions	7
1.2.4	Price-setting, sales and profits	7
1.2.5	Environmental and social responsibility issues	8
Chapter 2	The global sugarcane market	9
2.1	Global sugar crop production and the role of sugarcane	
2.2	Key products derived from sugarcane	10
2.3	Global sugar market developments and drivers	11
2.3.1	Market volatility	11
2.3.2	Global sugar consumption	13
2.3.3	The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic	13
2.3.4	Sugar consumption outlook	13
2.4	Main social and environmental sustainability issues in sugarcane production	14
2.5	Voluntary certification schemes for sugarcane production	16
2.6	Main traders of sugarcane products	17
2.7	Main buyers of cane sugar	18
Chapter 3	The sugarcane sector in selected countries	19
3.1	Role of focus countries in sugar production	19
3.2	Direct Dutch imports of sugarcane products from focus countries	20
3.3	Bolivia	20
3.3.1	Production of sugarcane and derived products	20
3.3.2	Key industry actors	21
3.3.3	Trade relationships	22
3.3.4	Impact of COVID-19	23
3.3.5	Living wages	23
3.4	Colombia	24
3.4.1	Production of sugarcane and derived products	24
3.4.2	Key industry actors	25
3.4.3	Trade relationships	
3.4.4	Impacts of COVID-19	
3.4.5	Living wages	27
3.5	Guatemala	27
3.5.1	Production of sugarcane and derived products	27
3.5.2	Key industry actors	29

3.5.3	Trade relationships	
3.5.4	Impact of COVID-19	
3.5.5	Living wages	
3.6	Nicaragua	
3.6.1	Production of sugarcane and derived products	
3.6.2	Key industry actors	
3.6.3	Trade relationships	
3.6.4	Impact of COVID-19	
3.6.5	Living wages	
3.7	Peru	
3.7.1	Production of sugarcane and derived products	
3.7.2	Key industry actors	
3.7.3	Trade relationships	
3.7.4	Impact of COVID-19	
3.7.5	Living wages	
3.8	Cambodia	
3.8.1	Sugarcane production and derived products	
3.8.2	Key industry actors	
3.8.3	Trade relationships	
3.8.4	Impact of COVID-19	
3.8.5	Living wages	
3.9	Indonesia	
3.9.1	Sugarcane production and derived products	
3.9.2	Key industry actors	
3.9.3	Trade relationships	
3.9.4	Impact of COVID-19	
3.9.5	Living wages	
3.10	Vietnam	
3.10.1	Sugarcane production and derived products	
3.10.2	Key industry actors	
3.10.3	Trade relationships	
3.10.4	Impact of COVID-19	
3.10.5	Living wages	
3.11	Conclusions	
Chapter 4	Relationships between selected sugar companies and Dutch financial 50	institutions
4.1	Loans and underwriting	50
4.2	Bond- and shareholdings	51
Chapter 5	Price-setting, sales, and profits in the sugarcane value chain	52
5.1	Key actors in the sugarcane value chain: turnover and profits	52
5.1.1	Millers and farmers	
5.1.2	Domestic wholesalers and domestic retail	54
5.1.3	Traders	54
5.1.4	Fast-Moving Consumer Good companies and other processors	55

5.1.5	Supermarkets and wholesalers/food service suppliers	
5.1.6	Biofuel producers and resellers	57
5.1.7	Summary of total value chain in sugarcane per sub-sector	58
5.2	Price-setting by key actors and sectors in the sugarcane chain	59
5.3	The top 6 companies generating most value and profits	59
Chapter 6	Appendix: Detailed country profiles	61
6.1	Bolivia	61
6.1.1	Working conditions	61
6.1.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	63
6.1.3	Social dialogue	64
6.1.4	Government involvement	64
6.1.5	Dutch governmental support	64
6.1.6	Labour rights initiatives	65
6.2	Colombia	65
6.2.1	Working conditions	65
6.2.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	69
6.2.3	Social dialogue	69
6.2.4	Government involvement	70
6.2.5	Dutch governmental support	70
6.2.6	Labour rights initiatives	70
6.3	Guatemala	71
6.3.1	Working conditions	71
6.3.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	74
6.3.3	Social dialogue	75
6.3.4	Government involvement	
6.3.5	Dutch governmental support	
6.3.6	Labour rights initiatives	75
6.4	Nicaragua	76
6.4.1	Working conditions	76
6.4.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	79
6.4.3	Social dialogue	79
6.4.4	Government involvement	80
6.4.5	Dutch governmental support	
6.4.6	Labour rights initiatives	80
6.5	Peru	81
6.5.1	Working conditions	
6.5.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	83
6.5.3	Government involvement	
6.5.4	Social dialogue	
6.5.5	Dutch governmental support	
6.5.6	Labour rights initiatives	
6.6	Cambodia	85
6.6.1	Working conditions	
6.6.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	

6	.6.3	Social dialogue	89
6	.6.4	Government involvement	89
6	.6.5	Dutch governmental support	89
6	.6.6	Labour rights initiatives	90
6	.7	Indonesia	90
6	.7.1	Working conditions	90
6	.7.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	93
6	.7.3	Social dialogue	
6	.7.4	Government involvement	94
6	.7.5	Dutch governmental support	94
6	.7.6	Labour rights initiatives	94
6	.8	Vietnam	94
6	.8.1	Working conditions	94
6	.8.2	Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector	97
6	.8.3	Government involvement	97
6	.8.4	Social dialogue	98
6	.8.5	Dutch governmental support	98
6	.8.6	Labour rights initiatives	98
Refer	ence		99

List of figures

Figure 1	Sugar production globally, 2019	9
Figure 2	Top sugarcane producers (based on volume), 2009 and 2019	10
Figure 3	Sugarcane processing stages and derived products	11
Figure 4	Evolution of world sugar prices, 1999 to 2019	12
Figure 5	Global sugar surplus and deficit, 2016/17 to 2020/21	12
Figure 6	Per capita sugar demand in major countries and regions, 2017-19 and 2029	14
Figure 7	Share of the eight focus countries in global sugarcane production, 2019	19
Figure 8	Energy generation and sales by in Guatemalan sugarcane mills, 2009/10 to 2019/20 (GWh)	28
Figure 9	EU sugar imports from Cambodia, 2009 to 2019	40

List of tables

Table 1	Top global sugar traders	17
Table 2	Major cane-sugar consuming companies, 2017	
Table 3	Dutch imports of sugar and sugar products from focus countries, 2019	20
Table 4	Sugarcane processers in Bolivia, 2020 harvest	22
Table 5	Top sugarcane processors in Colombia, 2018	25
Table 6	Top sugarcane processors in Guatemala, 2019/20	29

Table 7	Sugarcane processors in Nicaragua, 2018/19	32
Table 8	Top sugarcane processors in Peru, 2017	34
Table 9	Peruvian shippers of ethyl alcohol to the Netherlands, 2019	36
Table 10	Sugarcane processors in Cambodia, first nine months 2018	38
Table 11	Leading sugarcane companies in Indonesia, 2018	42
Table 12	Indonesian sugar refineries capacity, 2017	43
Table 13	Leading Vietnamese sugar processing companies, 2017/18	46
Table 14	Loans and underwriting per bank and trader, 2015-2020	50
Table 15	Bond- and shareholdings per group and investor, 2020-Q4	51
Table 16	Millers and farmers: Sugar value chain	53
Table 17	Local wholesalers: sugar value chain	54
Table 18	Global traders: Sugar value chain	55
Table 19	Fast-Moving Consumer Goods companies: Sugar value chain	56
Table 20	Supermarkets and food service: Sugar value chain	56
Table 21	Biofuel producers and resellers: Sugar value chain	57
Table 22	The total value chain in sugarcane: proceeds and profits	58
Table 23	Profit share along the sugarcane value chain	58
Table 24	Price-setting of embedded cane sugar/ton	59
Table 25	Top 6 of value and profit generating companies	60

Summary

This research project aims to inform the strategic development of the new CNV Internationaal programme and on developing lobby activities in its current programme in relation to the sugar sector, by identifying market dynamics, key actors, financiers, price setting, and social and environmental issues in a selection of producing countries. Geographically, the research focusses on five in Latin American countries (Bolivia, Colombia, Guatemala, Nicaragua, and Peru) and three countries in Asia (Cambodia, Indonesia, and Vietnam).

The global sugarcane sector

In many countries, sugarcane production generates important economic opportunities, providing income and employment for many farmers and workers. The global sugar market is dominated by a few large producing countries which account for a significant share of sugarcane production.

Sugarcane farms vary significantly in size, from just one or two hectares to tens of thousands of hectares. Generally, Latin America shows more mechanisation in sugarcane production than Asia and a structure with larger sugarcane-producing landholdings. This contrast is illustrated by the productive models of the two largest global sugarcane producers: while production in Brazil (the world's largest producer) is dominated by large plantations, small-scale farmers dominate in India (the second-largest producer), and in many other developing countries.

Reliable data on the number, size, and production levels of sugarcane farmers worldwide is scant. According to some estimates, as much as 40 % of sugarcane may be grown by as many as 60 million small-scale farmers, while the remaining 60 % is grown on large plantations. Next to large estates, small farmers supply the Latin American sugarcane sector, however, on average, their cultivation area is bigger than those of smallholder farmers in Asia.

The countries included in this research are all comparatively small producers with varying levels of development in their sugar industry. However, on the domestic market often a small number of companies controls the market. Across the countries analysed for this study, some level of vertical integration is observed, with companies often operating plantations, mills, and refineries, marketing sugar on the domestic market and playing an important role in exports. Some of the companies operating in Latin America are present in multiple countries, however, such movements are limited. In recent years, scandals around collusion, tax evasion or corruption involved key actors of the industry in several Latin American countries. For example. influential families control a significant share of the processing capacity in Colombia and Guatemala.

Especially in Cambodia, there is considerable insecurity around the status of production and processing and the role of specific companies in the sector. However, in contrast to the other countries included in the analysis, foreign-owned holdings seem to play a bigger role in Cambodia.

The use of bagasse for internal energy requirements as well as supply of surpluses into the national grids is observed across most countries. However, analysis of the potential for electricity generation from biomass sees opportunities for expansion in various markets. Overall, despite of government announcements and programmes for including bioethanol in gasoline, the development of the use of sugarcane-based ethanol for fuel use in several of the analysed countries is not developed yet or still in early stages.

Dutch financing of the sugarcane sector

This research found that between 2015 and 2020, three Dutch banks (ING Group, Rabobank, and ABN Amro) provided credit for a total US\$ 13,740 million to the top five sugar-training agrocommodity traders: Wilmar International, Alvean (JV Cargill & Copersucar), ED&F Man, Sucres et Denrées (Sucden), LDC (Louis Dreyfus Company). Moreover, nine Dutch bond- and shareholders invested in the commercial activities of three top global agro-commodity traders (Bunge, Cargill, and Wilmar. Also, TRUSTUS Capital Management (Dutch investment management company) held bonds and shares worth US\$ 0,81 million in Vietnam-based Quang Ngai Sugar. In total, the nine Dutch bond and shareholders invested over US\$ 140 million in Q4 2020 in the cane sugar sector.

Price-setting, sales, and profits in the sugarcane value chain

The total value generated in the cane sugar supply chain, is estimated at US\$ 304 billion. This is the value embedded in each part of the chain. The various chains generate a total gross profit of US\$ 82.4 billion on this. The operating profit is calculated at US\$ 19.1 billion.

The highest value generated on cane sugar is by the Fast-Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG) companies. In net turnover, their share is 27%, but in gross profit and operating profit their share is respectively 52% and 50%. These high percentages are due to the strong pricing-up power by companies like Coca Cola. This leads to high gross profits and high operating profits.

Supermarkets also belong to the leaders in value generated. Their profit generation is less significant than that of FMCGs. This is because the pricing power for global brands is at the brand producers, while supermarkets generate below-average profit margins on non-perishable products such as soft drinks (versus the high margins for perishables like vegetables, meat, dairy).

Millers and farmers as a group belong to the top three in the value and profit chain. The division between farmers and millers cannot be made easily as farmers might be owners of a mill through a cooperative. The generated values and profits by the group need to be divided by millions of companies as it is a very fragmented sector.

From the various levels in the chain, the top 6 companies earn most in revenues and profits from embedded sugarcane. The top 6 generate 5.8% of the total value generated in the sugarcane chain, but in gross profit the share is 9.2% and in operating profit even 12.7%. In this context, Coca Cola is clearly the largest company and dominates the top 6, followed by Nestlé, PepsiCo, Unilever, Wilmar, and Shell.

Social and labour rights issues in the sugarcane sector

Social issues connected to the sugarcane sector are a common theme across regions and countries. Especially land conflicts are prevalent in the sector in Latin America as well as in Asia, with local communities losing their access to land where large-scale sugarcane plantations are expanding. Moreover, all but one country (Peru, where the minimum living wage at some mills was slightly above the national minimum) fail to provide sugarcane sector workers with a living wage.

To make matters worse, forced labour and debt bondage are prevalent in Guatemala, Bolivia, and Vietnam. Women and other minority groups such as (internal) migrant workers and indigenous peasant communities are the most affected by the lack of living wages. In addition, internal migrant workers and female migrant workers are the most vulnerable to debt bondage and labour exploitation. Globally, women working in the sector are also more prone to occupational health disorders, which in turns affects their capacity to negotiate better wages.

Abbreviations

Agexport	Asociación de Exportadores de Guatemala
AGI	Asosiasi Gula Indonesia (Indonesia Sugar Association)
AGRI	Asosiasi Gula Rafinasi Indonesia (Indonesian Refined Sugar Association)
APAAD	Asociación Peruana de Agroindustriales del Azúcar y Derivados
APECAÑA	Asociación Pro Caña de Azúcar y Derivados (Peru)
APINDO	Asosiasi Pengusaha Indonesia (Indonesian Employers Association)
APTRI	Andalan Petani Tebu Rakyat Indonesia (Indonesian People's Sugarcane Farmers Association)
ASAZGUA	Asociación de Azucareros de Guatemala
ATIGA	ASEAN Trade in Goods Agreement
CACIF	Comité Coordinador de Asociaciones Agrícolas, Comerciales, Industriales y Financieras (Guatemala)
CEDLA	Centro de Estudios para el Desarrollo Laboral y Agrario (Bolivia)
CENGICAÑA	Centro Guatemalteco de Investigación y Capacitación de la Caña de Azúcar (Guatemala)
CEPB	Confederación de Empresarios Privados de Bolivia
CIAMSA	Comercializadora Internacional de Azúcares y Mieles (Colombia)
CNPA	Comité Nacional de Productores de Azúcar (Nicaragua)
CNTPE	Consejo Nacional de Trabajo y Promoción del Empleo (Peru)
DRI	Democracy Reporting International
EBA	'Everything But Arms' scheme of the European Union
EC	European Commission
ELC	Economic Land Concession
EU	European Union
EVFTA	EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement
EVN	Electricity of Viet Nam
FCSC	Federación de Cañeros Santa Cruz (Bolivia)
FEDECAÑA	Federación de Cámaras de Productores de Caña (Bolivia)
FEPA	Fondo de Estabilización de Precios del Azúcar (Colombia)
FTA	Free Trade Agreement
FUNIDES	La Fundación Nicaragüense para el Desarrollo Económico y Social
GAPMI	Indonesian Food and Beverage Entrepreneurs Association (GAPMI)
GSP+	EU Generalised Scheme of Preferences
IABSA	Industrias Agrícolas de Bermejo (Bolivia)
IKAGI	Ikatan Ahli Gula Indonesia (Indonesian Sugar Expert Association)
INEI	Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática (Peru)
KADIN	Kamar Dagang dan Industri Indonesia (Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry)
PPP	Public-Private Partnership
RVO	Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland
SOCA	Asociación de Productores Cañeros (Bolivia)
TRQ	Tariff-Rate Quota

Introduction

CNV Internationaal forms part of CNV, the Confederation of Christian Trade Unions in the Netherlands. CNV Internationaal works on promoting Decent Work worldwide, in close cooperation with Trade Unions in 14 countries in Latin America, Africa and Asia. CNV Internationaal's programme focuses on promoting social dialogue, labour rights in supply chains, employability of youth and gender equality at the workplace.

Over the years, the emphasis on labour rights in supply chains has increased. CNV Internationaal started developing activities in the sugarcane value chain in the context of its 2017-2020 programme, in Guatemala, Nicaragua and, to a smaller extent, in Bolivia. CNV Internationaal became a member of certifying organisation BONSUCRO in 2018. Since then, it has been involved in the revision of the BONSUCRO production standard in close cooperation with a network of Latin American Trade Unions in the sugarcane industry.

The efforts in the sugarcane value chain have shown promising results. Yet, there is a need to develop more profound insights in other countries where CNV does not yet work and to develop a more global view on this value chain to identify main actors, price-setting mechanisms, labour issues and the opportunities to improve labour conditions of workers in the production countries.

This research project focusses on the strategic development of the new CNV Internationaal programme and on developing lobby activities in its current programme. Geographically, the research focusses on eight countries:

- five in Latin America: Bolivia, Colombia, Guatemala, Nicaragua, and Peru; and
- three in Asia: Cambodia, Indonesia, and Vietnam.

The scope of work comprises three domains of work, each with its own objective and research questions:

1. Mapping the sugarcane sector worldwide

This domain will identify the main sugarcane producing countries (by volume and type of products), as well as the main buyers and traders (companies) of sugarcane worldwide. Moreover, the venues where the price setting for sugarcane takes place on a global level are identified, as well as current trends in the sugarcane industry worldwide (overproduction, drought, COVID-19 impact, negative image of sugar). Further, this domain identifies specific differences between the sugarcane industry in Latin America and in Asia in terms of industry structure, ownership, supply chain connections, and prevailing social and environmental responsibility issues.

This domain also zooms in on the eight countries included in this study to identify the main traders and buyers of the sugarcane products from these countries, as well as the main financial investors there. Lastly, this domain looks at possible financial links to Dutch investors, as well as direct imports from the focus countries into the Netherlands of sugarcane products (e.g., ethanol).

2. Price-setting of sugarcane products along the value chain

This domain sketches changes to the value of a sugarcane product along the supply chain, from field to fork. Special attention is be paid to identifying the value chain stakeholders receiving largest economic benefits. Moreover, players are be identified who could be targeted by CNV Internationaal to influence the pricing mechanisms. Lastly, differences are identified in pricing for sugarcane products from Latin America and Asia.

3. Labour conditions in the sugarcane value chain in eight countries

This domain looks at the panorama of the sugarcane sector in the countries of study, paying attention to how the industry is organised in each of these countries (owners of sugarcane

plantations, concession size, owners of mills, processing capacity; share in the GDP and exports of the country). Moreover, production trends (growth, mechanisation, outsourcing of workers) are researched.

Also, this domain investigates the main labour rights and human rights issues in the sugarcane sector in the eight focus countries, including the level of unionisation and the main actors in these countries in relation to labour issues in the sugarcane sector. Moreover, this domain will sketch the sustainability certification schemes of sugarcane mills and plantations in these countries, including the impact of these schemes on the labour conditions of workers in the focus countries. Lastly, a controversy is conducted to identify any complaints issued at international level (ILO, OECD, IAO) or company level regarding labour rights violations in the countries included in these studies, as well as the outcome of these grievances.

A summary of the findings of this report can be found on the first pages of this report.

1 Methodology

This study seeks to inform CNV Internationaal's sugarcane strategy for Latin America and Asia. For this purpose, a combination of primary and secondary data sources was used. Under the primary sources, data was collected through interviews with key informants and through Profundo's price-setting estimations. Secondary data were drawn from a review of published sources and trade statistics.

1.1 **Objective**

The research aims to inform the strategic development of the new CNV Internationaal programme and on developing lobby activities in its current programme in relation to the sugar sector, by identifying market dynamics, key actors, and social and environmental issues in a selection of producing countries.

1.2 Sugar sector mapping

We mapped the Latin American and Asian cane sugar sectors to reach an in-depth understanding of the most pressing corporate social responsibility issues. In this, we assessed the sector's current dynamics and future trends. Moreover, we evaluated the importance of trade and financial links between Netherlands-based buyers of cane sugar and sugar products and five Latin American and three Asian sugar-producing countries. Additionally, we ascertained how prices are set along the cane sugar value chain and how much profit the different value chain actors draw from these prices. Lastly, we sketched the sectors' labour rights and environmental issues and analysed the legal framework that enables these issues. As much as data availability allowed, gendered issues of the sugar sector are presented in the different sections of the report.

The findings from the activities described below were triangulated with information obtained from interviews with four key informants with knowledge of the labour rights situation in the Latin American sugarcane sector. Moreover, CNV Internationaal consultants in each of the countries included in the analysis revised the draft report and provided input and additional sources to correct inaccuracies.

1.2.1 Global developments and dynamics in the sugar sector

The mapping of the global sugarcane sector and trade draws on a range of sources for statistical data, customs information, market analysis reports, financial databases, and other relevant sources. The analysis of industry trends, including the recent impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, relies foremost on media and company publications and market research reports as well as more generic reporting on the influence of the health crisis on commodity markets.

To identify differences between the sugarcane industry in Latin America and in Asia, information on industry structure, ownership, supply chain connections, and prevailing social and environmental responsibility issues is extracted from industry publications, market reports, financial media as well as research published in scientific and grey literature.

1.2.2 Country sector profiles

For the eight focus countries, country-specific data on the sugarcane sector and its key actors is identified based on market reports, company publications, local media coverage and other relevant data sources. Information availability differs between countries. Especially in countries with immature sectors and a small role on the global sugar market availability of detailed industry data tends to be limited. It is not always possible to identify reliable rankings of top companies, or even ascertain whether certain companies are still operating.

Aiming to map the trade relationships between the focus countries and the Netherlands in more detail, shipment data can be analysed for some countries, allowing to identify the shipper and in some cases also the consignee. However, this level of information is not consistently available, and consignments can sometimes only be linked to logistics companies.

Overall, supply chain transparency by companies active in agro-commodity sectors is still very low. An exception here is the palm oil sector, where civil society campaigning over the years has helped to increase supply chain disclosure. In the sugar sector, as in many other commodity chains, this level of transparency has not been reached yet. For the purpose of this research, information on sugar sourcing by consumer goods company Nestlé as well as the disclosure on private labels by some of the leading Dutch retailers are scanned for links with the focus countries.

As the basis of the analysis of financial relations, a list of 25 companies is selected. This list includes on the one hand large agro-commodity traders with interests in the national or international sugar market, and on the other hand the most important companies active in the sugar sector in the countries of interest. It must be noted that information availability differs significantly between countries. Availability of reliable and comparable information is often lacking for the countries with very small production.

1.2.3 Relationships with Dutch financial institutions

To identify Dutch investors in the sugarcane sector in the countries of study, financial research is conducted to investigate financing to and investments in the 25 companies selected during the market analysis.

For this purpose, financial databases (Thomson Reuters, Bloomberg, IJGlobal, TradeFinance Analytics, Thomson EMAXX and Thomson EIKON) and company publications, company registries, and media archives are consulted to identify financing by Dutch financial institutions in the form of investments in bonds and shares, and the provision of loans and issuance underwriting services to companies operating in the sugarcane sector. The type of investments and investment amounts are included in an easily interpretable overview.

1.2.4 Price-setting, sales and profits

This part of the analysis first focusses on how key players in the sugarcane chain add value to the processed or embedded sugarcane product. Subsequently, the field-to-fork price setting can be calculated, and conclusions can be drawn on the actors in the chain that benefit most from the trade of sugarcane and its products.

The underlying calculation is based on the estimated sugarcane volume multiplied by the price in the relevant part of the chain. As other factors need to be considered as well (e.g., for sugarcanebased products, such as rum, bioethanol, or degradable packaging, the gross margin of the product also included other inputs), estimates are applied as to the share of sugarcane in the total turnover and profit of these companies. The gross margin and the operating margin are applied in this approach, considering that the various supply chain participants have different margins. This methodology, which was developed by Profundo, has been used previously to assess other international value chains and it was approved by three peer reviewers.¹

1.2.5 Environmental and social responsibility issues

This section investigated the main labour rights and human rights issues in the sugarcane sector in the eight focus countries, including the level of unionisation and the main actors in these countries in relation to labour issues in the sugarcane sector. Moreover, whenever information was available, the sustainability certification schemes of sugarcane mills and plantations in the countries of study are sketched, including the impact of these schemes on the labour conditions of workers in the focus countries. Lastly, a controversy scan was conducted to identify any complaints issued at international level (ILO, OECD, IAO) or company level regarding labour rights violations in the countries included in these studies. The findings from this controversy scan are presented throughout the report.

2 The global sugarcane market

This chapter provides a global overview of the global sugar market and zooms in on sugarcane production as the key sugar crop. It furthermore looks at key characteristics of the global sugar market, recent market developments and the top actors involved in the production, trade, and processing globally.

2.1 Global sugar crop production and the role of sugarcane

Sugar is produced from two main crops: sugarcane and sugar beet. About 110 countries globally produce sugar from either cane or beet, and eight countries produce sugar from both cane and beet. Asia, with India as the largest producer globally, accounted with around 42 percent for the largest share in global sugar production in 2019 (Figure 1). South American countries accounted for a combined share of 11 percent. Europe is the largest beet-producing region, with Russia as the leading grower. Smaller quantities of beet are also grown in in Southern China and the U.S.



Source: Sugarcane.org (2020), "Sugar trade", online: https://www.sugarcane.org/sugar-trade/, viewed in December 2020.

Sugarcane accounts with around 80 percent for the largest share of global sugar production and is the focus of this report.² In contrast to the annual sugar beet, sugarcane is a perennial crop that grows mainly in the tropical and sub-tropical regions of the world. Globally, sugarcane was cultivated on 27 million hectares in 2019, resulting in a sugarcane harvest of 1.9 billion tonnes.³ Production increased by 11 percent over ten years. Overall, production is highly fragmented, as



over 100 countries grow sugarcane. By far the largest producers of sugarcane are Brazil and India, with shares of respectively 39 percent and 20 percent of global production in 2018 (Figure 2).

Especially the output in Brazil showed a strong increase, from 645 million tonnes in 2008 to 747 million tonnes in 2018.⁴ However, sugarcane production fluctuates from year to year as weather conditions can have considerable impact on output (see section 2.3.1).

2.2 Key products derived from sugarcane

Sugarcane has a high water content of about 75 percent of its weight, while the sugar content ranges from 10 to 15 percent of the total weight. Key products from sugarcane processing are cane sugar and alcohol.⁵ On average, around 75 percent of sugar cane are used for sugar and 22 percent for ethanol.⁶

Cane sugar production increased from 94 million tonnes in 1999 to 140 million tonnes in 2019, an increase by almost 50 percent.⁷ Next to sugar, another key product resulting from sugarcane processing is ethanol or ethyl alcohol, mainly from molasses. Ethanol of 95 percent alcohol content is used for producing alcoholic beverages, while ethanol of 99 percent alcohol content is used as ethanol for fuel or other chemical applications.¹⁸ Globally, around 25 percent of ethanol for fuel use is produced from sugarcane, while maize accounted for about 60 percent. Coarse grains, especially maize, and sugarcane are expected to continue to dominate ethanol feedstock. Ethanol production is projected to use 14 percent and 24 percent of global maize and sugarcane production respectively by 2028. The largest user of sugarcane for fuel ethanol is Brazil.⁹

Source: FAOStat (2021), "Production - Crops", viewed in January 2021.

Sugarcane typically has a total fermentable sugars (TFS) content of around 14%. Much of this TFS gets crystallised into sugar. At a high level of sugar-conversion, the un-crystallised, non-recoverable part results in so-called 'C' molasses (roughly 4.5% of the cane). C molasses have a TFS of 40%. Every 100 kg of TFS yields 60 litres of ethanol. By processing one tonne of cane, mills can thus produce around 115 kg of sugar (at 11.5% recovery) and 45 kg of molasses (18 kg TFS) that gives 10.8 litres of ethanol. It is also an option to ferment the entire 14% TFS in the cane. This approach would result in 84 litres of ethanol and zero kg of sugar. In between these two extreme cases, there are also intermediate options.

Furthermore, cane bagasse is used for co-generation of electricity, animal feed, and increasingly also for products like bioplastics.¹⁰



Source: APAAD (2018), La Importancia de la Produccion de Caña de Azúcar en El Perú, p. 2.

Researchers see additional untapped opportunities for the sugarcane industry. These options refer particularly to environmental issues associated with the handling of waste products from traditional process chains, including for example straw, bagasse, filter cake and molasses.¹¹

2.3 Global sugar market developments and drivers

2.3.1 Market volatility

The sugar market is highly volatile, more so than other agro-commodity markets like wheat or maize.¹² At the same time, sugar is a highly politicised sector in many countries. As the analysis of the selected sugarcane producing countries confirms (see Chapter 3), it often involves family-owned companies with links to the government. Moreover, government interventions on the sugar market are more prevalent than on other commodity markets.¹³ Information obtained from interviews with sector experts confirm the prevalence of business oligarchs that dominate Latin America sugarcane production and of tycoons, especially in Indonesia. These business owners are usually involved in the production not only of sugarcane of other cash crops, including palm oil and soy, but also in national or even regional political processes.

Sugar is a multi-year crop and difficult to store. Therefore, surplus, often from subsidised production, continues to be dumped at prices below the cost of production during low-price periods, leading to further price decreases.¹⁴ Figure 4 illustrates the development of world sugar prices since 1999.



Figure 4 Evolution of world sugar prices, 1999 to 2019

It is expected that trade distortions on international sugar markets will persist also in the coming years. Many countries continue to use trade policy instruments to protect their domestic markets, such as out-of-quota tariffs, high import tariffs or regional trade agreements.¹⁵

Meanwhile, sugarcane is a very water-intensive and water-sensitive crop and distressed by slight changes of temperature and other climatic conditions. Sugarcane is also among the crops that are most affected by the impact of the El Niño weather phenomenon. Droughts can significantly reduce production of the water-sensitive sugarcane as it reduces its sugar content.¹⁶ This impact could recently be observed for example in Thailand, where drought has driven reductions in cultivation area, yields and extraction rates in 2019/2020 and presumably into 2021; in Mexico, where a historic drought led to a significantly reduced harvest in 2019/20;¹⁷ or in India, where unfavourable weather conditions negatively impacted sugarcane production in the same season.¹⁸



Source: Wright, C. (2020, May 20), "Sugar consumption update: The first fall in 40 years", Czarnikow, viewed in January 2021.

Source: OECD-FAO (2020), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, p. 153.

2.3.2 Global sugar consumption

Global sugar consumption reached 172 million tonnes in 2018, with major markets in India, the EU, China, Brazil, the US, Indonesia, Russia, Pakistan, Mexico, and Egypt. Between 2001 and 2018, world sugar consumption increased by around 40 percent, or an average annual growth of 2.01 percent. However, between 2016 and 2018, the growth of world sugar consumption has been slowing down to less than 0.84 percent and showed no growth in 2018.¹⁹

Key factors which influence sugar demand include:

- population growth;
- per capita incomes;
- the price of sugar and alternative sweeteners; and
- the debate around detrimental health impacts.²⁰

The food and beverage sector is a major driver of sugar consumption. The sector has experienced ongoing growth and is relatively immune to economic fluctuations, and therefore expected to also create a positive impact on the sugar industry.²¹ However, the discussion about high sugar intake and connected health impacts is also leading to reactions by consumer goods manufacturers, stressing their support to the WHO recommendations for lowered sugar intake and presenting products with lower sugar content.²² As an example, Coca-Cola in 2018 piloted a version of its soft drink with 30 percent less sugar, in initially in nine markets and by 2019 expanded to 25 markets.²³ More of such developments among leading sugar processors could impact global consumption in the years to come.

2.3.3 The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

In previous years, global sugar consumption showed a roughly parallel development with population growth at 1 percent per year. In 2020, this development was reversed due to the wide-reaching impacts of COVID-19. Among the wide-ranging impacts are trade disruptions due to border closures and other supply chain problems, shortage of inputs in field and mill operations, and labour shortages, including through outbreaks among workers.²⁴

Out-of-home consumption has decreased significantly because of the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to considerably decreased sugar demand. Large consumers like Coca-Cola and Pepsi saw sales volumes drop significantly, largely as a result of the closure of hospitality and entertainment.²⁵ As an example, Coca-Cola's sales volume was down by around 25 percent in April 2020.²⁶ While lockdowns slashed out-of-home spending in the short term, the emerging global recession may hurt demand going forward.²⁷

Ethanol demand also saw a significant decline in demand during lock-down.²⁸ However, in many countries the pandemic has led to increased demand for alcohol as sanitiser.²⁹

Projections for market developments are based on productivity trends, macro-economic conditions, national domestic sugar sector policies and other assumptions. While many factors play a role, the COVID-19 pandemic poses a major uncertainty in predicting market developments for the sugar industry. Impacts are expected to be most pronounced in labour-intensive production systems.³⁰ A further uncertainty in the current market year is created by allocation decisions of top-producer Brazil, that is whether the Brazilian industry opts to produce more lucrative sugar at the expense of cheaper ethanol.³¹

2.3.4 Sugar consumption outlook

While it is expected that global per capita consumption of sugar continues to rise, noticeable regional differences can be observed. Consumption has reached high levels in developed countries, South America and some Asian sugar producing countries. These regions see low or even negative growth because of changing consumer habits.³²

Globally, Latin American and Caribbean countries consume the largest amounts of sugarsweetened beverages and fruit juices. The consumption of high-sugar products like non-alcoholic soft drinks has continuously increased over the years. Especially in Central American countries, children and adolescents are consuming large amounts of ultra-processed products and foods with high content shares of sugar, as well as salt and fat. Meanwhile, Latin America is marked by a high prevalence of overweight and obesity, co-existing with high rates of malnutrition.³³ Coming from this high level, it is expected that per capita sugar consumption will decrease somewhat in Latin America in the coming 10 years (Figure 6). Similarly, a slight decrease is expected in the OECD countries, which are also showing comparatively high consumption rates.

However, the recognition of the negative health impacts of high levels of sugar consumption increasingly leads to action by countries with high sugar consumption to reduce intake. Programmes to reduce sugar intake may be accelerated by COVID-19 in the future driven by the broad recognition of the link between high levels of sugar consumption and health issues like diabetes, overweight and obesity on the one hand, and the increased risk for COVID-19 complications caused by these factors on the other hand.³⁴



Figure 6 Per capita sugar demand in major countries and regions, 2017-19 and 2029



Meanwhile, consumption levels are still comparatively low in Africa and many Asian countries. High growth expectations for the coming decade apply especially for Asia, driven by sustained economic and population growth. However, demand growth driven by developing countries slowed in recent years as lawmakers introduced taxes on sugary drinks and public campaigns urged people to reduce carbonic intake amid obesity concerns.³⁵

In the global ethanol industry, the U.S., China, and Brazil are the major players. Driven by their probiofuel policies more processing of both maize and sugarcane into ethanol is expected globally in the coming years. In comparison, the EU as another big biofuel producer with a focus on biodiesel is mostly self-sufficient. Moreover, additional market growth can be expected as smaller markets further develop biofuel integration into their economies.³⁶

2.4 Main social and environmental sustainability issues in sugarcane production

Many of the prevailing sustainability issues in sugarcane production are similar to those found in other tropical agro-commodities. These impacts are but not necessarily crop-specific. Their severity and nature depend on the local governance system, ecosystems, and the broader socioeconomic context.³⁷ Social impacts evolve around legislative compliance, land ownerships

and rights, labour rights, and child labour (see also the country profiles in the Appendix in Chapter 0). Environmental and health effects are linked to biodiversity, soil, water, and climate impacts linked to crop production as well as high water use in sugarcane processing.³⁸ While the high water requirement of sugarcane has a detrimental environmental impact, it can also impact local communities, for example when rivers are diverted for the purpose of irrigation.³⁹

As only some sugarcane production has integration between cultivation and milling, the industry is connected to a range of work settings, including formal employment as well as an informal and seasonal labour force.⁴⁰ A prominent problem in the sugarcane supply chain relates to seasonal and informal labourers, whose rights are often not properly respected in local law. Meanwhile, smallholders deal with low incomes in this agro-industrial sector, namely caused by their lack of negotiation power in a captive market, where a large number of farmers are dependent on a small number of buyers.

Mills often own plantations, but also purchase from surrounding small and medium farms. As sugarcane deteriorates quickly after harvest, producers are highly dependent on the mill in their vicinity. Value is added during processing and marketing activities, capital-intensive activities which are outside the reach of small-scale producers.⁴¹ Mill operators have few incentives to pass profits on to the small farmers or workers linked to them.⁴² At the same time, adverse weather conditions, strong competition, and price volatility hamper smallholders in covering their production costs. These difficult conditions may in turn increase the likelihood of child labour and other deficits in decent work.⁴³

Moreover, the precarious situation of smallholders also impacts the participation of women in sugar harvesting in Latin American-producing countries. In Colombia, for example, in households with children it is mostly men who work in sugar harvesting, as women are relegated to (unpaid) care work. In this context, women's participation in sugarcane production increases two-fold in child-free households.⁴⁴ This situation is different in other countries such as India and Africa, where women's participation in the sector is much higher, however they are not exempted from gender inequalities. In South Africa, for example, there is a general pay gap.⁴⁶ In many African countries, women are also more vulnerable to exploitation due to a lack of land rights. And in India, women who work in sugarcane plantations and mills are more prone to musculoskeletal disorders or diseases caused by carrying heavy loads than their male counterparts. This is due to their low qualification, which also makes them vulnerable to psychosocial stress in terms of exploitation and they even have less bargaining power for salaries.⁴⁷

Besides the poor labour practices, the precarious situation of sugar farms has also led to adverse environmental outcomes. The main options available to farmers to expand profits or deal with falling prices is to either reduce the cost of operation or to expand production onto new land.⁴⁸ Sugarcane has been linked to increasing conversion of natural vegetation in several producing countries in the recent past.⁴⁹

Sugar cane farmers are affected by unpredictable weather influences on their harvest as well as price volatility. Oversupply conditions mean that there is high competition on the global market and in this situation, political decisions can have considerable impact on small producers. For example, when an important market like the EU moved to abolish caps on its internal sugar beet production in 2017, small-scale sugarcane farmers around the world faced the prospect of losing a major market. Meanwhile, government subsidies to large-scale sugar producers in countries like Brazil, Mexico and Thailand further squeeze farmers in countries where governments cannot afford financial support to local production.⁵⁰ At the same time, agreements on preferential tariff treatment between selected producer and consumer countries can provide significant advantages in market access to the participating countries. For example, the tariff rate quotas (TRQ) for sugar under the Association Agreement between the European Union and Central America, which entered into force in 2013, was followed by a significant increase in EU sugar imports from participating countries.^{11,51}

With the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, many of the sugarcane producing countries were hard hit. Among workers on sugarcane plantations, hand cutting, insufficient access to water, and crowded communal areas are seen as risk factors for increased infection numbers.⁵²

The cane sugar sector is known for situations where unfair trading practices are imposed on small farmers. Being dependent on their local sugar mill, they have to trust the factory in fairly determining the sugar content of their cane, as this ratio determines the final price they get paid. The sugar content can be highly variable; however, farmers have no alternative possibilities to check whether the analysis is correct or to complain about their only purchaser.⁵³

2.5 Voluntary certification schemes for sugarcane production

Initially, voluntary sustainability certification for sugar mainly fell under Fairtrade (FLO), Rainforest Alliance or Organic. Unlike for other Fairtrade products, there is no minimum price set for sugarcane, explained with the complexity and frequent distortions of the sugar market, although smallholders benefit from a Fairtrade Premium of US\$ 60 per tonne of sugar, and US\$ 80 per tonne of organic sugar, sold on Fairtrade terms.⁵⁴ As of 2017, 54,960 Fairtrade-certified sugar farmers within 99 producer organisations produced 686,800 tonnes of sugar produced across 146,400 hectares.⁵⁵ This volume equalled less than 0.4 percent of global sugar production.⁵⁶ The share of Fairtrade-certified cane sugar as well as certified land area has been decreasing since 2015.⁵⁷

The Bonsucro Production Standard was introduced in 2011 as the first global sugarcane-specific standard and has grown rapidly since then. Bonsucro aims to provide independent certification of sugar cane production against a common standard of minimum social and environmental requirements. Although it is not connected to a premium, it can help producers secure long-term contracts.⁵⁸ Large consumer brands like Coca-Cola, PepsiCo, Unilever, and Ferrero have made public commitments to source 100 percent of their sugar from certified sources by 2020.¹¹¹⁵⁹

In 2018/19, Bonsucro-certified producers covered 5.8 percent of global sugarcane land and produced 72 million tonnes of certified sugarcane. With over 550 members in 50+ countries and 123 certified mills, this makes Bonsucro the biggest certifier of sugarcane compared to other standards, although it still only covers around 4 percent of global sugar production.⁶⁰

ⁱⁱ Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, Panama. While TRQs were agreed for eight quotas, as of 2015 only those for sugar and rum were used by the Central American countries, and only for sugar to the full extent.

ⁱⁱⁱ 2020 sustainability reports of the companies were not yet available at the time of researching; therefore it could not be verified whether the goals were achieved.

Another certification scheme in the sugarcane sector is the International Sustainability & Carbon Certification (ISCC), which sets standards on environmentally, socially and economically sustainable production of biomass in supply chains. The certification scheme has been particularly growing in Latin America, also due to the growth in the use of sugar for biofuel, and currently covers over 200 sugar producers, processors and traders.⁶¹

2.6 Main traders of sugarcane products

As in several other agro-commodity chains, also in the sugar industry a handful of traders control a large share of the global market. Their involvement consists of the (co-)ownership of mills, participation in sugar futures markets, physical shipment of raw sugar, and production and marketing of ethanol fuel. The global sugar trading landscape has been marked by further consolidation in recent years, with several of the large actors exiting the market while others increased their volumes. For example, Bunge sold its sugar trading activities to Wilmar in 2018. As part of the streamlining of its business activities, Olam International announced in January 2019 that it would shut down its sugar trading desk.⁶² That was followed by the sale of its remaining 50 percent equity stake in Indonesian sugar joint venture Far East Agri to its joint venture partner Mitr Phol Sugar Corporation in March 2020.⁶³

Table 1 lists key players in the global sugar trade based on (estimated) sugar volume handled in 2018/19. As is often the case in agro-commodity supply chains, it is difficult to identify reliable figures for the sugar volume handled by individual companies due to a lack of transparency. It is also not possible to split out trade in cane and beet sugar.

Company	Headquarter	Ownership	Sugar volume, 2018/19 (mln mt) (estimated)	Source
Wilmar International	Singapore	Listed	13.6	64
Alvean (50/50 JV Cargill & Copersucar)	Switzerland	Private	>12	65
ED&F Man	UK	Private	11	66
Sucres et Denrées (Sucden)	France	Private	>6	67
LDC (Louis Dreyfus Company) ⁱ	France	Private	unknown	68

Table 1Top global sugar traders

ⁱLDC states to be among the top-5 global merchandisers, however, no volumes are published.

A notable recent development is the ending of RAW in 2020, a partnership between Wilmar International (Singapore) and Brazil's Raízen, the largest sugar making company in the world. The joint venture, that was set up in 2016, traded around 4 million tonnes of cane sugar out of Brazil annually.⁶⁹

Based on an annual global sugar production volume of 179 million tonnes (both from sugarcane and beet), these estimates would suggest that the five traders handle at least one fourth of the global sugar volume.

2.7 Main buyers of cane sugar

Major cane sugar consuming companies with global operations are listed in Table 2. In total, these six companies accounted for around 9.4 million tonnes of cane sugar consumption in 2017.⁷⁰ Based on 140 million tonnes of global cane sugar production in 2019 and assuming stable sourcing, these companies processed a combined share of around 7 percent of global cane sugar production.

Company	Volume sourced 2017, estimates (tonnes)
Coca-Cola	5,000,000
Associated British Foods	1,700,000
Nestlé	1,250,000
Pepsico	793,000
Unilever	400,000
Kellogg	271,000

Table 2 Major cane-sugar consuming companies, 2017

Source: Voora, V., Bermúdez, S. and C. Larrea (2020), Global Market Report Sugar, Winnipeg, Canada: IISD, p.4.

Overall, cane sugar supplier transparency remains very low among consumer goods companies. An exception is Nestlé; the company publishes its tier 1 sugar suppliers as well as the sugar mills in its supply chain. Some other companies have in recent years disclosed some more generic information on their sugar supply chains.⁷¹ While the large volumes of cane sugar are sourced from the leading producing countries like Brazil, India and Thailand, companies like Coca-Cola and Pepsico are also part of the supply chain of sugar from smaller producing countries.⁷² This is presumably caused by their decentralised production model.

As explained by the German sugar producer Nordzucker, some of its imports are raw cane sugar in bulk delivery which is exported from large shipping terminals that mix supplies from several sugar mills. This sugar is no longer traceable to individual mills. Where cane sugar is purchased for direct consumption, the commodity is delivered in bags that can be traced back to mills.⁷³

3

The sugarcane sector in selected countries

For this research, eight smaller sugarcane producers have been selected for analysis. This chapter first gives an overview of the role of these countries in global sugarcane production. This is followed by country profile sections, including a description of sugarcane production and processing, key industry actors and trade relationships. Moreover, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as well as the wage situation on the national markets are briefly analysed. Detailed profiles of the labour-related issues in the sugarcane sector of the focus countries are included in the Appendix in Chapter 0.

3.1 Role of focus countries in sugar production

For this research, eight focus countries have been chosen: five in Latin America (Bolivia, Colombia, Guatemala, Nicaragua, Peru) and three in Asia (Cambodia, Indonesia, Vietnam). None of the selected countries accounted for more than 2 percent of global sugarcane production in 2018 (Figure 7). Only Colombia and Guatemala are among the top-10 sugarcane producing countries. However, also these two countries only contributed a share of around 2 percent to global production.⁷⁴



Figure 7 Share of the eight focus countries in global sugarcane production, 2019

Source: FAOStat (2021), "Production – Crops", viewed in January 2021.

The selected countries have different profiles in relation to developments in sugarcane production, industry structure, and supply chain relationships. These are described in more detail in the country profiles in sections 3.3 to 3.10.

3.2 Direct Dutch imports of sugarcane products from focus countries

Most sugar imports to the Netherlands arrive in the form of refined sugar and originate for almost 90 percent from other European countries. The largest share of this volume will be beet sugar, however, there are likely also small volume of cane sugar re-exports for which the origin cannot be traced. Direct imports of raw or refined cane sugar to the Netherlands are most likely to originate from Cuba (50,000 tonnes in 2019), Brazil, Colombia, and India (respectively 10,000 tonnes, 6,500 tonnes and 5,400 tonnes in 2019).⁷⁵

Reflecting the comparatively small role of the analysed countries in global sugar production, they only play a relatively small role in sugar and sugar product imports to the Netherlands. Sizeable relationships accounting for more than 10 percent of total imports from outside the EU in 2019 include imports of ethyl alcohol from Peru, Guatemala and Bolivia, and imports of molasses from Guatemala (Table 3).

Where links with exporting or importing companies could be identified for the more substantial trade flows, this information is included in the country profiles in the following sections.

Tonnes	Cane sugar	Molasses	Undenatured ethyl alcohol (alcohol >= 80%)	Undenatured ethyl alcohol (alcohol < 80%)	Rum and other sugarcane-based spirits
Bolivia	-	-	48,819	4	-
Colombia	6,531	-	20	531	504
Guatemala	754	13,703	98,307	501	501
Indonesia	-	-	-	545	-
Cambodia	-	-	-	-	-
Nicaragua	-	-	-	18	18
Peru	0	-	105,185	65	48
Vietnam	-	2	-	13	-
Other extra- EU	76,658	77,205	302,223	49,838	35,892
Extra-EU total	83,942	90,910	554,553	51,515	36,964

 Table 3
 Dutch imports of sugar and sugar products from focus countries, 2019

Source: Eurostat (2021), "EU trade since 1988 by HS2-HS4", viewed in January 2021.

3.3 Bolivia

3.3.1 Production of sugarcane and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Bolivia accounted for a share of 0.5 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Latin America, it was the seventh largest sugarcane producer.⁷⁶ Sugarcane was cultivated on around 175,000 hectares in 2019. Production reached 9.6 million tonnes, up from 6.4 million tonnes ten years earlier. With around 55 tonnes/hectare, sugarcane productivity is very low in Bolivia, compared to neighbouring countries like Peru and Guatemala reaching yields more than twice as high and a global average of 73 tonnes/hectare.⁷⁷ According to estimates, the average potential

yield in the country could be around twice as high.⁷⁸ The low productivity is explained with inadequate genetics of the crops, low levels of mechanisation, and poor agricultural practices.⁷⁹

Cane sugar

Cane sugar production reached around 500,000 tonnes in 2018/19. This was an increase by around 25 percent over ten years.⁸⁰ According to the most recent data until August 2020, 70 percent of the harvested cane was destined to produce sugar, while 30 percent was used to produce alcohol.⁸¹

Alcohol

For 2021, the Bolivian industry expects to produce 60 million litres of alcohol. Of this total, 45 million are expected to be used to produce ethanol and 15 million to produce drinkable alcohol, predominantly for national consumption. Between January and November 2020, the export of ethyl alcohol showed a year-on-year increase by 14 percent in value and 1 percent in volume. The price increase was attributed to the higher ethyl alcohol demand caused by the coronavirus pandemic (see section 3.3.4).⁸² As an example, the Guabirá mill increased its production of disinfectant alcohol (70 percent) by a factor of ten in response to the pandemic outbreak.⁸³

Energy

Aiming to reduce its dependence on fossil fuel imports and to achieve greater energy security, the government of Bolivia launched Law N°1098/2018 to introduce liquid biofuel production and blending. The expectation is to reach 380 million litres of ethanol in 2025. The ethanol blending mandate started with 10 percent in 2018 and gradually increases to 25 percent by 2025.⁸⁴ In May 2020, the Ministry of Hydrocarbons in Bolivia announced another stimulus by increasing the use of anhydrous ethanol in gasoline from 8 to 12 percent.⁸⁵

As a result of the initiative, the sugar producers are expecting to significantly increase the area planted with sugarcane to 305,000 hectares by 2025 to be able to reach the production targets.⁸⁶ In 2019, the industry reported US\$ 150 million already invested in the adaptation of their facilities for ethanol production and announced future investments of another US\$ 500 million.⁸⁷

Before the announcement of the 'Law for Vegetable Derived Additives', hydrous ethanol (92-96 percent ethanol) was produced as a secondary product obtained by fermentation of sugar molasses. To meet the short-term mandated biofuel production targets, the sugar factories expanded their milling and distillation capacity and implemented molecular sieves to dehydrate hydrous ethanol to produce anhydrous ethanol (99.5 percent ethanol).⁸⁸

Sugarcane refineries in Bolivia, including Guabirá, Unagro, Aguaí and IASBA, are generating electricity through biomass and partly also feed oversupply the national grid.⁸⁹

3.3.2 Key industry actors

The Bolivian sugarcane processing industry pertained over a processing capacity of around 86,000 tonnes of sugarcane per day and a distillation capacity of 250 million litres per year in 2019.⁹⁰ Bolivia has seven sugar mills, of which some have own plantations.⁹¹ Five of these mills, representing around 85 percent of the milling capacity, are located in Santa Cruz department, in the east of the country.⁹² Table 4 lists these five companies, including their share in sugar production based on 50 percent of the 2020 harvest. The largest company is Unagro with its sugar mill Roberto Barbery Paz.⁹³ UNAGRO's shareholders are small- and medium-sized sugarcane producers.⁹⁴ Both the Guabirá and Aguaí mills are associated with the Grupo Industrial Roda.⁹⁵

Owner	Mill	Milling capacity* (tonnes cane / day)	Sugar production (tonnes)	Alcohol production (million litres) (estimates)
Unagro	Roberto Barbery Paz	17,000	169,720	30
Guabirá	Guabirá	15,000	150,510	100
CIASA	San Aurelio	12,000	99,870	25
Aguaí	Aguaí	12,000	101,459	60
Planta Industrial Don Guillermo	Don Guillermo	7,000	60,530	unkown

Table 4 Sugarcane processers in Bolivia, 2020 harvest

*Data for milling capacity based on 2017 information.

Source: OTAI, in: Industrias Sucroalcoholeras (2016), Prospecto Marco Para un Programa de Emisiones de Bonos, p. 73; Periodico Bolivia (2020, December 23), "Guabirá produce 2,8 millones de quintales de azúcar"; El Deber (2020, September 9), "Ingenios de Santa Cruz destinan el 70 percent de la caña cosechada a la producción de azúcar"; Unagro (n.d.), "Alcohol"; Comexbo (n.d.), "Inc. Industrial Azucarera San Aurelio SA"; IBCE (2020, August), "Aguaí amplía su capacidad de producción con una nueva caldera".

Companies operating sugar mills in other parts of the country are Industrias Agrícolas de Bermejo (IABSA, Tarija) with a milling capacity of 6,000 tonnes of sugarcane per day and Ingenio San Buenaventura (La Paz) (state-owned) with a capacity of 7,000 tonnes.⁹⁶

Guabirá is the only Bonsucro-certified producer in Bolivia. It joined the scheme in March 2018.⁹⁷

Various industry associations and employers' organisations are active in Bolivia. The central organisation involved in social dialogue on behalf of employers is the Confederation of Private Employers in Bolivia (Confederación de Empresarios Privados de Bolivia, CEPB).⁹⁸

The key industry associations in the sugarcane industry include La Federación de Cámaras de Productores de Caña (FEDECAÑA), the Federación de Cañeros Santa Cruz (FCSC), and the Asociación de Productores Cañeros (SOCA). The Comisión Nacional de Productores Cañeros de Bolivia (Concabol) is the producers' organisation, with which the trade union federation signs CBAs every year.

3.3.3 Trade relationships

Exports of cane sugar totalled 100,000 tonnes in 2019. This volume was a significant increase from previous years when exports reached volumes between less than 10,000 and up to 65,000 tonnes. The most important export destination is Colombia with a share of about 80 percent.⁹⁹ The exports reported for raw cane sugar include *chancaca*, a concentrated extract from raw, unrefined cane sugar. The latest available twelve months data from October 2017 to September 2018 show Japan as the main destination of chancaca exports of around 720 tonnes. These were all handled by Ishima, a company located in Santa Cruz which immigrated from Japan in the mid-90s.¹⁰⁰

Exports of ethanol reached volumes between 72,000 and 113,000 tonnes between 2015 and 2019. The latest available shipment data of sugar-related products allows to analyse exports until September 2018. In the twelve months period from October 2017, Ingenio Guabirá, Ingenio Aguai, Ingenio Unagro and Ingenio San Aurelio show up as the most important exporters, with most of these exports being ethanol. These four companies accounted for more than 90 percent of all sugar-related exports.¹⁰¹ A key destination for ethanol exports is the Netherlands, receiving around 33,000 tonnes in 2019 or 30 percent of total exports.¹⁰² Based on shipment data for ethyl alcohol from Bolivia to the Netherlands in the 12-months from October 2017 to September 2018, CIASA (8,700 tonnes) and Guabirá (8,400 tonnes) were the leading suppliers.¹⁰³ No information on the consignees is available.

Bolivia is part of the EU Generalised Scheme of Preferences (GSP+). The trade scheme is supervised by Democracy Reporting International (DRI) and implemented in Bolivia by the Centre

for Labour and Agricultural Development Studies (Centro de Estudios para el Desarrollo Laboral y Agrario, CEDLA) through EU funding. It allows EU countries to import Bolivian goods without paying import duties as an effort to foster economic growth and production in low-income countries. Another goal central to the scheme is the promotion of human and labour rights for workers in the supply chains that export goods to Europe. A study by CEDLA in 2018 found that the two main products exported from Bolivia to the EU under the GSP+ scheme are chestnuts and ethanol. Ethanol exports to the EU are mostly destined to France (58 percent) and the Netherlands (42 percent), with Guabirá and Aguaí as the leading Bolivian ethanol exporters to the EU.¹⁰⁴

3.3.4 Impact of COVID-19

The demand for disinfectant alcohol due to the COVID-19 pandemic has greatly benefited the Bolivian sugarcane industry, which sold up to 1.5 million litres of alcohol per month during the outbreak. Overall, the two main mills, Unagro and Guabirá, indicated that their sales of alcohol went up by 70 percent, and the industry is expecting another growth year in 2021.¹⁰⁵

At the same time, the industry had expected to sell 105 million litres to the national state oil company YPFB in 2019/20, however, YPBF eventually only purchased 36 million litres due to low oil prices.¹⁰⁶

Harvest of sugarcane was temporarily halted in May due to the pandemic in combination with unfavourable weather conditions but continued in June 2020.¹⁰⁷ Producers claim that special measures were taken to guarantee the safety of workers during the crisis. Nonetheless, there have been several reports of infections among workers, including an outbreak among 165 workers at the Guabirá mill where at least two workers passed away.¹⁰⁸

In other cases, workers reported deductions of up to 40 percent of their normal wages due to the days that they could not work in the ten-day lockdown in March.¹⁰⁹

Over 200 workers from the Industrias Agrícolas de Bermejo (IABSA) sugar company reported in April 2020 that they had not received wages since December 2019 due to the poor financial condition of the company. Workers filed complaints together with the IABSA workers union with the Ministry of Labour, but management of IABSA blocked the subsequent inspection and refused to cooperate with the union and ministry to find a solution, putting workers in an extremely precarious situation and financial distress while facing the COVID-19 crisis.¹¹⁰

3.3.5 Living wages

Bolivia has a government-mandated minimum wage that is currently set at BOB 2,122.00 (€ 254.42) per month in 2021.¹¹¹ However, this minimum wage does not apply to agricultural workers.¹¹² Instead, agricultural wages in the form of piece rates have been negotiated through a tripartite negotiation between workers, employers, and the government prior to the harvest season. However, critics accuse that rather than taking a leading role, the government easily gives in to the pressure of the employers and as a result, the agreed prices are well below the demands of unions and workers. On top of that, despite the collective agreements, even formal workers usually do not receive the agreed piece rates. According to interviewed sugarcane workers, only around 10 percent receive the actual agreed incomes.¹¹³

With the low piece rates, workers are forced to make long days - up to twelve hours per day - for seven days a week, often assisted by family members and children, to make a reasonable salary. Even so, workers on average earn between BOB 2,000 to BOB 3,000 (€ 240 to 360) per month during harvest.¹¹⁴

Internal migrant workers, who are recruited by brokers in the harvest season, face even more precarious conditions, such as debt bondage or broker fees of around 10 percent of the salary, as well as deductions for housing and transportation, which is usually of extremely poor conditions putting the workers and their families at risk for a meagre pay.¹¹⁵

Details on labour rights-related issues in Bolivia can be found in section 6.1 in the Appendix.

3.4 Colombia

3.4.1 Production of sugarcane and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Colombia accounted for a share of 2 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Latin America, it was the third largest sugarcane producer. Sugarcane in Colombia was planted on an area of more than 458,000 hectares in 2019, resulting in a sugarcane production of 33 million tonnes. Average yields are high at around 120 tonnes/ hectare.¹¹⁶ Sugarcane production is for the largest part taking place in the Cauca River valley (80 to 90 percent, on an area of about 240,000 hectares), where little agricultural land remains available.¹¹⁷ Production is dominated by large plantations.¹¹⁸ In the Cauca River Valley, 75 percent of the land used for sugarcane cultivation belonged to 2,750 suppliers as of 2018, while 14 mills managed 25 percent of the land. 69 percent of the units produced on less than 60 hectares.¹¹⁹

In the 1950s, leading Colombian sugarcane mills formed the sugar industry association, Asocaña. In the 1970s, Asocaña formed and funded Cenicaña, a technical non-profit organisation. The technical assistance and research provided to the sector by Cenicaña are seen as one of the reasons for the high productivity.¹²⁰

Cane sugar

Around 80 percent of the country's sugarcane production in 2019/20 was used for cane sugar, while the remaining 20 percent went into alcohol production. Colombia produced a total 2.4 million tonnes of cane sugar in 2019/20. Including stocks and imports, 2.8 million tonnes of sugar were available in Colombia, of which 750,000 tonnes were exported, or around one quarter.¹²¹

Next to centrifugal sugar, non-centrifugal sugar is produced from sugarcane grown in various departments throughout the country by an estimated 350,000 farmers on 220,000 hectares. So-called *panela* or *rapadura*, an unrefined whole cane sugar derived from the boiling and evaporation of sugarcane juice, is processed in 18,500 crushing/milling facilities which are referred to as *trapiches*. In calendar year 2019, Colombia produced 1.3 million tonnes of non-centrifugal sugar production.¹²² The product is increasingly exported in recent years, mostly to the U.S. and Europe. A director of the largest Colombian sugar mill operator, Riopaila Castilla, created in uproar in recent months with a plan to patent panela in Colombia as well as in several other Latin American markets.¹²³

Sugar consumption is expected to grow marginally, in line with population growth. Moreover, sugar consumption is driven by increased exports of processed products by the confectionary sector. Colombian sugar mills prefer to produce refined sugar for the domestic market due to higher prices and higher returns compared to raw sugar. Meanwhile, raw sugar is mainly exported to the U.S. and the EU under sugar quotas as well as neighbouring countries.¹²⁴

Alcohol

In 2018, Colombia's fuel ethanol production used approximately 5.7 million tonnes of sugarcane, a year-on-year increase of more than 19 percent. 2019 saw a further increase to around 5.9 million tonnes of sugarcane, which is the only feedstock for ethanol production in the country.¹²⁵ In 2019, ethanol production reached a total of 444 million litres. In the past two years, production remained high, driven by the 2018 decision of the Colombian government to increase the national biofuel blend mandate from E8 to E10.¹²⁶

Energy

As of 2019, the Colombian sugar sector had an installed capacity of 296 MW, equalling almost 2 percent of the total national capacity. Of this production, 130 MW were surplus for sale to the network. This energy is mostly produced from bagasse.¹²⁷

3.4.2 Key industry actors

In 2015, Colombia's Superintendency of Industry and Commerce (SIC) uncovered widespread colluding practices in the country's sugar industry to drive up prices and block foreign competitors. Involved were the sugar industry association Asocaña, the technical secretary of Colombia's Sugar Price Stabilisation Fund (FEPA), all leading sugar mills, and Comercializadora Internacional de Azúcares y Mieles (CIAMSA) (see below).¹²⁸

Colombia has twelve sugar mills, of which nine are located in the Cauca River Valley and one each in Cauca and Riseralda. The top sugar and ethanol producers in Colombia in 2019 are shown in Table 5.

Owner	Mill	Sugar production (tonnes)	Alcohol production (million litres)	Energy generation (GWh)	Energy sales (GWh)
Grupo Agroindustrial Riopaila Castilla	Riopaila Castilla	1,017,488	86	293	6
Grupo Ardila Lülle	Incauca ⁱ	864,526	173	224	57
	Providencia	573,500	100	34 MW/day	14 MW/day
	Risaralda ⁱ	n/a	n/a	204	118
Mayagüez	San Carlos	180,000	-	39	9
Grupo Manuelita	Manuelita Azúcar y Energía ⁱⁱ	508,196	168	167	28

Table 5 Top sugarcane processors in Colombia, 2018

Notes: ¹2017 figures; n/a=not available; ⁱⁱincludes production in Peru (Agroindustrial Laredo). Estimates marked in italics. The sugar production volumes reported by these six producers sum up to a much higher volume than is reported in statistical databases.

It is not clear what the reason for this discrepancy is. Source: Grupo Agroindustrial Riopaila Castilla (2019), *Informe Sostenibilidad & Gestión 2018*, pp. 33,37; Incauca (2018), *Informe Sostenibilidad 2016-2017*, pp. 8,83; Ingenio Providencia (2020), *Informe de Sostenibilidad 2018-19*, p. 47; Ingenio Risaralda (n.d.), "Energía"; Ingenio San Carlos (2020), *Informe Annual 2019*, pp. 9-10; , pp. 27,94; *El País* (2020, February 4), "Valle del Cauca le saca más 'jugo' a la agroindustria de la caña"; Agencia Logística de las Fuerzas Militares (2015, October), *Análisis del Sector Alimentos Caña de Azucar*, Ministerio de Defensa Nacional, p.1.

Further behind were Ingenio La Cabaña (including Agroindustrias del Cauca), Ingenio Pichichí, Ingenio Carmelita, Ingenio María Luisa, and Ingenio del Occidente.¹²⁹

The Coca-Cola company disclosed that it sourced in 2019 Colombian sugar via Sucden Americas (from Manuelita mill), and directly from Manuelita, Incauca, Providencia, Risaralda, and La Cabaña.¹³⁰

Four sugar producers in Colombia are Bonsucro certified:¹³¹

- Manuelita S.A. since September 2017.
- Ingenio Providencia since March 2019
- Ingenio Mayagüez since January 2020
- Ingenio San Carlos since February 2020

The main industry association in the Colombian sugarcane industry is the Colombian Association of Sugar Producers (La Asociación de Cultivadores de Caña de Azúcar de Colombia, Asocaña). Founded in 1959, Asocaña represents the biggest sugarcane mills (Cabaña, Carmelita, Del Occidente, Manuelita, María Luisa, Mayagüez, Pichichí, Risaralda, Sancarlos, Ríopaila-Castilla, Incauca and Providencia), as well as various sugarcane growers.¹³²

In addition to Asocaña, Cenicaña (Sugarcane Research Center) is the main research institute in the Colombian sugar industry and Tecnicaña (Colombian Association of Sugarcane Technicians) provides technical training and technology to the sector.¹³³

3.4.3 Trade relationships

Colombia exported around 700,000 tonnes of cane sugar in 2019. Key export destinations for cane sugar include Peru, the U.S., and Chile.¹³⁴ Exports to the U.S. benefit from a U.S. sugar tariff-rate quota (TRQ), which allows import of a certain volume under a low tariff.¹³⁵

Colombia's sugar exports are handled by CIAMSA. This organisation, which operates an own sugar terminal, provides logistical and export services to the Colombian sugar mills. Sugar mills either sell their produce to CIAMSA or pay the company as a service provider but make the sale themselves.¹³⁶ In calendar year 2019, CIAMSA accounted for around 30 percent of Colombian sugar exports. Own exports by sugar companies were led by Grupo Manuelita with 15 percent, followed by Ingenio Risaralda with 12 percent and Incauca with 9 percent (both Grupo Ardila Lülle), and Riopaila Castilla with 8 percent.¹³⁷

Imports of a total of 234,000 tonnes of sugar in 2019 originated predominantly from Peru, Bolivia, and Ecuador.¹³⁸ These countries benefit from duty exemptions. Moreover, ethanol imports from the U.S. have increased rapidly during the last years, accounting now for around 40 percent of the domestic market. This large role has led to calls by agribusiness on the Government to implement compensatory measures in the form of a countervailing duty of 22 percent, however, such a tariff has not yet been implemented.¹³⁹

Based on shipment data for cane sugar from Colombia to the Netherlands in calendar year 2019, the key supplier with a share of around 94 percent was Ingenio Providencia. The two key recipients, Tradin Organic (based in Amsterdam) and Pronatec (Switzerland, with a Dutch subsidiary based in Hoofdorp), are both traders focussing on organic commodities.¹⁴⁰ Other Colombian suppliers account for shares in exports to the Netherlands of 2 percent and less.

Furthermore, some imports of Colombian rum to the Netherlands are documented. However, these only account for a small share of overall Dutch rum imports. For 2019, around 240 tonnes of imports could be traced, of which almost 70 percent were supplied by Destileria Colombiana Established in 1913, and the remaining 30 percent by Industrias Licorera de Caldas. Recipients in the Netherlands are logistics companies.¹⁴¹

3.4.4 Impacts of COVID-19

Although the COVID-19 pandemic had some impact on the Colombian sugarcane sector, the industry overall had a productive year in 2020, with a significant growth in the production of energy from bagasse, delivering 651 GWh to the national energy system as well as a growth in ethanol extraction and exports.¹⁴²

The sugarcane sector claims to have taken measures to protect workers while continuing operations. While administrative staff can work from home, other workers over the age of 60 and vulnerable workers were sent home on paid leave, and mills implemented shift rotations to avoid overcrowding and limit contacts. However, there have been various reports of employers violating workers' rights and safety during the pandemic, including through overcrowded transportation of workers and a lack of hygiene protocols for work in the fields.¹⁴³

In the midst of the pandemic, political unrest and tensions saw a rise in Colombia, with reported violence from guerrillas, gangs, and drug traffickers. In August 2020, five teenagers were found dead in a sugarcane field near Cali, and another massacre of seven men and one woman took place in a cacao plantation, raising significant concerns for the safety of communities in rural areas.¹⁴⁴

3.4.5 Living wages

Article 56 of Colombia's Constitution confers the Commission Permanent Agreement of Salary and Labour Policies the duty to establish the general minimum wage in a concerted manner, taking into account that a decent quality of life must be guaranteed for the worker and his family. In this context, the minimum wage is revised on yearly basis. Colombia's Minimum Legal Monthly Salary in force for 2020 is 877,803 COP (ca. ≤ 208).¹⁴⁵ While the law stipulates that no worker in Colombia can be paid less then this mandatory minimum wage, in 2019, about 22 million people were paid salaries below the minimum.¹⁴⁶

While the Government of Colombia praises the country's minimum wage as "amongst the highest in the world",¹⁴⁷ the Ulandssekretariatet asserts that this is amongst the lowest in the Latin American region.¹⁴⁸ In fact, the Global Living Wage Coalition estimates the living wage in rural Colombia to be COP 1,644,569 (€ 391.50) for a standard family, and the cost of a basic but decent living for a family is estimated at COP 2,433,600 (€ 579.34).¹⁴⁹

With respect to salaries in the sugarcane sector, ENS reports low wages for the sector workers. Sugar mills employees tend to receive, in their vast majority (80 percent), on up to the equivalent of one minimum wage and half of them up to half the minimum wage. There also seems to be high average income inequality between the different types of workers, especially between direct and subcontracted workers, but also within workers of the same category.¹⁵⁰

Details on labour rights-related issues in Colombia can be found in section 6.2 in the Appendix.

3.5 Guatemala

3.5.1 Production of sugarcane and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Guatemala accounted for a share of 1 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Latin America, it was the fourth largest sugarcane producer. Sugarcane was cultivated on around 270,000 hectares in Guatemala in 2019. At around 107 tonnes per hectare, productivity in the country is high.¹⁵¹

Cane sugar

Sugar production from cane reached 2.8 million tonnes in 2019/20. In Latin America, Guatemala is the fourth largest producer and second largest sugar exporter, behind Brazil. Production is concentrated along the South Coast of the country, in the departments of Escuintla, Suchitepéquez, Retalhuleu, and Santa Rosa.¹⁵²

Although domestic consumption of sugar has been increasing in Guatemala, particularly in soft drinks, confectionaries, bakeries, juice makers and pharmaceutical companies, it still only amounts to roughly 32 percent of total domestic production.¹⁵³ The remainder is exported, despite low prices in the international market. Due to rising stocks, Guatemala has been exporting sugar at below cost price, and has been accused of dumping by the Peruvian industry.¹⁵⁴

Alcohol

According to the Guatemalan Sugar Association (Asociación de Azucareros de Guatemala (ASAZGUA)), the Guatemalan sugar industry currently has the capacity to produce up to 246 million litres of alcohol.¹⁵⁵

In 2014, a pilot plan was launched for the mixing of ethanol into fuel. At the end of 2020, this pilot was completed with mixing of between 5 to 10 percent ethanol in different types of gasoline. Based on the results of the pilot study, the government is expected to introduce a bill in the first quarter of 2021 to further stimulate the use of ethanol in gasoline, which expectedly will drive the sugarcane industry.¹⁵⁶ A recent analysis concludes that Guatemala could produce annually a maximum of 250 million liters of ethanol from molasses, which is more than the volume required to introduce an E10 mandate.¹⁵⁷

Several of the sugar mills in Guatemala also produce rum, among them Ingenio Tululá with its distillery Destiladora de Alcoholes y Rones (DARSA),¹⁵⁸ and Casa Magdalena rum produced by Ingenio Magdalena.¹⁵⁹

Energy

Next to cane sugar, Guatemalan sugarcane mills also produce energy, mostly from the bagasse. In the period from November 2019 to June 2020, the sugarcane mills accounted for 21 percent of the national energy production, second only to hydropower (37 percent). Total energy production by the industry in the market year 2019/20 reached 2,835 GWh, 5 percent less than in the previous year. Of this total, 33 percent were consumed internally by the industry in production processes while 67 percent were sold to the national system.¹⁶⁰ Figure 8 illustrates the development in sugarcane-based energy generation during the last ten years. Moreover, Guatemala produced 246 million litres of alcohol in 2019 as a by-product of the sugar extraction process.¹⁶¹





Source: Cengicaña (2020), Generación de Energía, Boletín Estadístico, pp. 5, 7.

3.5.2 Key industry actors

The Guatemalan sugar industry can be characterised as an oligopoly, with few, family-owned companies controlling the market. This control expands across the different stages of the market. Since 1983, seven families have been controlling 88 percent of the sugar milling in Guatemala. According to an investigation by El Faro and El Diario from 2017, the industry forms "[...] a cartel with deep political connections and whose power is often resented by communities in the countryside". Reportedly, all seven families were suspected by authorities to use practices of tax evasion by way of offshore companies in tax havens.¹⁶²

As of 2015, around 55 to 60 percent of the land cultivated with sugarcane was owned by the mills, while 40 to 45 percent was independently owned.¹⁶³ Sugar mill operators in Guatemala increasingly expanded monoculture sugarcane plantations. This development has exacerbated the already problematic access to land for food cultivation by rural families.¹⁶⁴ The government-supported expansion of sugarcane plantations since the mid-2000s has led to the displacement of many farmers as well as the diversion of water resources.¹⁶⁵

The growing competition for land on the fertile volcanic soils of the Pacific Coast of the country, both among the sugar mills and with other agricultural sectors, has meant that small farmers were increasingly unable to rent land for subsistence farming. The sugar sector responded with intensification, helped by the sugar research institute Cengicaña.¹⁶⁶ Moreover, some mills relocated to other parts of the country, going along with allegations of land grabbing.¹⁶⁷ Others expanded into other countries. Grupo Pantaleón has sugarcane operations in Guatemala, Mexico, Nicaragua, and Brazil.¹⁶⁸

The top mills in the country in 2019, the owners (where known) and their market shares are listed in 0. While sugarcane-based alcohol plays an important role, recent details on the production by individual mills not readily available. Ingenio Magdalena is also an important producer of rum, known by the tagline "Tierra Dulce".¹⁶⁹

Owner	Mill	Sugar production (tonnes)	Share sugar production (%)	Energy generation (GWh)	Energy sales (GWh)
Grupo Cayalá (Leal family)	Magdalena	692,184	24%	830	586
Grupo Pantaléon (Herrera family)	Pantaléon	477,647	17%	423	245
	Concepción	133,657	5%	91	49
Ingenio La Unión (García family)	La Unión	347,195	12%	316	200
Compañía Agrícola Industrial Santa Ana (Botrán family)	Santa Ana	313,059	11%	337	232
Servicios Agropecuarios San Diego (50%, remainder held by offshore company)	Trinidad	235,806	8%	380	293
Central Agro Industrial Guatemalteca (Caigsa) (Campollo Codina family)	Madre Tierra	211,064	7%	189	117
Ingenio El Pilar (Weissenberg/Campollo families)	El Pilar	156,428	6%	-	-
Other		259,831	9%	269	176
Total	2,826,871		2,835	1,898	

Table 6 Top sugarcane processors in Guatemala, 2019/20
Source: Cengicaña (2020, July), Boletín Estadístico, Año 21, No. 1, p. 1; Cengicaña (2020), Generación de Energía, Boletín Estadístico, pp. 8-9; Labardor, G., Villagrán, X., Sánchez, R. and J. Alvarado (2017, April 25), "El cartel del azúcar de Guatemala", El Faro; MT Holdings Capital (2015, July 27), Written Consent of the Board of Directors of MT Holdings Capital Inc.

The Coca-Cola company disclosed that it sourced in 2019 Guatemalan sugar via Sucden Peru and COFCO (both from Magdalena mill), and directly from Magdalena and Pantaléon.¹⁷⁰

Five sugarcane companies in Guatemala are currently Bonsucro-certified:171

- Magdalena / Mag Alcoholes (Grupo Cayalá) since December 2016
- Pantaléon (Grupo Pantaléon) since May 2017.
- Bioetanol (Grupo Pantaléon) since May 2017
- Compañía Agrícola Industrial Santa Ana since June 2020
- Ingenio La Unión since July 2020

Guatemala's main industry association representing the sugarcane sector is ASAZGUA. ASAZGUA has launched several organisations and initiatives, including the *Azúcar de Guatemala* website with central information about the industry, the Guatemala Sugar for Good platform which promotes social responsibility in the sector, the FUNDAZÚCAR foundation, and a research institute (Centro Guatemalteco de Investigación y Capacitación de la Caña de Azúcar, CENGICAÑA).¹⁷²

In addition, the Chamber of Industry of Guatemala (AGG) is the central association for employers in all sectors. The Coordinating Committee of Agricultural, Commercial, Industrial and Financial Associations (Comité Coordinador de Asociaciones Agrícolas, Comerciales, Industriales y Financieras, CACIF) represents 100,000 employers, including mostly SMEs, in the agricultural sector and participate in bipartite debates on labour issues. The Association of Exporters of Guatemala (Asociación de Exportadores de Guatemala (Agexport)) represents the interests of the export sector, including cane sugar and ethyl alcohol.¹⁷³

3.5.3 Trade relationships

In 2019, Guatemala was the world's fifth largest exporter of sugar. Of all exports of Guatemalan sugar and derived products, 82 percent are sugar, 13 percent are alcohols, and 5 percent are molasses. With around 2.0 million tonnes, cane sugar exports accounted for around 71 percent of total cane sugar production. Key export markets were Canada (16 percent), the U.S. (13 percent) and Chile (10 percent).¹⁷⁴ Molasses export markets included South Korea, the U.S., the Netherlands, and Canada. Main destinations for sugarcane-based alcohol were the Netherlands, South Korea, the U.S., and Japan.¹⁷⁵ The importance of Guatemala as an exporter of ethyl alcohol can be explained with sizeable sugarcane production and processing while no blending of ethanol and gasoline is implemented yet beyond the pilot study phase.¹⁷⁶ No information on the recipient of the imports to the Netherlands is available.

While all other Central American countries signed a Free Trade Agreement (FTA) with South Korea in 2018, Guatemala is the only country that has not yet done this, leaving the Guatemalan sugar industry at a potential disadvantage compared to its neighbours.¹⁷⁷

Located in Port Quetzal on the south-western coast, Expogranel S.A. is the major shipping terminal that handles the export of sugar produced by Guatemalan mills. The loading port has a capacity of 431,000 tonnes per year, mostly for bulk sugar (365,000 tonnes) and refined sugar (66,000 tonnes). Around the port, several warehouses are used to hold domestic stocks. Due to the low prices of sugar and overproduction in Guatemala, these stocks have been increasing.¹⁷⁸

3.5.4 Impact of COVID-19

According to Agexport, the COVID-19 pandemic has posed trade opportunities for Guatemala despite drops in production, particularly for the sugarcane industry since the demand for ethyl alcohol has surged tremendously.¹⁷⁹

The industry association ASAZGUA claims that sugar mills have taken safety and hygiene measures, including medical check-ups for migrant workers, adapting the housing conditions to allow for distancing, working in shifts to prevent overcrowding, and the provision of hand sanitiser, masks, and daily temperature checks.¹⁸⁰

3.5.5 Living wages

The Guatemalan Labour Code establishes a right to a minimum wage to all workers to meet the material, moral and cultural needs of the worker and his or her family (Art. 103). In 2020, Guatemala's minimum wage for agricultural work was GTQ 90.16 per day (≤ 9.55) or GTQ 2,742.37 (≤ 290.55) per month.¹⁸¹ Time worked in excess of eight hours per day or 44 hours per week is to be renumerated at 150 percent, though this is hardly, if at all, ever respected in agricultural work. Employers may also deduct a maximum of 30 percent of the wage as compensation for food and other goods, although again the remaining salary needs to meet the minimum wage requirement. Sugarcane workers are most commonly renumerated on a piece rate basis.¹⁸² Although this is allowed under the Guatemalan Labour Code, this salary still is required to meet the minimum wage regardless of productivity (Art. 88).

The Canasta Básica de Alimentos, the income needed to meet basic nutrition, was determined at GTQ 4,098.60 (€ 434.24) in 2017. The Canasta Básica Vital, which is a basic living wage that also includes water, electricity, housing, health services, transport, recreation, and education, was GTQ 7,479.20 (€ 794). In other estimates, the minimum cost of living for a family in rural Guatemala was determined at least at GTQ 4,363 (EUR 462.255) per month.¹⁸³

In other words: the minimum wage for agricultural workers does not provide a living wage, and to make matters worse, the vast majority of workers are paid far below minimum wage. Independent studies by CNV Internationaal and Fairfood International found that sugarcane cutters earned an average of GTQ 805 (€ 85) per month, less than a third of the 2015 minimum wage. Earning so far below the minimum wage, let alone a living wage, inhibits workers from meeting the basic needs of their families, which leaves many families indebted and malnourished.¹⁸⁴

Most workers report that deductions are made from their wage to cover debts to stores on the plantation (who offer food and water as well as tools for exorbitantly high prices), health care and social security cost (even when workers are not actually enrolled in the social security system), PPE and tools provided to workers, as well as deductions for commissions to their labour brokers.¹⁸⁵ Workers often do not get compensated for overtime either, which is instead forced through the low piece rates and quotas that cannot be achieved within eight hour working days, and threats of penalties such as fines or dismissals when refusing overtime.¹⁸⁶

According to the sources interviewed for this study, the fact that Guatemala can freely export sugar for dumping prices below cost of production to the Peruvian market (section 3.7.3) is a cause and effect of the high degree of outsourcing, precarious working conditions and child labor in sugar sector.

Details on labour rights-related issues in Guatemala can be found in section 6.3 in the Appendix.

3.6 Nicaragua

3.6.1 Production of sugarcane and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Nicaragua accounted for a share of 0.3 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Latin America, it was the ninth largest sugarcane producer. Sugarcane in Nicaragua is produced along the Pacific Coast. Production reached 7.1 million tonnes in 2019/20, all of which was used to produce sugar.¹⁸⁷ At around 95 tonnes per hectare, productivity is quite high.¹⁸⁸

The Nicaraguan sugar industry employs around 160,000 workers during harvest season.¹⁸⁹

Cane sugar

Cane sugar production totalled 787,000 tonnes, of which around 65 percent were exported. San Antonio is the only producer of refined sugar in the country.¹⁹⁰

Alcohol

Industrial ethanol production from sugarcane does not play an important role in Nicaragua yet. The country lacks a legal framework to support the consumption of biofuels.¹⁹¹ Nicaraguan sugarcane is an important source for the juice, syrup and molasses used in the production of rum, both for local rum brands such as *Flor de Caña*, as well as international brands who source from the region.¹⁹²

Energy

Bagasse is used for internal energy production; however, the example of San Antonio shows that other biomass, in this example eucalyptus chips, are used outside of harvest times. The mill consumed around half of its energy production for internal processes, while the remainder is fed into the national network.¹⁹³ The industry contributes around 90 MW of energy to the public network during harvest time.¹⁹⁴

3.6.2 Key industry actors

Nicaragua has only four sugar mills, of which the two largest, operating under Grupo Pellas and Grupo Pantaléon, account for around 81 percent of national sugar production (Table 7). San Antonio (Grupo Pellas) is the only refined sugar producer in Nicaragua.¹⁹⁵ Grupo Pantaléon, with headquarter in Guatemala, also has upstream sugar operations in Guatemala (see section 3.5), Mexico and Brazil.¹⁹⁶ Among the four mills, manual and semi-manual sowing and harvesting are dominant.¹⁹⁷

Company	Mill	Sugar production volume (tonnes)	Sugar production market share	Energy production (GWh)
Grupo Pellas	San Antonio	763,740	44%	220
Grupo Pantaléon (GT)	ntaléon (GT) Monta Rosa		37%	162
Compañía Azucarera del Sur (CASUR)	Benjamín Zeledón	191,637	11%	120
Corporación Montelimar	Montelimar	139,383	8%	108
Total		1,745,077		610

Table 7 Sugarcane processors in Nicaragua, 2018/19

Source: Morin, J. (2020, April), *Sugar Annual Nicaragua*, USDA GAIN Report NU2020-0004; SER San Antonio (n.d.), "Energía", viewed in January 2021; Grupo Pantaléon (n.d.), "Our operations", viewed in January 2021; CNPA (2020), "Ingenios", viewed in January 2021.

Two sugarcane producers in Nicaragua are certified as part of the Bonsucro Production Standard:¹⁹⁸

- SER San Antonio since November 2016.
- Monte Rosa S.A. since January 2018

The National Committee of Sugar Producers (Comité Nacional de Productores de Azúcar (CNPA)) is a major industry association that represents the four Nicaraguan sugar mills.¹⁹⁹

Another important industry association is the Unión de Productores Agropecuarios de Nicaragua (Upanic), which represents agro-industrial producers of various sectors.

3.6.3 Trade relationships

Nicaragua exported around 530,000 tonnes of sugar in 2019 to a diverse list of countries. With a share of 20 percent, the U.S. was the largest recipient in 2019. This was followed by Taiwan and Ghana with 12 percent each. Exports of molasses and ethanol are not significant.²⁰⁰ The country has tariff rate quotas with the U.S., the EU and Taiwan.²⁰¹ Furthermore, Nicaragua is among the Central American signatories of an FTA with South Korea.²⁰²

Known brands importing rum from Nicaragua include Diageo (known for Captain Morgan rum) and William Grant & Sons (own rum brand Sailor Jerry, importer of Flor de Caña to the U.S., known for Glenfiddich and Balvenie whiskey brands).²⁰³

3.6.4 Impact of COVID-19

According to the Nicaraguan Foundation for Economic and Social Development (La Fundación Nicaragüense para el Desarrollo Económico y Social (FUNIDES)), the agricultural sector is one of the most vulnerable to the COVID-19 pandemic, facing halts in production, difficulties to attract seasonal workers, and a loss of sales for some crops.²⁰⁴

The National Committee of Sugar Producers (Comite Nacional de Productores de Azúcar (CNPA)) declared that the biggest challenges for the industry during the crisis was not availability of workers or productivity, but rather a drop in consumption and decreased domestic demand for sugar.²⁰⁵

3.6.5 Living wages

Nicaragua's minimum wage is determined per sector, between which significant differences exist. While the monthly minimum wage in agriculture is set at NIO 4,286.33 (€ 101.48), workers in construction, financial institutions and finance can count on a minimum wage of NIO 9,592.40 (€ 227.11).²⁰⁶ This minimum wage is only enforced in the formal sector, which is around 20 percent of the economy, and even in the formal sector inspections are inadequate to ensure that the minimum wage level is respected.

The living wage in rural areas of Nicaragua, where most of the agricultural production takes place, is estimated at NIO 9,900 40 (\in 234.38) per month for an average family of four with 1.62 workers. The cost of a basic but decent living for that same family is estimated at NIO 14,915 40 (\in 353.11).²⁰⁷ This suggest that the legal minimum wage in agriculture is by far insufficient.

Regarding wages in the sugarcane sector, just as in other countries in the region, harvesters are paid according to the amount of sugarcane they cut per da. In this context, in 2017 "a good cutter" made NIO 10,000 per month (€ 236, barely above the minimum wage), but average workers earned between NIO 7,000 and 8,000 monthly (€ 165 to 189).²⁰⁸

Details on labour rights-related issues in Nicaragua can be found in section 6.4 in the Appendix.

3.7 Peru

3.7.1 Production of sugarcane and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Peru accounted for a share of 0.3 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Latin America, it was the sixth largest sugarcane producer. Sugarcane production in Peru amounted to 11.0 million tonnes in marketing year 2019.²⁰⁹

Cultivation is concentrated in the Northern coastal valleys of the country, where the region of La Libertad produces around half of Peru's sugar. Lambayeque accounts for around 23 percent of production and Lima for 15 percent.²¹⁰

Of the total area harvested, approximately 64 percent is owned by sugar companies and 34 percent by independent producers.²¹¹

Cane sugar

Of this total, 8.6 million tonnes were used for sugar production, resulting in 1.4 million tonnes of cane sugar. Alcohol production consumed 2.4 million tonnes of sugarcane.²¹²

Alcohol

Peru has a mandatory blending rate of 7.8 percent ethanol. Ethanol consumption for 2020 was forecasted at 187 million litres, while production was expected to be 170 million litres, meaning that domestic demand for exceeded production. The key limiting factor was insufficient sugarcane feedstock. Ethanol production in Peru is concentrated in Piura and processed by the two main facilities, Agro Aurora (owned by COAZUCAR/Grupo Gloria) and Caña Brava (owned by Romero Group). In addition, some other sugarcane companies are evaluating the feasibility of producing ethanol, however, there are no immediate plans due to the high initial investment costs and thus far limited market. In 2019, Peru exported 170 million litres of ethanol, mostly to the European Union (94 percent) and particularly the Netherlands (75.9 percent) (see section 3.7.3 below).²¹³

Energy

At around 37 GWh per month, bagasse and biogas are part of Peru's renewable energy mix.²¹⁴ It is not clear, however, how much of the energy is produced from bagasse.

3.7.2 Key industry actors

Peru has 13 sugar mills (Table 8), of which 5 are managed by Grupo Gloria via its holding Corporación Azucarera del Perú (COAZUCAR), the largest sugar and alcohol consortium in the country. Its Peruvian sugar mills accounted for 56 percent of total domestic sugar production in 2017.²¹⁵ The milling subsidiaries also have own sugarcane cultivation on at least 50,000 hectares.²¹⁶ Furthermore, the company owns a stake in Agraria Chiquitoy (50.0%) and Agrícola Sintuco (86.0%), which supply sugar cane for the Cartavio sugar mill.²¹⁷ Outside of Peru, COAZUCAR operates one of the largest sugar mills in Ecuador (La Troncal).²¹⁸ Several of the milling companies are publicly listed, including four of the Grupo Gloria subsidiaries.

Company	Mill	Sugar production volume (tonnes)	Sugar production market share	Alcohol production (million litres)
Grupo Gloria	Casa Grande	190,006	18%	330
	COAZUCAR	117,804	11%	n/a
	Cartavio	129,535	12%	46.2
	Agrolmos	60,685	6%	-
	San Jacinto	96,900	9%	13.2
Agro Industrial Laredo (Manuelita (Colombia))	Sol de Laredo ⁱ	157,855	15%	7.1
Agro Industrial Paramonga	Paramonga ⁱ	123,693	11%	0.3
Grupo Oviedo	Pomalca	66,450	6%	n/a

Table 8 Top sugarcane processors in Peru, 2017

Company	Mill	Sugar production volume (tonnes)	Sugar production market share	Alcohol production (million litres)
	Tumán	33,226	3%	n/a
Other		104,746	10%	
Total		1,080,900		

Notes: Alcohol production for 2018. Estimates in italics; n/a=not available.

Source: APAAD (2018), *Quienes Somos*, p. 10; COAZUCAR (n.d.), "Quienes somos"; Sol de Laredo (2019), *Memoria Annual 2018*, p. 13; Agro Industrial Paramonga (2020), *Memoria Annual 2019*, pp.6-7; *RPP Noticias* (2018, July 25), "Fiscalía investiga a Oviedo por presunto lavado de activos en Tumán y Pomalca", viewed in January 2021.

As of April 2020, the Government of Peru owned shares in the Pomalca and Tumán sugar mills. These companies have been faced with social unrest and linked to corruption. No investment partners for the financing of improvements in efficiency and profits had been found yet. The government is auctioning its shares to private sector companies to encourage investments.²¹⁹

The Coca-Cola company disclosed that it sourced in 2019 Peruvian sugar via Sucden Peru (from Sol de Laredo mill).²²⁰

Two mills are Bonsucro members:

- Agrolmos (Grupo Gloria) since October 2019
- Casa Grande (Grupo Gloria) since November 2019

The main industry association representing the Peruvian sugarcane industry is the Peruvian Association of Sugar and Sugar Derivatives Agro-Industries (Asociación Peruana de Agroindustriales del Azúcar y Derivados, APAAD). Eight major sugarcane processors in Peru are currently members of APAAD:²²¹

- Casa Grande, San Jacinto, Agro Aurora, Cartavio, Agrolmos (Grupo Gloria)
- Caña Brava (Grupo Romero)
- Sol de Laredo
- Agro Industrial Paramonga

Some other industry associations representing the sugarcane industry include the Association for Sugarcane and Derivatives (Asociación Pro Caña de Azúcar y Derivados, APECAÑA)

3.7.3 Trade relationships

Peruvian sugar imports totalled 231,000 tonnes in 2019, while exports reached 184,000 tonnes.²²² Imports are higher in years with low domestic production, such as 2017 due to the El Niño influence. As a further increase in production is expected in the coming years, Peru could become a net exporter.²²³ With a share of 54 percent, Colombia was the top export market for Peruvian sugar in 2019, followed by the U.S. with around 43 percent.²²⁴ Exports to the U.S. benefit from a U.S. sugar tariff-rate quota (TRQ), which allows import of a certain volume under a low tariff.²²⁵

Peru faces significant competition from Guatemala in the domestic market. Although Peruvian producers cannot export to Guatemala due to trade restrictions and regulation on vitamin-A additions, Guatemala can freely export sugar for dumping prices below cost of production to the Peruvian market. In 2019, the Peruvian government introduced a quota to limit the amount of sugar that can be imported from Guatemala to 400,000 tons per year, which APAAD argues is too high and puts local sugarcane producers at risk of losing business.²²⁶

Ethanol exports by Peru have increased during recent years, reaching around 144,000 tonnes in 2019.²²⁷ As mentioned in section 3.2, the Netherlands imported around 100,000 tonnes of ethyl alcohol from Peru in 2019. The suppliers of ethyl alcohol are listed in Table 9. Sucroalcolera del Chira and Agrojibito accounted for a combined 86 percent of the shipments by volume. No information on the recipients of the shipments is available.

Table 9 Peruvian shippers of ethyl alcohol to the Netherlands, 2019

Shipper	Volume (tonnes)
Sucroalcolera Del Chira (Grupo Romero)	57,675
Agrojibito (Grupo Gloria)	34,694
Cartavio (Grupo Gloria)	7,228
Casa Grande (Grupo Gloria)	7,417
Agroindustrias Solcace	402
Total	107,417

Note: the small difference with the export volume reported in (Table 3) is within the normal range for different trade data sources. Source: Shipment data 2019, available to Profundo.

3.7.4 Impact of COVID-19

The agricultural sector in Peru grew in 2020, despite the COVID-19 crisis. This growth includes a 9.7 percent higher production of sugar in the first quarter of 2020.²²⁸ Alcohol destined for disinfectant hand sanitiser and antiseptics surged in demand, which caused sugarcane companies to focus on the local market rather than export, and even start their own consumer brands to quickly tap into the market.²²⁹

However, this continued production is not without risk to workers' safety. Workers of the Agropucalá Company have voiced serious concerns about the transportation offered by the company to the sugarcane plantations. The buses are overcrowded, not allowing for social distancing, and some workers do not use a mask or use masks provided by Agropucalá, which are of poor quality. In addition, water is provided in shared glasses, and health protocols are generally not respected. One worker said that there are more than a thousand workers being transported in this manner every day, putting not only the workers but also their communities at risk.²³⁰

3.7.5 Living wages

The Peruvian Constitution confers the State the responsibility to regulate minimum living wages (*remuneración vital minima*) with the participation of workers' organisations and employers. In practice, the minimum living wage is set by the government considering a proposal submitted by the tripartite National Council for Labour and Employment Promotion (Consejo Nacional de Trabajo y Promoción del Empleo (CNTPE)). Since 2007, the CNTPE has been supported by the Special Commission on Productivity and Minimum Wages, a technical body that identifies the statistical indicators and criteria used to adjust the minimum wage. These criteria, which were adopted by the CNTPE, include projected core inflation and multifactor productivity. To facilitate the application of the adjustment mechanism, the Ministry produces technical reports on yearly basis.²³¹

Moreover, the Peruvian Government defines minimum living wage as the minimum amount of money that is paid to a worker who works a full day of 8 hours a day or 48 hours a week. The current Minimum Vital remuneration was agreed in April 2018 and is equivalent to 930 Soles (€ 221.10).²³²

However, this minimum vital wage does not apply to the agricultural sector. For agricultural workers, a daily wage of 31 Soles (\in 7.03) applies, regardless of the number of hours. A report published by Peru's National Institute of Statistics and Informatics (Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática (INEI)) revealed that average monthly income of the agricultural, fishing and mining sectors was 866.6 Soles (\in 205.5) in 2018. Moreover, according to INEI, 72.7 percent of the salaried employed population in the agriculture, fishing and mining sector works without a contract.²³³

With regards to the sugarcane sector, in their annual reports of 2019 and 2020, Cartavio, San Jancinto, and Casa Grande mills published a minimum living wage for company workers of 39.19 Soles a day (EUR 9.03). This minimum living wage was effective as long as employees would work at least four hours a day (and the applicable wage for workers who did not meet the 4-hour minimum was not published).²³⁴ Under this scheme, workers completing a working week of 48 hours should receive a monthly salary of 936 Soles, six Soles above the national minimum wage.

Details on labour rights-related issues in Peru can be found in section 6.5 in the Appendix.

3.8 Cambodia

3.8.1 Sugarcane production and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Cambodia is a small sugarcane producer, with a share of 0.1 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. The FAO reported production on 29,000 hectares in 2019, a significant increase from 17,000 hectares in 2009. Due to the extremely low productivity of 22 tonnes per hectare, total sugarcane production only reached 661,000 tonnes in 2019.²³⁵

Sugarcane is a growing industry in Cambodia, and in 2018, the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries started to actively persuade farmers to start growing sugarcane under contract farming with major sugar mills, emphasising the future potential of the sector and increasingly high yields.²³⁶

Cane sugar

Production of cane sugar reached around 300,000 tonnes in 2019/20.²³⁷ In addition to sugarcane, palm sugar is a growing industry in Cambodia, with currently 280 farmers producing palm sugar mostly for the domestic market.²³⁸

Energy

Next to the usual sugar products, the companies reportedly also produce energy from bagasse. However, for alcohol and energy production the unclear situation around production facilities in the country as described in the next section makes it difficult to evaluate capacity and production. In the case of Phnom Penh Sugar, a power plant with 16 MW capacity supplies around 11 MW for running the operations, while the remainder is sold to the government and surrounding villages.²³⁹

3.8.2 Key industry actors

In Cambodia, sugarcane is almost exclusively produced by large agri-business companies.²⁴⁰ However, there is considerable insecurity around the status of production and processing. According to 2017 data by the Ministry of Industry and Handicraft, nearly 100,000 hectares had been earmarked for sugarcane plantations, aiming for a capacity of 1.8 million tonnes of refined sugar per year. At the time, only a small portion of this area was under cultivation by the key producers. Rui Feng was reportedly planning a large, US\$ 1.5 billion project including cultivation, refinery, and manufacturing of derived products.²⁴¹ However, it seems that these plans are not materialising (see box below).

in Table 10 lists sugarcane companies which have been reported during recent years to be key actors operating in the sugar sector. As the production data refers to the first nine months of 2018 and considering the developments described above, the situation may have changed in the meantime.

Table 10 Sugarcane processors in Cambodia, first nine months 2018

Company	Mill	Raw sugar production Jan Sep. 2018 (tonnes)
Hengfu Group Sugar Industry (China) ⁱ	Rui Feng (Cambodia) International	56,664
Yellow Field International (China	Yellow Field (Cambodia) International	51,420
JV Khon Kaen Sugar Industry (Thailand) (80%) & Ve Vong Corporation (Taiwan) (20%)	Koh Kong Sugar Industry (KSI)	12,042
Great Field International (China)	Great Field (Cambodia) International	n/a
LYP Group ⁱⁱ	Phnom Penh Sugar Co. and Kampong Speu Sugar Company	n/a

Notes: ⁱThe operations of Rui Feng include land granted to four sister companies: Lan Feng Cambodia International Co. Ltd., Heng Non Cambodia International Co. Ltd., Heng Yue Cambodia International Co. Ltd., and Heng Rui Cambodia International Co. Ltd.; ⁱⁱowned by prominent businessman and politician Ly Yong Phat & his wife, Kim Heang.

Sources: Ministry of Commerce (n.d.), "Business Registration – Yellow Field (Cambodia) International Limited (00015322)"; KSI KPT (n.d.), "About us"; Ministry of Commerce (n.d.), "Business Registration – Great Field (Cambodia) International Limited (00015309)"; *The Phnom Penh Post* (2018, November 13), "Sugarcane a 'huge potential for farmers"; Ministry of Commerce (n.d.), "Business Registration – Phnom Penh Sugar Co. Ltd. (00004593)"; Ministry of Commerce (n.d.), "Business Registration – Kampong Speu Sugar Co. Ltd. (00014214)"; Equitable Cambodia and Inclusive Development International (2014), Specific instance under the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises submitted to the Australian National Contact Point (NCP) for the OECD Guidelines by:Inclusive Development International (IDI) and Equitable Cambodia (EC) AgainstAustralia New Zealand Banking Group (ANZ), concerning financial services provided to Phnom Penh Sugar Company, p. 4.

Reportedly, Rui Feng and four linked firms (Lan Feng, Heng You, Heng Rui and Heng Nong) shut down their operations in the 40,000-hectare plantation and US\$ 360 million cane sugar factory until further notice.²⁴² The operations, with a capacity of processing 20,000 tonnes of cane per day, have probably already been halted in March 2019. The company had been repeatedly involved in disputes with local communities, especially with indigenous minorities.²⁴³ According to news reports, also KSI temporarily suspended operations in 2020, due to major European buyers discontinuing their sourcing from Cambodia.²⁴⁴

There are currently no sugarcane producers in Cambodia certified under BONSUCRO.

This research could not identify an active industry association or employers' organisation in the Cambodian sugarcane sector.

Human rights concern around Hengfu Group's ELCs for sugarcane plantations

The Cambodian Hengfu Group companies received ELCs for sugarcane production in Preah Vihear province in 2011 for a period of 70-years. The concessions gave the companies access to 40,000 hectares of land, without consulting the local communities. Reportedly, "[...] five companies linked to Guangdong, China's Hengfu International Sugar, skirted Cambodian laws and permits to amass economic land concessions four times larger in total than allowed for a single entity; razed forests before producing an environmental impact assessment, notifying villagers or compensating those affected; and cleared land too close to waterways. Agriculture Minister Veng Sokhon acknowledged there were "some shortcomings" surrounding the sugarcane plantations." Splitting the land among five companies allowed to circumvent a law that limits an individual entity from receiving concessions of more than 10,000 hectares. However, as became known in February 2020, the companies shut down their operations already a year earlier, including the refinery which was previously described as one of Asia's largest.

While the surrounding villages felt the economic impacts of the closed plantations, indigenous communities remained locked in disputes around their land, including ancestral and spirit forests and communal landholdings cleared for sugar plantations. Stopping the sugar cane operations is in breach with the concession agreement, as is the alleged leasing of land by the company to outside villagers and government officials, rather than returning it to the local communities.

Sources: Moniroth, M. (2019, December 13), "Plantations skirted laws to amass land, driving locals into debt", VOD; Narin, S. (2020, February 4), "Massive Chinese sugarcane firm disappears from Preah Vihear", VOA Cambodia; Radio Free Asia (n.d.), "Sugarcane in Preah Vihear"; Radio Free Asia (2020, May 19), "Chinese Sugar Company Leases Parts of Cambodian Land Concession to Farmers".

3.8.3 Trade relationships

Trade statistics for Cambodia are difficult to ascertain. In 2019, the country exported around 54,000 tonnes of sugar, down from 82,000 tonnes in 2018. The most important destination for exports in recent years was China, receiving more than 95 percent of exports in 2018 and around 58 percent in 2019. The remainder went to EU destinations. Meanwhile, imports averaged more than 600,000 tonnes in the last five years, with Thailand as the almost exclusive supplier.²⁴⁵

Cambodia is among the countries included in the 'Everything but Arms' (EBA) scheme of the European Union (EU), which aims to provide the world's poorest countries duty-free access to EU markets. It was expected that from 2009, the eligible countries would be able to export their entire sugar production to the EU at above-world-market prices, and in turn meet local sugar consumption needs through imports from the lower-priced world market. At the same time, it was observed that in many cases, investors from non-EBA sugar countries invested in these low-income countries to take advantage of quota-free access to the EU market.²⁴⁶ Such a development could also be observed in Cambodia, where sugarcane holdings increased from 8,300 hectares in 2006 to 28,000 hectares by 2012.²⁴⁷ Concurrently, land under lease to agro-industrial firms for cane production reached an estimated 100,000 hectares in 2012. Companies involved confirmed the EBA as a primary motivator for their investments in Cambodia.²⁴⁸

In August 2020, the European Commission temporarily withdrew Cambodia's duty-free access status for some products. Imports of raw sugar remain eligible for the tariff exemption.^{iv, 249} As part of the EBA monitoring, the European Commission (EC) and the European Parliament (EP) have repeatedly highlighted serious human rights concerns in the country, including active engagement since 2017. Key issues relate to Economic Land Concessions (ELCs) in the sugar sector, for which the EC recommended the establishment of an independent and transparent mechanism to resolve claims for compensation arising from the granting of concessions for sugarcane plantations. Key areas of concern of the EU are political repression; freedom of expression and freedom of association; labour rights; and concerns over land-grabbing due to an EBA-driven surge in the

^{iv} In relation to sugar, only tariff preferences for imports to the EU of fresh, chilled, or frozen sugarcane have been withdrawn, however, this trade is negligible.

expansion of sugar plantations.²⁵⁰ Land-grabbing has been reported around the concessions of most of the leading companies, including Hengfu Group (see box), KSI and LYP Group.²⁵¹ In its Delegated Regulation from February 2020, the European Commission noted though "[...] that tangible progress has been made by Cambodia in resolving land disputes concerning economic land concessions in the sugar sector since the launch of the temporary withdrawal procedure."²⁵²

Imports to the EU showed considerable variabilities since the introduction of the EBA scheme, as illustrated in Figure 9.





3.8.4 Impact of COVID-19

Amid the COVID-19 crisis, the Cambodian government decided to focus more attention on stimulating small-scale farming as a strategy to address mass unemployment due to layoffs in other sectors. Particularly, the country is motivating returned migrant workers and laid-off garment workers to start small farms in return for support in infrastructure, such as a fund for improving rural irrigation systems. However, the strategy is also contested, due to the poor performance of the country's agricultural sector and potential land conflicts affecting indigenous and local communities and is likely to be of little benefit to laid-off workers.²⁵³

Cambodia's workforce has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 crisis, particularly those in the informal economy with no access to social security. Due to the empty streets in lockdowns and because of a lack of tourism, independent sugarcane juice sellers can no longer earn enough money to support their family, on top of the risk of contracting the virus during work.²⁵⁴

3.8.5 Living wages

The minimum wage in Cambodia for 2021 is set at US\$ 192 (\in 158.98) per month, although this applies only for the garment and footwear industry.²⁵⁵ Nevertheless, this wage is perceived as an official estimate for the poverty income level. The mostly informal, seasonal workers on sugarcane plantations, however, generally earn much less. In a 2016 study by CNV Internationaal, interviewed daily wage labourers state to receive around US\$ 4.50 (\in 3.70) per day for an 8-hour working day, while others are earning piece rates. One formally employed permanent worker at the sugarcane plantation stated that she earned US\$ 160 (\in 131.72) per month, which at the time was in line with the national minimum wage.²⁵⁶

Nevertheless, the average wages of sugarcane plantation workers are well below the living wages required to lead a basic but decent life. WageIndicator estimates that in 2018, the living wage in

Cambodia for a typical family was between KHR 804,300 (\in 163.11) to KHR 1,263,700 (\in 256.28) per month.²⁵⁷

Details on labour rights-related issues in Cambodia can be found in section 6.6 in the Appendix.

3.9 Indonesia

3.9.1 Sugarcane production and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Indonesia accounted for a share of 2 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Asia, it was the fifth largest sugarcane producer. Sugarcane is harvested from around 444,000 hectares. With 66 tonnes per hectare, the productivity is low, considering a world average of 73 tonnes per hectare and other Asian countries like Thailand and India reaching 76 and 80 tonnes per hectare, respectively.²⁵⁸

Sugarcane production is primarily located in East Java (47 percent) and Lampung (30 percent).²⁵⁹ Production reached 29 million tonnes in 2019/20, all of which was used for sugar production. A total of 56 mills are operating in the country, many of them more than 100 years old and only six operating for less than 25 years. This old age of the facilities leads to a low recovery rate.²⁶⁰

Indonesia's sugarcane industry employs over 28,000 workers on farms in addition to around 27,000 workers off farm. In addition, 1.3 million farmer families are involved in sugarcane production.²⁶¹

Cane sugar

Cane sugar production reached 2.2 million tonnes in 2019/20. To satisfy market demand, an additional 3.9 million tonnes of raw sugar and 135,000 tonnes of refined sugar were imported by Indonesia.²⁶²

In 2016, the Indonesian government launched the Sugar Roadmap 2016-2045 program. It defined a target of 3.2 million tonnes of sugar for domestic consumption by 2019, with the ultimate goal of achieving sugar self-sufficiency by 2045. However, production on Java Island is becoming unsustainable due to the rising costs of labour and land, and the decreasing productivity due to land deterioration. On top of that, competition with other sectors that are more profitable, particularly the palm oil sector, discourage investments into sugar production.²⁶³

Alcohol

Although Indonesia has recently become a leader in biodiesel production, ethanol consumption has remained virtually non-existent due to a lack of financial support for the ethanol blending program launched in February 2018. As reported in April 2020, the 2015 regulation by the Energy and Mineral Resources Ministry mandating the nationwide use of 10 percent bioethanol-mixed gasoline (E10) from 2020, up from the E2 introduction since 2015, has not been achieved.²⁶⁴

Meanwhile, COVID-19 has driven increases in demand for ethanol for use in antiseptics and hand sanitiser. Under MOT Regulation 31/2020, the government of Indonesia temporarily banned ethanol exports from March 2020 until end of June 2020 to protect domestic use of ethanol for antiseptic products.

In 2020, the Indonesian sugar production provided around 1.35 million tonnes of molasses, which is not only used for ethanol production but also for food processing, monosodium glutamate, and export. The predicted ethanol production in Indonesia for 2020 was estimated at 202 million litres, which requires around 820,000 tonnes of molasses. Competition for domestically produced molasses is therefore increasing significantly and may drive imports if production stays behind.²⁶⁵

Energy

Energy production from cane bagasse, tops and leaves still seems to be underutilised in Indonesia. Sugar processing in Indonesia currently produces 8 million tonnes of bagasse and 11.5 million tonnes of tops and leaves, providing considerable potential for energy production.²⁶⁶

3.9.2 Key industry actors

The sector is described as highly politicised and dominated by influential local sugar lobbies who are keen to protect their segment of the market from imports.²⁶⁷

The three key sugarcane plantation companies as of 2018 and their plantation and milling subsidiaries are listed in Table 11.

Company	Subsidiary/ Plantation or mill company	Sugarcane plantations (hectares)	Daily milling capacity (tonnes/day
PTPN III	PT Perkebunan Nusantara XI ⁱ (PG. Soedhono, PG. Poerwodadie, PG. Redjosarie, Kabupaten Madiun, PG. Pagottan, PG. Kanigoro (Alih fungsi), PG. Kedawoeng, PG. Wonolangan, PG. Gending, PG. Padjarakan, PG. Djatiroto, PG. Semboro, PG. Olean, PG. Wringin Anom, PG. Pandjie, PG. Assembagoes, PG. Pradjekan)		
Total PTPN III		62,583	40,105
Rajawali Nusantara Indonesia (RNI) ⁱⁱ	PT PG Rajawali I (PG Krebet Baru I, PG Krebet Baru II, PG Rejo Agung Baru)		18,000
	PT PG Rajwali II (PG Sindang Laut, PG Karangsuwung, PG Tersana Baru, PG Jatit Tujuh, PG Subang)		14,000
	PT PG Candi Baru (PG Candi Baru)		2,500
Total RNI		60,0000	34,500
PT Sugar Group Companies (SGC)	PT Gula Putih Mataram (GPM) PT Sweet Indo Lampung (SIL) PT Indo Lampung Perkasa (ILP) PT. Mataram White Sugar (GPM) PT. Indo Lampung Distillery (ILD)	67,000	

 Table 11 Leading sugarcane companies in Indonesia, 2018

Notes: ⁱIn July 2020, it was reported that PTPN III intends to expand sugar plantations by a further 60,000 to 70,000 ha to meet domestic demand; ⁱⁱRNI manages 13,900 ha of own sugarcane plantations and 46,100 ha of smallholder plantations. Sources: SugarIndo (2018, December), *4th Sugartech Indonesia 2018; Reuters* (2020, July 8), "Indonesian plantation firm PTPN to expand sugarcane plantation"; PTPN III (2019), *Sustainability Report 2018*, p. 85; LinkedIn (n.d.), "Trini Listyati – Assistant Manager Purchasing at Sugar Group Companies"; *MitraToday* (2018, July 29), "PT. SGC the largest sugar cane plantation and sugar factory in Indonesia"; RNI (n.d.), "Agro industry".

Reportedly there are currently 67 sugar mills operating in Indonesia and eight more are under construction or planned. Milling capacity ranges between less than 1,000 tonnes to 12,000 tonnes of cane per day.²⁶⁸

Eleven sugar refineries with an installed capacity of 5 million tonnes process imported raw sugar into refined sugar. The resulting refined sugar is generally used for processing by the food and beverage industry. The distribution of refined sugar produced from imported raw sugar to retail markets for human consumption is prohibited.²⁶⁹

Table 12 lists the refineries operating in Indonesia and their capacities. In 2017, the average capacity utilisation stood at around 60 to 70 percent. With a share of around 17 percent, Wilmar (Singapore) is the largest actor.²⁷⁰

Company	Location	Capacity (tonnes/year)
PT. Berkah Manis Makmur	Banten	600,000
PT. Sugar Labinta	Lampung	540,000
PT. Sentra Usahatama Jaya	Banten	540,000
PT. Jawamanis Rafinasi (Wilmar)	Banten	533,200
PT. Angels Products	Banten	500,000
PT. Medan Sugar Industry	Sumut	495,000
PT. Makassar Tene	Sulsel	462,000
PT. Andalan Furnindo	Jabar	400,000
PT. Permata Dunia Sukses Utama	Banten	396,000
PT. Duta Sugar International (Wilmar)	Banten	300,000
PT. Dharmapala Usaha Sukses (Olam International)	Jateng	250,000
Total		5,016,200

Table 12 Indonesian sugar refineries capacity, 2017

Source: Hartono, S. (2017), "Identifying opportunities in Indonesian sugar refinery industry", *Sugar Indonesia: The Related Industries, Technologies, and Impact to the Nation*, August 15, Surabaya Grand City Convex.

Four sugar producers in Indonesia are Bonsucro certified:²⁷¹

- PT Sugar Labinta since August 2016
- PT Dharmapala Usaha Sukses (Olam International) since April 2017
- PT Kebun Tebu Mas since February 2020
- PT Sentra Usahatama Jaya since December 2020.

Employer organisations have a strong standing in Indonesia, and successfully lobby on policies with the government. Two overarching institutions represent business interests in Indonesia: the Asosiasi Pengusaha Indonesia (APINDO) and Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry (KADIN), in addition to various independent associations.²⁷²

The Indonesia Sugar Association (Asosiasi Gula Indonesia, AGI) founded by the government in 1981, represents all sugar mills, including both private and publicly owned mills. The goal of the AGI is to bring together players in the industry to provide input to the government on policies relating to sugar and promoting the competitiveness of the sugar industry.

In addition, several other associations and industry organisations have formed later, including:²⁷³

- Indonesian People's Sugarcane Farmers Association (APTRI), which represents smallholder and individual sugarcane farmers, and represent the interests of this group of farmers before the government and within the larger industry.²⁷⁴
- Indonesian Sugar Traders Association (APGRI)
- Indonesian Food and Beverage Entrepreneurs Association (GAPMI)
- Indonesian Sugar Expert Association (IKAGI)
- Indonesian Refined Sugar Association (AGRI).

3.9.3 Trade relationships

Under the total allocation of 3.3 million tonnes in 2019, sugar refineries imported 3.2 million tonnes of raw sugar. Thailand was the primary supplier of raw (82 percent) and refined sugar (89 percent). Sugar exports are negligible.²⁷⁵ In the 1930s, Indonesia was still the world's second largest sugar exporter.²⁷⁶ The supply gap is caused by stagnating harvest area, decreasing productivity, and increasing domestic sugar consumption.²⁷⁷

The Indonesian government tightly regulates the sugar industry. Although the government allows imports of raw sugar to be refined domestically for the food and beverage industry, it limits other imports, despite the increasing demand and the inability of domestic production to keep up with consumption, particularly following the long dry season in 2019. In 2019/2020, the government issued import permits for a total of 3.9 million tonnes of raw sugar, which is mostly imported from Thailand.²⁷⁸

Indonesia only exports small amounts of ethanol and does not import fuel-grade ethanol. It prefers to rely on domestic production in line with the protectionist trade strategy from the last years.²⁷⁹

3.9.4 Impact of COVID-19

During the COVID-19 crisis, Indonesia has faced a severe shortage of sugar. Low stocks of plantation white sugar since the last months of 2019 and panic buying due to the social distancing measures resulted in significant retail price increases. In an effort to stabilise prices of plantation white sugar, as of March 2020, the Indonesian Government issued permits to for additional imports of raw sugar for refining and direct household consumption.²⁸⁰

In April 2020, the sugar association AGI called on consumers to reduce their sugar consumption, expecting a 2.8 to 3 million tonnes sugar deficit until the end of 2020, mostly due to national production halting and interruptions in international sugar imports.²⁸¹

3.9.5 Living wages

The Labour Law stipulates a working week of seven hours per day for 40 hours per week across six working days, or eight hours a day for 40 hours a week across five working days, in addition to maximum overtime of three hours per day or fourteen hours a week (Art. 77). Government Regulation Number 35 /2021 on "Certain Time Work Agreement, Outsourcing, Working time and Rest Time, and Dismissal" Article 26 stipulates maximum overtime of 4 hours or 18 hours a week per day or fourteen hours a week (Art. 77). However, this legislation is currently being changed, and overtime may be increased to four hours a day and eighteen hours a week, in addition to cutting mandatory paid leave and expanding outsourcing and flexibilisation of workers over the hiring of fulltime contracts.²⁸²

The 2003 Labour Law states that "every worker/labourer has the right to earn a living that is decent from the viewpoint of humanity" (Art. 88) and outlines a set minimum wage based on the needs for basic living (kebutuhan hidup layak).²⁸³ According to the sources interviewed for this study, the basic living wage is not applicable since the issuance of Job Creation Bill. In this context, only the provincial minimum wage based on purchasing power parity (PPP), employment absorption and median of wages. District minimum wage applicable with conditions. Government Regulation 36/2021, article 30-31). However, district minimum wage is allowed only if the district average economic growth is above provincial inflation.

Indonesia's minimum wage is calculated based on inflation or GDP. Article 88D (2) of the Job Creation Bill Article 88D (2) stipulates the formulation of the District/City minimum wage (UMK) calculation as been referred to sub-article (1) and consist of economic growth or inflation variable. The minimum wage is further corrected based on a province's basic cost of living. As a result, the monthly minimum wage ranges anywhere between IDR 1,868,777 (\leq 108.61) in East Java to IDR 4,416,186 (\leq 256.66) in Jakarta.²⁸⁴ The living wage in Indonesia for a typical family (with two parents and 2.5 children) is estimated at IDR 2,052,900 to 2,823,500 (\leq 119.28 to \leq 164.06).²⁸⁵ Depending on the region and local cost of living, the minimum wage therefore is close to the living wage, and significantly higher than the minimum wages in other countries in the region. However, wages in the agricultural sector are significantly lower at an average of IDR 1,399,967 (\leq 81.38) per month.²⁸⁶

However, this legal minimum wage is only applicable to formal employees. Since the vast majority of workers (84 percent) are in the informal economy, particularly in sectors characterised by daily wage labour such as agriculture, these minimum wages do not apply to most workers.²⁸⁷

Details on labour rights-related issues in Indonesia can be found in section 6.7 in the Appendix.

3.10 Vietnam

3.10.1 Sugarcane production and derived products

Sugarcane area and output

Vietnam accounted for a share of 1 percent of global sugarcane production in 2019. In Asia, it was the seventh largest sugarcane producer. The country's output reached 15 million tonnes in 2019, grown on around 233,000 hectares. At around 67 tonnes per hectare, productivity is reaching almost the global average, but is considerably lower than in countries like Thailand or India.²⁸⁸ The country has around 33,000 sugar farming households.²⁸⁹

Cane sugar

Cane sugar production totalled around 1.3 million tonnes in 2019, down from 1.5 million tonnes in the previous year.²⁹⁰ The sugar industry is not very mature yet and faces various challenges.

In addition to raw sugar, sugarcane juice, called *nước mía* or *mía đá*, is another important product in Vietnam's domestic market. Particularly smallholders in the Mekong Delta sell sugarcane dedicated for juice through traders to small vendors, mainly when demand from mills is low. However, for farmers, selling sugarcane destined for juice is risky. Demand for sugarcane juice is seasonal and purchasing prices are generally low.²⁹¹

Energy

The sugar factories are using cogeneration systems with bagasse as feedstock. The electricity is used for internal consumption and some factories sell the excess energy to the public net operated by the national Electricity of Viet Nam (EVN). In 2016/17, leading Vietnamese sugar mills produced an estimated 310 GWh of electricity, of which around 186 GWh were fed into the national grid. As several mills were planning to install or increase capacity this number has likely increased in the meantime.²⁹²

The Vietnamese government has set targets to increase the use of biomass energy to 2.1 percent of total electricity production by 2030 through the Revised Power Development Plan. Bioethanol derived from sugarcane bagasse is seen as a core resource to meet the country's rising demand for energy. However, the current production capacity is still insufficient and financial institutions are hesitant to invest in the sugar industry. It remains to be seen whether the biomass energy goals will drive demand for sugarcane and related infrastructure investments to facilitate increased fuel-grade ethanol refining.²⁹³

The increased demand for sugarcane bagasse may drive up prices, which may make sugarcane more attractive for investments again after losing ground in the last couple of years due to the low sugar prices. According to producers, this would also allow for raising workers' incomes, while also emphasises that government stimuli for investments into biomass plants and sugarcane production are crucial, yet currently lacking.²⁹⁴

3.10.2 Key industry actors

The number of mills operating in the Vietnam is changing rapidly and differs between different publications. Moreover, many of the factories only operate perfunctorily, making it difficult to pinpoint the exact number of operating factories. In 2017, the number of sugar factories reportedly decreased from 46 to 42, and by August 2019 it was down to 36.²⁹⁵ TTC Sugar as the leading group holds a market share of more than 50 percent in both the consumer as well the business market.²⁹⁶

Three key sugar groups active in Vietnam according to 2017/18 information are listed in Table 13.

Company	Subsidiary/ Plantation or mill company	Own sugarcane plantations (hectares)	Daily milling capacity (tonnes/day)
Thanh Thanh Cong –	TTCS		9,800
Bien Hoa (TTC Sugar)	Bien Hoa – Ninh Hoa		5,200
	Bien Hao – Tri An Bien Hoa – Dong Nai		2,500
	TTCS Gia Lai		6,000
	Bien Hoa – Tay Ninh		4,000
	Bien Hoa – Phan Rang		1,500
	Nuoc Trong – Tay Ninh		1,000
Total TTC ⁱ		38,680	37,500
Quang Ngai Sugar (QNS)	Pho Pong Sugar Mill	2,449	2,200
	An Khe Sugar Mill	21,000	4,500
Total QNS		23,449	6,700
Lam Son Sugar (Lasuco)	Nong Cong Sugar	10,504	7,000

Table 13 Leading Vietnamese sugar processing companies, 2017/18

Notes: 'owned farms 6,800 ha, rest contracted.

Sources: TTC Sugar (2019), Annual Report 2017/18, p. 270; Anh Tú, N. and N. T. Khanh (2017), Business Directory on Sugar Industry in Viet Nam, Hanoi, Vietnam: GIZ Energy Support Programme Unit, pp. 26, 31-32; The Saigon Times (2018, December 14), "Thanh Thanh Cong-Bien Hoa Sugar offers shares to strategic foreign investors".

The Coca-Cola company disclosed that it sourced in 2019 Vietnamese sugar directly from three TTC Sugar mills (Thanh Thanh Cong –Bien Hoa, TTC Bien Hoa –Dong Nai and Bien Hoa –Ninh Hoa).²⁹⁷

There are currently no sugarcane producers in Vietnam certified by BONSUCRO.

The main industry association representing employers in the sugarcane industry is the Viet Nam Sugar and Sugarcane Association (VSSA).

3.10.3 Trade relationships

Vietnamese sugar imports are higher than exports, resulting in net imports of 240,000 tonnes in 2019, up from 190,000 tonnes in the previous year. Most imports originate from Thailand.²⁹⁸

As part of the new EU-Vietnam Free Trade Agreement (EVFTA) that entered into force in August 2020, the EU has exempted import duties for an annual tariff quota for various agricultural commodities, including 20,000 tonnes of Vietnamese raw sugar.²⁹⁹ Major sugar producers in Vietnam such as Thanh Thanh Cong Sugar intend to leverage this opportunity for improved market access and are expecting increased exports to the EU. Of particular interest is organic sugar, for which the demand in Europe is higher than in other markets.³⁰⁰

However, sugar trade relationships between the two countries became tense in 2020, when Vietnamese producers accused Thai companies of dumping sugar on the Vietnamese market, hurting the domestic industry which was already suffering from the suspension of production and decreased demands due to the COVID-19 pandemic.³⁰¹ On 1 January 2020, the ASEAN Trade in Goods Agreement (ATIGA) came into effect, which includes unlimited sugar imports from member countries at a beneficial five percent tariff. According to Vietnamese producers, this has created unfair competition particularly from Thailand, since the Thai government heavily subsidises its sugarcane industry, allowing Thai producers to sell sugar below cost price.³⁰² At the same time, the protectionist policies of other countries make it difficult for Vietnam to export its sugar and the low yields of the last few years have caused several sugarcane firms to disinvest and even close down. Meanwhile, the Vietnamese government calls on the sugar industry to restructure and compete, however, offering no support in the form of subsidies.³⁰³

3.10.4 Impact of COVID-19

The Vietnamese sugarcane industry, which was already struggling due to increased sugar imports below cost price through the ATIGA trade deal in combination with an inefficient industry and poor yields, is facing further issues due to the COVID-19 crisis. Due to the low international sugar prices and competition with Thai sugar, many sugarcane producers in recent years switched to growing cane for juice and other by-products, which they are now unable to sell due to a significant drop in demand during the pandemic.³⁰⁴ This is largely due to the standstill of the Vietnamese tourism industry, on which sugarcane juice sellers in markets depend to sell their products.³⁰⁵

Workers in Vietnam were severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Over 32 million workers have lost their jobs or saw their hours being reduced. Although the agricultural sector was not the hardest hit industry, still 26.4 percent of workers were negatively impacted through reduced hours, lower incomes, and layoffs.³⁰⁶

3.10.5 Living wages

The Labour Code establishes a minimum wage set by the Government on recommendation of a National Wage Council that based on the minimum living needs of an employee and his/her family, social and economic conditions and wage levels in the labour market (Art. 91).

The monthly minimum wage is currently set in accordance to four regions, the lowest being VND 3,070,000 (\leq 109.79) and the highest at VND 4,420,000 (\leq 158.07).³⁰⁷ However, the Global Living Wage Coalition estimates the monthly living wage in rural Vietnam at VND 4,618,167 (\leq 166.04) for a standard family, and the costs of a basic but decent living at VND 7,729,194 (\leq 277.89) per month.³⁰⁸

Normal working hours set by the Labour Code are eight hours per day, at a maximum of 48 per week, although this may be exceeded against overtime rates (Art. 104). The Code also requires a break of at least thirty minutes in a working day of over six hours (Art. 108), a twelve-hour break between shifts (Art. 109), and a 24-hour break per week (Art. 110) in addition to annual leave and public holidays. Although the Labour Code prohibits forced labour, the law does not provide any penalties, and does not explicitly prohibit debt bondage. As a result, Vietnam has high rates of forced labour, usually through unlicensed brokers charging high fees, forcing particularly migrant workers into debt.³⁰⁹

Details on labour rights-related issues in Vietnam can be found in section 6.8 in the Appendix.

3.11 Conclusions

Sugarcane production is an important economic opportunity in many producing countries, providing income and employment for many farmers and workers. The global market is dominated by a small number of large producing countries which account for a significant share of sugarcane production.

Sugarcane farms vary significantly in size, from just one or two hectares to tens of thousands of hectares. Generally, Latin America shows more mechanisation in sugarcane production than Asia and a structure with larger landholdings to produce sugarcane. This can be illustrated at the hand of the two largest sugarcane producers globally: while production in Brazil as the world's largest producer country is dominated by large plantations, small-scale farmers dominate in India, the second-largest producer, and in many other developing countries. It is difficult to identify reliable data on the number, size, and production levels of sugarcane farmers worldwide. According to estimate, as much as 40 percent of sugarcane may be grown by as many as 60 million small-scale farmers, while the remaining 60 percent is grown on large plantations.³¹⁰

Next to large estates, also Latin American producing countries have smaller farmers supplying sugarcane to the mills, however, on average their cultivation area is bigger than those of smallholder farmers in Asia.³¹¹

The countries included in this research are all comparatively small producers with varying levels of development in their sugar industry. However, on the domestic market often a small number of companies controls the market. Across the analysed countries, some level of vertical integration is observed, with companies often operating plantations, mills, and refineries, marketing sugar on the domestic market and playing an important role in exports. Some of the companies operating in Latin America are present in multiple countries, however, such movements are limited. In recent years, scandals around collusion, tax evasion or corruption involved key actors of the industry in several Latin American countries. Influential families control a significant share of the processing capacity for example in Colombia and Guatemala.

Especially in Cambodia, there is considerable insecurity around the status of production and processing and the role of specific companies in the sector. However, in contrast to the other countries included in the analysis, foreign-owned companies seem to play a bigger role in Cambodia.

The use of bagasse for internal energy requirements as well as supply of surpluses into the national grids is observed across most countries. However, analysis of the potential for electricity generation from biomass sees opportunities for expansion in various markets. Overall, despite of government announcements and programmes for including bioethanol in gasoline, the development of the use of sugarcane-based ethanol for fuel use in several of the analysed countries is not developed yet or still in early stages.

Social issues connected to the sugarcane sector are a common theme across regions and countries. Especially land conflicts are prevalent in the sector in Latin America as well as in Asia, with local communities losing their access to land where large-scale sugarcane plantations are expanding. Moreover, all but one country (Peru, where the minimum wage at some of the mills was slightly above the national minimum) fail to provide sugarcane sector workers with a living wage.

To make matters worse, forced labour and debt bondage are prevalent in Guatemala, Bolivia, and Vietnam. Women and other minority groups such as (internal) migrant workers and indigenous peasant communities are the most affected by the absence of living wages. In addition, internal migrant workers and female migrant workers are the most vulnerable to debt bondage and labour exploitation. Globally, women working in the sector are also more prone to occupational health disorders, which in turns affects their capacity to negotiate better wages.



Relationships between selected sugar companies and Dutch financial institutions

This chapter presents the financiers and investors in the sugarcane sector, particularly in 25 companies, including the big agro-commodity traders and a selection of the most important companies from the countries of interest.

4.1 Loans and underwriting

This section reviews the Dutch corporate investors of the world's top five agro-commodity traders buying and selling cane sugar in the international market, i.e., Wilmar International, Alvean (JV Cargill & Copersucar), ED&F Man, Sucres et Denrées (Sucden), LDC (Louis Dreyfus Company). For each trader, a short presentation is provided, followed by its relationship with Dutch investors.

Between 2015 and 2020, three Dutch banks (ING Group, Rabobank, and ABN Amro) provide credit for a total US\$ 13,740 million to the top five sugar-training agro-commodity traders, as well as their regional representations (Table 14).

Investor Parent	Trading group	Sum of Per Investor Value (in mIn US\$)
ING Group (total)		4.957
	COFCO	1.745
	Cargill	1.082
	Bunge	923
	ED&F Man	429
	Louis Dreyfus Company	349
	Sucres et Denrées (Sucden)	224
	Wilmar	150
	Sucden Americas	55
Rabobank (total)		4.817
	COFCO	1.497
	Cargill	1.187
	Louis Dreyfus Company	598
	ED&F Man	579
	Bunge	282
	Sucres et Denrées (Sucden)	275
	Sucden Americas	219
	Wilmar	181

Table 14 Loans and underwriting per bank and trader, 2015-2020

Investor Parent	Trading group	Sum of Per Investor Value (in mln US\$)
ABN Amro (total)		3.966
	COFCO	1.242
	Cargill	852
	Louis Dreyfus Company	616
	ED&F Man	420
	Bunge	375
	Wilmar	306
	Sucres et Denrées (Sucden)	128
	Sucden Americas	28
Total		13.740

Source: Thomson Reuters Eikon (2021), 'EMAXX Bondholdings of selected companies', viewed in January 2021; Thomson Reuters Eikon (2021), 'Shareholdings of selected companies', viewed in January 2021.

4.2 Bond- and shareholdings

Moreover, this research found that nine Dutch bond- and shareholders invested in the commercial activities of three top global agro-commodity traders (Bunge, Cargill, and Wilmar). Moreover, TRUSTUS Capital Management (Dutch investment management company) held bonds and shares worth US\$ 0,81 million in Viet Nam-based Quang Ngai Sugar. In total, the nine Dutch bond and shareholders invested over US\$ 140 million in Q4 2020 (Table 15) in the cane sugar sector.

Group	Investor Parent	Sum of Per Investor Value (in mln US\$)
	Pensioenfonds Zorg en Welzijn (PFZW)	79,8
	Algemeen Burgerlijk Pensioenfonds (ABP)	15,5
	NN Group	12,1
	ASR Nederland	9,0
	Shell Asset Management Company	6,0
	Aegon	1,7
	ABN Amro	0,9
Bunge (total)		125,2
	TCW Group	0,6
Cargill (total)		0,6
	TRUSTUS Capital Management	0,81
Quang Ngai Sugar (QNS) (total)		0,81
	Pensioenfonds Zorg en Welzijn (PFZW)	11,26
	NN Group	1,74
	Algemeen Burgerlijk Pensioenfonds (ABP)	1,12
Wilmar (total)		14,13
Total		140,79

Table 15 Bond- and shareholdings per group and investor, 2020-Q4

Source: Thomson Reuters Eikon (2021), 'EMAXX Bondholdings of selected companies', viewed in January 2021; Thomson Reuters Eikon (2021), 'Shareholdings of selected companies', viewed in January 2021.

5

Price-setting, sales, and profits in the sugarcane value chain

This chapter sketches changes to the value of a sugarcane product along the supply chain, from field to fork. This analysis pays special attention to identifying the value chain stakeholders receiving largest economic benefits. Moreover, players are identified who are likely influencing the pricing mechanisms.

The logical order of the analysis is first to focus on how key players in the sugarcane chain add value to the processed or embedded sugarcane product. Subsequently, the field-to-fork price setting can be calculated, and conclusions can be made on the actors in the chain that benefit most from the trade of sugarcane and its products.

5.1 Key actors in the sugarcane value chain: turnover and profits

From the market analysis (section 2.6and Chapter 3), the following actors can be identified:

- Millers/farmers.
- Domestic wholesalers.
- (Global) traders in cane sugar which act on the world sugar market.
- Fast-Moving Consumer Goods companies (FMCGs), ingredient companies, and others who process the sugar and sell this to retail sectors and foodservice companies.
- Supermarkets/food retailers who sell the products to consumers.
- Foodservice companies who sell the products to hotels, restaurants, and cafés.
- Biofuel producers and resellers: companies that produce or re-sell ethanol and/or mix this with fossil fuel and sell it to consumers.

5.1.1 Millers and farmers

Only some of the sugarcane companies identified in the eight countries included in this study are listed, of which several in Peru. These publicise information about their net revenues/sales and their profits. As these companies might also have other activities, the focus is on their activities related to sugar and its by-products, such as animal feed ingredients and (bio)fuels (e.g., ethanol and gas).

For six Peruvian companies, the total net sales, gross profit, and operating profits are published. The companies do not provide the specific information related to sugar; due to this lack of transparency, the second-best way is used to calculate the sugar-related value and profit generation through the approved methodology mentioned earlier. The methodology that is used in this report, is as follows:

- In general, the costs of goods sold by a company are upgraded to sales prices of endproducts, which are sold to consumers.
- The tons of sugarcane that are processed are part of cost of goods sold.
- The end-product sold to consumers consists of cane sugar, feed ingredients, and biofuels.
- The difference between the sales proceeds and the input costs for sugarcane is part of the price-setting, which depends on both local prices and world prices.

In Table 16 the gross margin varies between -17.7% and 29.7%. In general, come companies can generate a higher price for their end-products versus the input product costs. In 2019, one company was not able to do this. As companies give no detailed insight, the assumption is that the net revenues values from the products made from sugarcane will experience the same price-setting as the average of each company. From the market research, the tonnages of sugar production are known. This is multiplied by the world sugar price as a starting point. By applying the gross margin of each company, the gross profit related to sugarcane is calculated. The group of six sugar companies in Peru have proceeds of US\$ 258.8 million on sugar products, and after deductions of US\$ 216.7 million cane sugar sourcing costs, the remaining US\$ 42.1 million is pricing-up (i.e., gross profit).

This 'gross profit from sugarcane' can be further refined to 'operating profit from sugarcane'. This includes the other costs such as depreciation, marketing costs, salaries, management fees and bonuses, and restructuring costs related to the production process. As detailed information on sugar related operating expenses is not given by companies, the second-best solution is to take the total operating margin of each company and apply this on the embedded sugar turnover only. Based on this, we calculated an operating profit of US\$ 16.4 million. This operating profit is related to the embedded sugar input/sourcing.

For the rest of the sugar industry in Peru, the same margins are used. And these are also applied to the rest of the world as in the fragmented market of sugarcane the outcomes will not vary dramatically. The 140-million-ton cane sugar trade equates to US\$ 47.4 billion net value for sugar-based products by millers, US\$ 7.7 billion gross profit and US\$ 3.0 billion operating profit.

By using the pricing-up/gross margin approach, the first input for price-setting is found. The millers' and farmers' activities lead to a pricing-up from US\$ 284 per ton cane sugar to US\$ 339 net revenues per processed/embedded ton cane sugar. This US\$ 323/ton is an input for the next stage in the chain, which are the wholesalers in the domestic chain and local FMCGs and other sugar-sourcing companies.

	Gross	Operating	Sugar (m	Sales	Input	Gross	Operating	Pricing-
US\$ million	margin	margin	ton)	value	value	profit	profit	up
Formula	А	В	С	D=E/(1-A)	E=CxIP	F=AxD	G=BxD	Н
Input price (US\$/ton) - IP								284
Peru	Co	Co	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar
Casa Grande	15.6%	5.3%	0.19	63.8	53.9	9.9	3.4	336
Cartavio	21.1%	12.0%	0.13	46.8	36.9	9.9	5.6	360
San Jacinto	12.1%	4.0%	0.10	31.0	27.2	3.8	1.3	323
Laredo	12.5%	4.5%	0.16	51.2	44.8	6.4	2.3	324
Paramonga	29.7%	8.6%	0.12	50.1	35.2	14.9	4.3	404
Pomalca	-17.7%	-2.8%	0.07	15.9	18.7	-2.8	-0.5	241
Sub-total	16.2%	6.4%	0.76	258.8	216.7	42.1	16.4	339
Margins						16.2%	6.4%	
Rest of Peru industry			0.32	107.0		17.4	6.8	339

Table 16 Millers and farmers: Sugar value chain

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Peru total			1.08	365.8		59.6	23.3	339
Margins applied to:						16.2%	6.4%	
Global milling/farmer sector			140.0	47,424		7,706	3,012	339

Source: gross, operating margin from Bloomberg, 2019 results; sugar (m ton) from supply chain research in this report; Co = company; E-sugar = embedded (or processed) sugar.

5.1.2 Domestic wholesalers and domestic retail

A global study by the International Sugar Organisation³¹² showed that in more than eighty countries the local prices of sugar are higher than world market prices. The wholesale prices in these countries were 40% higher and the retail prices were 100 % higher than world market price. These prices are based on local price regulation, import tariffs, and local conditions. This means that the domestic wholesale sector is pricing-up the US\$ 284 global world market price to US\$ 397/ton, and the domestic retail sector to US\$ 567/ton. Note that the domestic wholesale sector sources the sugar and other products for US\$ 339 per ton from the local milling sector, which is a higher price than the world market price.

Of global sugar production, one-third is sold on the world market, and two-third on domestic markets (93.3m ton). Both world and local 'sugar' will end up in the same chain of FMCGs and other processors. The domestic wholesale price-setting of US\$ 397/ton will be used as a part of the input price of FMCGs and other buyers (Table 17). The domestic retail price will be part of the retail analyses in section 5.1.5.

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Formula	А	В	С	D=E/(1-A)	E=CxIP	F=AxD	G=BxD	Н
Input price (USD/ton) - IP								339
	Co	Co	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar
Domestic wholesale	14.7%	5.0%	93.3	37,070	31,616	5,454	1,854	397

Table 17 Local wholesalers: sugar value chain

Source: gross, operating margin from Bloomberg, 2019 results; sugar (m ton) from supply chain research in this report; Co = company; E-sugar = embedded (or processed) sugar.

5.1.3 Traders

For the traders, the same methodology is used as above. In this way, the net revenues related to sugar-based trade can be defined, as well as the pricing-up, the gross profit and the operating profit. One-third of (cane) sugar, or 46.7 million ton, is traded on the world market.

Wilmar International is the only publicly listed entity that provides information on margins and pricing-up. The assumption is that the 13.6 million (metric) ton of cane sugar this company trades is sourced against the world market price, or US\$ 284 per ton, as Wilmar International belongs to the groups that trade sugar on the world market.

As Wilmar has a gross margin of 23.3%, it is pricing up the sourcing of sugar to US\$D 370/ton, or US\$ 284 x (100/(100%-23.3%)). For Wilmar, this generates a gross profit of US\$ 1.2 billion on its embedded sugar sales of US\$ 5.0 billion (13.6 million ton). All international traders trade a value of an estimated US\$ 13.2 billion of sugar, and price-set this to US\$ 17.3 billion. This results in US\$ 4.0 billion gross profit and US\$ 898 million operating profit (Table 18).

The price-setting by wholesalers is US\$ 370 per ton sugar.

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Formula	А	В	С	D=E/(1-A)	E=CxIP	F=AxD	G=BxD	Н
Input price (USD/ton) - IP								284
	Со	Co	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar
Wilmar International	23.3%	5.7%	13.6	5,032	3,858	1,174	286	370
Other	23.3%	5.0%	33.1	12,235	9,381	2,854	612	370
Average/Total	23.3%	5.2%	46.7	17,267	13,239	4,027	898	370

Table 18 Global traders: Sugar value chain

Source: gross, operating margin from Annual Report 2019 Wilmar International; sugar (m ton) from supply chain research in this report; Co = company; E-sugar = embedded (or processed) sugar.

5.1.4 Fast-Moving Consumer Good companies and other processors

The two-third of local sugar from wholesale and the one-third world market sugar will be sourced by FMCGs and ingredient companies. In section 2.7, the six largest global sugar sourcing FMCGs were mentioned: Coca Cola, ABF, Nestlé, Pepsico, Unilever and Kellogg's.

The companies are not transparent about the costs related to their embedded sugar purchases. Moreover, the companies are not transparent about the gross margin they earn on the embedded sugar input and give no details on the operating profit on sugar-processing either. Therefore, the same methodology is used for calculating the price-setting of the value chain actors above.

The input price for FMCGs, which operate locally and globally, is probably a combination of local wholesale price (US\$ 397/ton) and global trader output price (US\$ 370/ton). This leads to an input price for processed sugar of US\$ 384/ton.

By applying this information, the sourcing of embedded or processed sugar by Coca Cola costs US\$ 1.9 billion, while its total Cost of Goods Sold (COGS, excluding labour costs) is US\$ 11.6 billion. Thus, embedded/processed sugar is 16.6% of its COGS. The pricing-up by Coca Cola is spectacular. As its gross margin is 69.1%, the embedded sugar is upgraded from US\$ 1.9 billion to US\$ 6.2 billion, or US\$ 384 per ton to US\$ 1,242 per ton. For PepsiCo the pricing-up is to US\$D 1,256 per ton. For ABF the pricing-up is to US\$ 600 per ton, but the company is much more an ingredient company.

As 75% of the global sugar production is used for food consumption, the whole FMCG value realised on embedded sugar is estimated on 106 million tons sugar, leading to a total pricing-up/gross profit of US\$ 43.2 billion on net revenues of US\$ 83.5 billion embedded sugar. Operating profit on embedded sugar is US\$ 9.5 billion. In Table 19, the assumption is that the top-6 companies are not completely representative of the global market. The other FMCGs earn a lower gross margin. Therefore, the pricing-up for the entire FMCG industry is estimated at US\$D 795 per ton embedded cane sugar.

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Formula	А	В	С	D=E/(1-A)	E=CxIP	F=AxD	G=BxD	Н
Input price (US\$/ton) - IP								384
	Co	Co	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar
Coca Cola	69.1%	27.1%	5.0	6,212	1,921	4,291	1,681	1,242
ABF	36.0%	5.8%	1.7	1,020	653	367	59	600
Nestlé	62.4%	14.8%	1.3	1,278	480	797	189	1,022
Pepsico	69.4%	15.3%	0.8	996	305	691	153	1,256
Unilever	60.0%	16.8%	0.4	385	154	231	64	962
Kellogg's	40.5%	10.3%	0.3	175	104	71	18	645
Sub- total/Average	64.1%	21.5%	9.4	10,066	3,617	6,449	2,165	1,069
Other	50.0%	10.0%	95.6	73,456	36,728	36,728	7,346	768
Total	51.7%	11.4%	105.0	83,522	40,345	43,177	9,510	795

Table 19 Fast-Moving Consumer Goods companies: Sugar value chain

Source: gross, operating margin from Annual Reports 2019; sugar (m ton) from supply chain research in this report; Co = company; Esugar = embedded (or processed) sugar.

5.1.5 Supermarkets and wholesalers/food service suppliers

The FMCGs and ingredient makers sell their products to supermarkets and to wholesalers/foodservice suppliers. In this group, the supermarkets in most local markets generate most sales versus foodservice.

Supermarkets generate a gross margin of approximately 30% in many markets and operating margins of 3-5%. The 30% gross margin means that the pricing-up of sourced goods is 43% or a factor of 1.43X (=1/(1-0.70)). However, the pricing-up of perishable goods like vegetables, meat and dairy is relatively high as gross margins are 35-40%. For non-perishable goods, like many products with embedded sugar (soft drinks), the gross margins are lower. As there is no transparency, the assumption is 20%, or a pricing-up with a factor 1.25X.

The entire food retail and wholesale sector will be using the 105-million-ton embedded cane sugar, and the input price is US\$ 795/ton (= output price by FMCGs). This leads to total net revenues with a value of US\$ 104.4 billion, gross profit of US\$ 20.9 billion and operating profit of US\$ 3.7 billion (Table 20). Between supermarkets and wholesalers this can be split in 75/25%. Overall, this is a fragmented sector and globally there is not one supermarket that will belong to a global top 6.

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Formula	А	В	С	D=E/(1-A)	E=CxIP	F=AxD	G=BxD	Н
Input price (US\$/ton) - IP								795
	Co	Co	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar

Table 20 Supermarkets and food service: Sugar value chain

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Supermarkets	20.0%	4.0%	78.8	78,302	62,641	15,660	3,132	994
on top brands								1,337
Catering/ others	20.0%	2.0%	26.3	26,101	20,880	5,220	522	994
Total	20.0%	3.5%	105.0	104,402	83,522	20,880	3,654	994

Source: gross, operating margin from Annual Reports 2019; sugar (m ton) from supply chain research in this report; Co = company; Esugar = embedded (or processed) sugar.

5.1.6 Biofuel producers and resellers

Ethanol is produced executed already at the level of the local millers, but also global energy operators like Shell, produce ethanol. These global players also source ethanol from local companies to mix this with fossil fuels following own policies or government regulation.

US\$ million	Gross margin	Operating margin	Sugar (m ton)	Sales value	Input value	Gross profit	Operating profit	Pricing- up
Formula	А	В	С	D=E/(1-A)	E=CxIP	F=AxD	G=BxD	Н
Input price (US\$/ton) - IP								384
	Co	Co	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar	E-sugar
Shell	9.7%	1.5%	8.9	3,784	3,415	368	58	
Cosan	29.4%	18.7%						
Alto Ingredients	3.9%	0.7%						
Rex American Resources	3.0%	-1.6%						
Green Plains	1.3%	-6.1%						
Sector assumption	7.5%	1.0%	26.1	10,847	10,033	813	108	
Total	8.1%	1.1%	35.0	14,630	13,448	1,182	166	418

Table 21 Biofuel producers and resellers: Sugar value chain

Source: gross, operating margin from Annual Report Shell 2019, Bloomberg; sugar (m ton) from supply chain research in this report; Co = company; E-sugar = embedded (or processed) sugar.

Ethanol is made from sugar as well as from grains, palm oil, and organic waste. Shell praises itself as a global leader in the biofuel market. In this context, Shell reports mixing 9.5 billion litres of ethanol with fossil fuels.³¹³ The company does not give a breakup between ethanol based on sugarcane and other materials. With a large joint venture (Raízen) in Brazil based on sugarcane, the assumption in this report is that 50% of this 9.5 billion is based on sugar cane. Based on this assumption and on the fact that one ton sugar can yield 141 gallons of ethanol, we calculate that 8.8-million-ton cane sugar are needed to produce 4.75 billion litres of ethanol. As input price the same US\$ 384 per ton is used as for FMCGs. As Shell is not transparent about its ethanol/biofuel business, its downstream 9.7% gross margin and 1.5% operating margins are used to calculate the relevant embedded cane sugar values and profits. On net revenue level the value is US\$ 3.8 billion. Gross profit is US\$ 368 million and operating profit US\$ 58 million.

Some other fuel companies are also active in ethanol production, and these show very diverse margin outcomes (Cosan, Alto Ingredients, Rex American Resources, Green Plains). With an assumption of the remaining ethanol sector of 7.5% gross margin and 1% operating margin, the sector contributes US\$ 14.6 billion in sugar-embedded revenues, US\$ 1.2 billion gross profit and US\$ 166 million in operating profit (Table 21).

5.1.7 Summary of total value chain in sugarcane per sub-sector

The results generated in the preceding sections of this chapter, form the basis for the crucial relative comparison.

The total value generated in the cane sugar supply chain, is estimated at US\$ 304 billion. This is the value embedded in each part of the chain. The various chains generate a total gross profit of US\$ 82.4 billion on this. The operating profit is calculated at US\$ 19.1 billion (Table 22).

US\$D million	Value	Gross profit	Operating profit
Millers/farmers etc	47,424	7,706	3,012
Local wholesalers	37,070	5,454	1,854
Global traders	17,267	4,027	898
FMCGs	83,522	43,177	9,510
Supermarkets	78,302	15,660	3,132
Foodservice/others	26,101	5,220	522
Biofuels	14,630	1,182	166
Total	304,316	82,427	19,094

Table 22 The total value chain in sugarcane: proceeds and profits

Source: from the tables in the previous sections of this chapter

In the total, the highest value generated on cane sugar is by the FMCG companies. In net turnover, their share is 27%, but in gross profit and operating profit their share is respectively 52% and 50% (Table 23). These high percentages are due to the strong pricing-up power by companies like Coca Cola. This leads to high gross profits and high operating profits.

Supermarkets also belong to the leaders in value generated. Their profit generation is less significant than that of FMCGs. This is because the pricing power for global brands is at the brand producers, while supermarkets generate below-average profit margins on non-perishable products such as soft drinks (versus the high margins for perishables like vegetables, meat, dairy).

Millers and farmers as a group belong to the top 3 in the value and profit chain. The division between farmers and millers cannot be made easily as farmers might be owners of a mill through a cooperative. The generated values and profits by the group need to be divided by millions of companies as it is a very fragmented sector.

Value chain actor	Value	Gross profit	Operating profit
Millers/farmers	15.6%	9.3%	15.8%
Local wholesalers	12.2%	6.6%	9.7%
Global traders	5.7%	4.9%	4.7%

Table 23 Profit share along the sugarcane value chain

Value chain actor	Value	Gross profit	Operating profit
FMCGs	27.4%	52.4%	49.8%
Supermarkets	25.7%	19.0%	16.4%
Food service/others	8.6%	6.3%	2.7%
Biofuel sellers	4.8%	1.4%	0.9%
Total	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Source: Calculations are made from the tables in the previous sections of this chapter.

5.2 Price-setting by key actors and sectors in the sugarcane chain

Based on the analysis in the preceding sections of this chapter, the following escalating embedded sugar price per ton can be calculated. These numbers are consistent with the pricing of the key actors in the analysis above. In supermarkets, the top 6 global FMCGs sugarcane sourcing brands (Coca Cola, ABF, Nestlé, PepsiCo, Unilever, Kellogg's) can realise a 371% value gain (based on the 471 index number) versus the global sugar prices (Table 24).

	USD/ton	Index
World market price	284	100
Millers/farmers etc	339	119
Local wholesalers	397	140
Retail local	567	200
Global traders	370	130
FMCGs + other manufacturers		
Global	795	280
Top Brands	1,069	377
Supermarkets		
Global	994	350
Top Brands	1,337	471
Foodservice/others	994	350
Biofuels	418	147

Table 24 Price-setting of embedded cane sugar/ton

Source: based on the tables in the previous sections of this chapter.

5.3 The top 6 companies generating most value and profits

From the various levels in the chain, the top 6 companies can be selected which earn most in revenues and profits from embedded sugarcane. The top 6 generate 5.8% of the total value generated in the sugarcane chain, but in gross profit the share is 9.2% and in operating profit even 12.7%.

Coca Cola is clearly the largest company and dominates the top 6. While Nestlé, PepsiCo and Unilever are unsurprisingly in the top 6. The position of Wilmar international and Shell Group is interesting too (Table 25).

US\$ million	Value	Gross profit	Operating profit
Coca Cola	6,212	4,291	1,681
Wilmar International	5,032	1,174	286
Shell Group	3,784	368	58
Nestlé	1,278	797	189
PepsiCo	996	691	153
Unilever	385	231	64
Total	17,686	7,553	2,431
% of total value chain	5.8%	9.2%	12.7%

Table 25 Top 6 of value and profit generating companies

Source: Calculations made based on the tables in the previous sections of this chapter.

6

Appendix: Detailed country profiles

6.1 Bolivia

6.1.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Bolivia has ratified all eight of the ILO Fundamental Conventions, as well as three of the four priority Governance Conventions, except C144 – Tripartite Consultation (International Labour Standards) Convention, 1976 (No. 144).³¹⁴

Bolivia's 2009 Constitution strongly integrates human rights, including social economic rights. Article 46 outlines that every person has the right to *"dignified work, with industrial and occupational health and safety, without discrimination, and with a fair, equitable and satisfactory remuneration or salary that assures a dignified existence for the worker and his or her family."* The constitution also recognises the right to collective bargaining, freedom of association, non-discrimination as well as other fundamental rights to and at work.³¹⁵

The Ministry of Labour oversees the implementation and enforcement of labour legislation, particularly the 1939 General Labour Law (*Ley General del Trabajo*), but this law explicitly excludes agricultural workers. This means that agricultural workers are not covered by the protections in these labour laws as well as access to rights such as freedom of association, the right to associate and minimum wages, but instead are subject to specific degrees and regulations.³¹⁶

Child labour

Bolivia has ratified C182 – Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182) as well as C138 – Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138). In this context, the 35 worst forms of child labour, which are typified by law. However, between 2014 and 2018, Bolivia had in place a Child and Adolescent Code that allowed children to work from the age of ten and provided protections for the rights of these child workers in an attempt to regulate child labour. Though applauded by some NGOs representing voluntary child workers arguing that regularisation would increase protection, the law was severely criticised by international bodies such as the ILO and in 2018, after the Plurinational Constitutional Court declared the provisions as unconstitutional, then President Morales changed the minimum working age from ten to fourteen.³¹⁷

Although these changes and current legislation now largely meet ILO principles, child labour remains a persistent issue in Bolivia. Of children between ages seven to fourteen, 10.3 percent is engaged in work. Although most children (98.2 percent) attend primary school, 9.4 percent of children combine this with work before or after school hours or in the weekends. In most cases, this concerns work in agriculture (83 percent), particularly on corn fields, nuts and sugarcane plantations, and raising cattle. This also includes some of the worst forms of child labour, including forced labour on sugarcane plantations, which particularly affects indigenous children and internal migrants and refugee children.³¹⁸

A particular gap in Bolivia's efforts against child labour lies in the lack of funding for enforcement of legislation, including a gross underfunding of the labour inspectorate. The Ministry of Labour reported in 2019 that its budget was insufficient to conduct labour inspections, and due to the political unrest in that same year, the government had not been able to collect data on inspections nor child labour incidences.³¹⁹

Freedom of association

Bolivia has ratified C087 – Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87) as well as C098 – Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98). In addition, the Constitution provides for freedom of association, which is further regulated under the Labour Law. Workers may form a union in any private company that hires 20 or more employees, but at least 50 percent of the workforce needs to support the union. In addition, each company may only have one registered union, and unions need to legally register and gain government authorisation. The government may also dissolve unions, and only members that are Bolivian by birth may be on a union's board. In practice, these regulations severely limit the organising power of workers, particularly since the administrative processes are lengthy and over 70 percent of Bolivian companies hire fewer than 20 employees.³²⁰

Violations to trade unions' rights

According to the ITUC Global Rights Index, workers in Bolivia face systematic violations of their rights (Rating 4). The mass demonstrations after the disputed elections in the fall of 2019, which included leadership and active support from trade unions, were met with extreme police violence and brutality, and at least 31 protesters were killed during demonstrations.³²¹ In addition, between 2016 and 2019, ITUC registered ten cases of violations of trade union rights, including unfair dismissal, criminal persecution as retaliation against strikes, barriers to trade union recognition and intimidation.³²²

Also, in the sugarcane industry, unions frequently see their rights violated. In some cases, unions are denied access to sugar mills and plantations,³²³ in other cases, employers refused to cooperate with unions during negotiations or following complaints from workers.³²⁴ Moreover, outsourcing, which is common for amongst seasonal workers, can put cutters at risk since it is often not clear who is responsible for monitoring the labour safety of these workers.³²⁵

Occupational safety and health

Bolivia has not ratified the key ILO Conventions on OSH, including C155 - Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155) and C184 - Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184).³²⁶ National OSH laws, however, are not effectively enforced. The Ministry of Labour's Bureau of Occupational Safety is responsible for the protection on workers' OSH, but has insufficient funds and inspectorate capacity, and noncompliance is underreported. Workers in informal employment enjoy even less protection.³²⁷

During the COVID-19 crisis, workers face dangerous working conditions. Although companies claim to have taken health and safety measures, there have been several reports of contaminations among workers, including an outbreak among 165 workers at the Guabira mill, of which at least two workers passed away because of Covid complications.³²⁸ Also during the COVID-19 crisis, workers face dangerous working conditions. Although companies claim to have taken health and safety measures, there have been several reports of contaminations among workers, including an outbreak among 165 workers at the Guabira mill, of passed away.³²⁹

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

Most workers in Bolivia are employed in the informal economy (80.7 percent in 2018).³³⁰ Many employers prefer to hire informal and flexible labour, particularly in the case of women, to avoid paying the required benefits.³³¹

Civil society leaders in Bolivia have growing concerns about the extremely poor working conditions in Chinese companies, which are heavily investing in infrastructure and mining. Multiple NGOs reported that in addition to bring over Chinese labour rather than hiring locally, Chinese companies follow Chinese labour laws rather than the stricter Bolivian laws, and the government fails to enforce these regulations.³³²

With regards to migrant labour in the sugar sector, every year between the May and November, around 35,000 people migrate internally to the departments of Tarija and Santa Cruz to work in the sugar cane harvest, also known as *"la zafra"*. This work is carried out, for the most part, by peasant families, who live in poverty and who seek to earn some money to buy food.³³³ According to the Iberoamerican Organisation of Social Security (OISS), the majority of these workers are subcontractors.³³⁴

Access to social security

Although part of the salary of formally employed workers is dedicated to social benefits as established by the General Labour Law, sugarcane workers usually have no access to social benefits. Moreover, sugarcane workers are also covered by the Universal Health Insurance system, however, this system is not effective for them because there are usually no health care facilities covered by the insurance anywhere near the plantations. In addition, informally contracted sugarcane workers do not contribute to the pension system, thus they have no claim to pension funds. Rather than taking responsibility, sugarcane companies blame the workers, claiming that most of them prefer not to sign a formal contract since they prefer the flexibility of moving around between different plantations and because they want to avoid paying taxes.³³⁵

Discrimination

Bolivia has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111).³³⁶ Bolivia's Labour Law prohibits discrimination based on race, sex, gender, disability, religion, political opinion, national origin or citizenship, language, sexual orientation or gender identity, HIV-positive status or other communicable diseases, or social status. This specifies principles of non-discrimination on more areas than most countries, yet the laws on discrimination are not effectively enforced.³³⁷

In practice, women face high levels of political violence and harassment, and there are various reports of employment discrimination against indigenous peoples, women, Afro-Bolivians, persons with disabilities, and members of the LGBTQI community. However, discrimination in the workplace is usually not officially reported nor penalised.³³⁸

According to UN Women, women in the informal sector earned on average 19 percent less than their male counterparts. Despite regulations, the pay gap is worse in the formal sector: men earn between 1.5 to four times more than women in the same occupation, which some critics argue is because of the strong benefits for women regulated by law, which includes more holidays, maternity benefits, a ban on working night shifts, and fewer work hours than men.³³⁹

6.1.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

According to ILO estimates, 39.1 percent of workers are unionised in Bolivia, which is the highest rate in the region.³⁴⁰ In total, there are 163 active trade unions in Bolivia, which are organised under the central Bolivian Workers' Centre (*Central Obrera Boliviana*, COB).³⁴¹

According to the sources interviewed for this study, each mill has a union named after the same company. In this context, some of the unions include:

- Federación Sindical de Trabajadores Zafreros de la Caña de Azúcar de Santa Cruz (FSTZCA-SC)
- Federación Sindical de Trabajadores Zafreros de la Caña de Azúcar de Bermejo

- La Confederación Nacional de Trabajadores Asalariados del Campo
- Unión de Trabajadores del Azúcar San Isidro (UTASI)
- Sindicato de Obreros y Empleados del Azúcar San Isidro (SOEASI)

Moreover, the sources interviewed for this study indicated that, with the exception of public sector teachers and health workers, the law prohibits unionisation state workers. This means that the workers of stated-owned San Buenaventura mill cannot unionise. The state argues that these workers are subject to the Statute of the Public Official, and not to the General Labour Law.

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Two Bolivian trade unions are IUF members:³⁴²

- Sindicato de Trabajadores Fabriles de Embol S.A. (STFESA)
- Sindicato Embol Cochahamba (SEC)

There are no Bolivian trade unions member of ITUC.

6.1.3 Social dialogue

Bolivia has not ratified the two international conventions concerning social dialogue – Tripartite Consultation Convention (C144) and Collective Bargaining Convention (C154).³⁴³ The 2009 Constitution did introduce tripartism, with the Ministry of Labour as responsible for promoting, recognising, and guaranteeing labour negotiations and social dialogue in labour matters.

Since 2010, negotiations have mostly taken place between the Bolivian Workers' Centre – the chief trade union federation in Bolivia – and the government, mostly excluding employer representatives and thereby not respecting the tripartite principles. On a company level, negotiations usually take place on a bipartite basis between unions and employers, without direct government participation. However, agricultural workers are completely excluded from the right to collective bargaining, as well as informal workers.³⁴⁴

Some central tripartite institutions include the National Tripartite Occupational Safety and Health Council, the National Health Fund (*Caja Nacional de Salud*), National Commission for the Eradication of Child Labour (*Comisión Nacional de Erradicación Progresiva del Trabajo Infantil*), and the Productivity and Competition Commission (*Comisión de Productividad y Competitividad*).³⁴⁵

With regards to the sugarcane sector, the sources interviewed for this study indicated that the FSTZCASC holds annual tripartite negotiations, and its petition document includes a CBA.

6.1.4 Government involvement

The Ministry of Labour, Employment, and Social Welfare oversees implementation, compliance and enforcement of labour laws. Under the Ministry of Labour, several programs and councils are responsible for specific elements of labour rights, such as the General OSH Directorate and the General Direction of Union Affairs.

The Ministry of Rural Development and Lands (*Ministerio de Desarrollo Rural y Tierras*) is the main government branch in charge of agriculture and rural development, including the sugarcane sector.

6.1.5 Dutch governmental support

No Dutch government involvement in the Bolivian sugarcane sector could be identified. The Netherlands does not have an embassy in Bolivia, but represents the Netherlands from the embassy in Lima, Peru.

6.1.6 Labour rights initiatives

Government initiatives

In addition to national programs, the local Government of Santa Cruz has taken various initiatives to improve labour conditions in the sugarcane industry. In cooperation with the Ministry of Labour and UNICEF, the Government of Santa Cruz ran a fairly successful program for the eradication of child labour (Programa de Erradicación de Trabajo Infantil) in collaboration with the sugarcane industry, which resulted in 5,000 children between ages five and seventeen to stop working in the industry.³⁴⁶

Additionally, the Government of Santa Cruz also participated in the Triple Seal certification.

Civil Society and NGO initiatives

Solidar Suiza supports cane cutters (zafreros) members of FSTZBCA building their capacity to fight for their labour rights.³⁴⁷

Since 2010, Solidaridad has been implementing a Good Labour Practices programme targeting the Bolivian sugarcane sector. In this context, Solidaridad provides technical assistance to improve production efficiency and helping comply with the environmental requirements of the Bonsucro standard.³⁴⁸

Multi-stakeholder initiatives

The Triple Seal certification is a join initiative between the UNICEF, the Government of Santa Cruz, the Bolivian Institute of Foreign Trade (IBCE) and the Fundación Infancia Digna (INDI) to counter child labour in agro-industrial production. To receive the certificate, companies need to meet a specific set of regulations and actions to eradicate child labour, forced labour and discrimination, and if successful, sugarcane companies can place the Triple Seal certification symbol on their bags of sugar to stimulate responsible trade. In addition, the Triple Seal initiative is meant as a steppingstone to achieving the Bonsucro certification.³⁴⁹

6.2 Colombia

6.2.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Colombia is a member of the ILO and has ratified all Fundamental Conventions as well as three out of four of the priority Governance Conventions (except C122 - Employment Policy Convention, 1964 (No. 122)).³⁵⁰ According to Ulandssekretariatet, Colombia's labour market is regulated by complexed laws and decrees that set standards and restrictions.³⁵¹ In this context, the ILO has registered 591 national labour, social security, and human rights-related legislation.³⁵² Nonetheless, the main legal instruments regulating labour rights in Colombia are the 1991 Constitution (amended in 2015), the Labour Code and the 1993 Social Protection Code.
Child labour

Colombia has ratified all core international conventions concerning child labour, including C138 -Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138) and C182 - Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182).³⁵³ The country made significant efforts to eradicate child labour, including a campaign Working is Not a Child's Task, aiming to prevent and eliminate child labour through awareness-raising efforts.³⁵⁴ Likewise, the Ministry of Labour launched a virtual training campus for labour inspectors, including a Fundamental Rights at Work course with modules on child labour, and trained local officials on its Comprehensive Child Labour Information System. In addition, the government expanded the Eyes Everywhere anti-commercial sexual exploitation campaign. Laudable achievements notwithstanding, the government does not employ an adequate number of labour inspectors and children in Colombia engage in the worst forms of child labour, including in commercial sexual exploitation and illicit activities, each sometimes because of human trafficking.³⁵⁵

In Colombia, minimum age specified is fifteen. According to the US Department of Labor, in 2019, over 3 percent of Colombia's working population was made up by children aged 5 to 14. Of this, 135,570 children (over 50 percent of the total) work in agriculture.³⁵⁶

According to a 2020 study of child labour, there are almost 650.000 children working in Colombia, of which 71 percent are employed in subsistence agriculture and high-risk sectors, including sugar *panela* (a product derived from fresh sugar cane juice) production.³⁵⁷ According to the sources interviewed for this study, the Colombian sugarcane sector has been in a process of rapid industrialisation, while that of panela remains in a context of family farming. This implies different labour and social contexts: in the industrial sector, child labour is non-existent, while in family farming there are still many children working.

Freedom of association

Colombia has ratified C087 - Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87) and C098 - Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98), as well as C011 - Right of Association (Agriculture) Convention, 1921 (No. 11).³⁵⁸ The Colombian Constitution, through articles 39 and 55 confers the State the obligation to guarantee the right to form and join unions, bargain collectively, and conduct legal strikes. In this context, the State must promote agreement and other measures for the peaceful solution of collective labour conflicts.³⁵⁹

In practice, however, problems remain related to various contractual arrangements, such as workers' cooperatives, service contracts and civil and commercial contracts, which cover genuine employment relationships and are used to prevent workers setting up trade unions. According to ITUC, Law no. 1453 of 2011 stipulates that those who grant collective "pacts" that provide better conditions, overall, for non-unionised workers than the conditions set out in the collective agreement for unionised workers in the same enterprise shall be liable to a sentence of between one (1) and (2) years and a fine of one hundred (100) to three hundred (300) times the legal minimum wage. However, according to some affiliates, applying this law is complicated and, in many cases, will depend on how the Judge assesses the "overall" advantages. Decree No 36 of 2016 regulates union contracts, under which unions provide manpower to employers, effectively shifting the role of unions from worker representatives to that of employer.³⁶⁰ Moreover, Colombian labour legislation offers relatively strict protections for collective dismissals of workers but markedly flexible and weak protections for individual cases of dismissals. Furthermore, there are remarkably few restrictions on the provision of fixed-term contracts and these can be renewed indefinitely.³⁶¹

Regarding the right to strike, ITUC cites loopholes in the Colombian labour code that impedes that workers assert their rights. For example, Article 417, section (i), of the Labour Code still prohibits federations and confederations from calling strikes. Moreover, Article 450, paragraph 2, of the Labour Code also allows for the dismissal of workers who have taken part in a strike that was declared illegal, even when the illegality is the result of requirements that are contrary to the principles of freedom of association.³⁶²

Violations to trade unions' rights

According to the ITUC Global Rights Index, Colombia is amongst the worst ten countries in the world for workers, citing murders of trade unionists, severe violence, and intimidation against human rights defenders. In Colombia alone, fourteen trade unionists were killed between 2019 and 2020. This includes union leader Alexis Vergara, who as a delegate of the SINTRAINCABAÑA union represented workers in the sugarcane industry and was killed in March 2020 by unknown assassins after he returned home from work. Most of these crimes remain unresolved as the government fails to address the situation of impunity and the under-resourced justice system.³⁶³

In theory, the penalties set out in the law for employers who violate labour rights such as antiunion practices should be sufficient to deter violations, ranging from high fines to five years of imprisonment. However, due to a lack of enforcement and inconsistent application of these laws, violations remain systemic.³⁶⁴

Occupational safety and health

Colombia has not ratified the key Conventions on OSH, including C155 - Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155) and C184 - Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184).³⁶⁵ Colombia's domestic legislation largely meets international OSH standards, but does not cover informal workers, including most agricultural workers.³⁶⁶ Although the Ministry of Labor is in charge of conducting inspections to ensure OSH standards are respected, the government has not hired enough inspectors, the level of training of these inspectors was found to be below par, and the failure to collect fines after penalties were assigned have failed to prevent health and safety violations.³⁶⁷

Repetitive movements, which are exacerbated by the increasing mechanisation of the sector, are the cause of physical exhaustion, including muscular discomfort as well as the prevalence of hernias. These conditions are compounded by workers' angst to lose the source of income. Although workers cannot be laid off due to work-cased disability or incapacity, they are generally relocated to other areas where they receive a lower salary. This causes great psychological and emotional pressure among the workers. The morbidity felt by the workers suggests that workloads, wear patterns associated with production, exposure to high temperatures and pesticides, in addition to the productive intensification derived from the way of organising work, significantly affect the health of workers in Colombian agriculture.³⁶⁸

In 2018, there were 2,172 work-related accidents, of which two resulted in dead and six in workrelated diseases.³⁶⁹ The rate of occupational-related injuries, however, is disproportionately high in the Colombian sugarcane sector. According to data from the Sub-Directorate of Occupational Risks of the Ministry of Health and Social Protection, in 2019 there were 16.31 work accidents for every 100 agricultural workers, which represents the highest rate of all economic sectors, and three times higher than the national average. But in sugarcane, this was even higher at 52.64 accidents for every 100 workers.³⁷⁰

Particularly non-union workers in agriculture work under hazardous conditions and are afraid of losing their jobs when they report abuses because they are usually hired informally or through subcontracting mechanisms. But also unionised workers who raised concerns have been fired as a retaliation for filing workers compensation claims after suffering from a work-related injury.³⁷¹

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

Before the law, immigrant workers in Colombia enjoy relatively equal treatment as Colombian workers. In accordance with article 100 of the Political Constitution, on the rights and guarantees of foreigners in Colombia, and based on non-discrimination against foreign workers, in compliance with the conventions and recommendations of the ILO, the Ministry of Labour indicated that immigrants in Colombia have the right to enter into an employment contract; receive a salary for the provision of their services; be affiliated with the social security system in matters of health and pensions, with the ARL and with a family compensation fund; join an association and / or a trade union, and receive vacation pay. However, Law 1429 of 2010 (Law of Formalisation and Generation of Employment) repealed articles 74 and 75 of the Substantive Labour Code and, therefore, the obligation to comply with the proportionality of national and foreign workers in companies.³⁷²

Despite their legal entitlements, many immigrants (particularly those coming from Venezuela) face more precarious working conditions than their Colombian counterparts. Currently, only 25 percent of Venezuelan migrant workers in Colombia have an employment contract, which indicates that the majority (75 percent) work informally, even though they work up to 50 or more hours per week on average, compared to the average normal schedule of Colombian nationals (44 hours).³⁷³ Moreover, Venezuelan workers face high levels of xenophobia and work discrimination. As a result, job prospects are uncertain amongst Venezuelan migrants over 25 years of age, although 32 percent have attained higher education and 44 percent have completed tertiary studies.³⁷⁴

Access to social security

Law 100 of 1993 sets the legal framework of the Colombian health care system. The social security, public, and private sub-systems are unified under the General System of Social Security in Health (SGSSS). Moreover, the system is organised around functions and responsibilities rather than population groups and there is mandatory universal health insurance to improve the equity and performance of public spending on health.³⁷⁵

Despite these provisions, the SGSSS has fallen short of the objectives stipulated in Law 100. In this context, the SGSSS was conceived in such a way that the majority of its members contributed, and a minority were subsidised. Today, after twenty-five years, there are more people receiving subsidies than those who contribute. This, in theory, is an achievement for social protection, as people working in the informal economy also have the possibility to access social security. However, this has resulted in a higher number of affiliates, but not all of them have effective access to health. The country remains incredibly unequal when it comes to accessing hospitals and healthcare professionals. In 2018, Colombia had 23 of the best 58 hospitals in Latin America, but these are concentrated in Bogotá, Medellín, Cali, and Bucaramanga, while a significant number of Colombians who are in regions such as the Orinoquia, Pacífica or Amazonia do not have access to even a basic health centre. In terms of health, the country is divided into castes, those who contribute and those who are subsidised, the rich and the poor, those who live in areas where there are good hospitals, and the rest.³⁷⁶

Discrimination

Colombia has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111).³⁷⁷ The Colombian Constitution recognises equality of opportunity and treatment.³⁷⁸ The 2006 Anti-Discrimination Law forbids any kind of different treatment based on race, gender, family, social status, among others. Despite the legal provisions against discrimination, a 2019 study documented the widespread tolerance of Colombian companies and institutions to discrimination. This is most prevalent at contracting when applicants are rejected for gender reasons, not attributing some jobs to applicants on the excuse they do not fit the job profile while however, being qualified candidates. In the same way, discriminatory practices are carried out for age reasons, or derived from some physical condition that has also become due to age, but that does

not prevent them from executing some different tasks, thus making it impossible to work stability, or their seniority.³⁷⁹

Likewise, antiunion discrimination is rampant. Colombian unions have reported various cases of employers firing union members or using hiring practices and contracting structures to limit workers' rights. Although some of these employers received fines for these illegal practices, the fines were often not collected and therefore did not deter further violations.³⁸⁰

Afro-Colombians, migrant workers, and indigenous persons also face severe discrimination in the workplace and are at increased risk of falling victim to forced labour and forced recruitment.³⁸¹

6.2.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

According to ILO estimates, 9.5 percent of workers in Colombia are unionised.³⁸² In 2017, there were around 5,543 active trade unions in Colombia representing 12 percent of the total workforce. Close to three out of four (73 percent) were in the private sector and one out of four (27 percent) in the public sector. Three trade union confederations represent about 27 percent of the unionised workforce:³⁸³

- Confederation of Workers in Colombia (CTC)
- General Work Confederation in Colombia (CGT)
- Central Union of Workers (CUT)

These confederations represent workers towards employers and governments in formal bi- and tripartite institutions of the labour market. They are composed of regional and national federations from all sectors of the economy.³⁸⁴

Trade unions in the Colombian sugarcane sector include:

- SINTRATERCERIZADOS (outsourced workers' union).
- SINTRAINAGRO (National Union of Agricultural Industry Workers) represents workers in four sectors: banana, palm oil, sugarcane, and flowers.
- SINTRAINCABAÑA.

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Colombia's three main trade union confederations (CTC, CGT, and CUT) are ITUC members.³⁸⁵

Five Colombian trade unions or trade union federations are IUF affiliates:³⁸⁶

- SINTRAINAGRO, SINTRACIAT (Union of Workers of the CIAT International Center for Tropical Agriculture)
- SINALTRAINBEC (National Union of Workers of the Beverage, Food, Agri-Food System, Related and Similar Industries in Colombia)
- SICO (National Union of Workers of the Food Industry, and Beverages, Breweries, Maltera, Juices, Soft Drinks, and Soda of Colombia)
- USTIAM (Union of Workers of the Beer, Beverage, Food, Malt and Similar Industry Workers).

6.2.3 Social dialogue

Colombia is one of the countries with the highest number of complaints to the ILO's regulatory supervisory bodies, especially the Committee on Freedom of Association (CLS). The 1990s were particularly difficult times for workers who could not fully exercise their rights to freedom of association and collective bargaining. Up until 2009, the country was frequently called upon to render explanations before the Commission for the Application of Standards of the International Labour Conference.³⁸⁷ In 2000, with the technical assistance of the ILO, the Special Commission for the Treatment of Conflicts before the ILO (CETCOIT) a national tripartite body was created.³⁸⁸

According to the existing regulations for departmental subcommittees, Law 1757 of 2015 governs provisions regarding the promotion and protection of the right to democratic participation. Its article 111 indicates that: "Social dialogue is a democratic mechanism for citizen participation and the strengthening of civil society organisations, with the aim of promoting interaction, communication, consultation and monitoring of public policies at the national territorial level." However, the figure of the departmental subcommittees, which could and should deal with issues of labour disputes, is relatively new and the capacities of their tripartite members undergo continuous changes due to rotations and loss of learned skills.³⁸⁹

The main tripartite mechanism led by the Ministry of Labour is the interinstitutional Commission for the Promotion and Protection of the Human Rights of Workers, with representatives of the government, organised labour groups and employers.³⁹⁰

6.2.4 Government involvement

In 2020, the Colombian government launched 10 Public-Private Partnerships (PPP) pacts for the generation of employment in different sectors, including the sugarcane sector. In this context, the government agreed to 327 actions, of which 63 percent are to be implemented by the public sector and 37 percent are assumed by the private companies. These actions include, amongst other, more tax breaks and subsidies.³⁹¹

6.2.5 Dutch governmental support

In 2020, the agricultural department (LAN Bogotá) of the Dutch Embassy in Colombia launched a strategy for the coming years to make the transition towards a more circular agriculture. This strategy is structured in two phases. In this context, a vision was developed, resulting in six priority areas in Colombia related to circular agriculture, including the sugarcane sector. The vision is based on interviews with stakeholders from the private, public, and academic sectors in Colombia and on the analysis of trade, policies, objectives, knowledge, and activities in Colombia and the Netherlands. The second phase includes identifying actors and funding to implement this vision.³⁹² The vision, however, does not encompass human or labour rights.

6.2.6 Labour rights initiatives

Government initiatives

The 2011 Colombian Action Plan Related to Labor Rights (Labor Action Plan) by the Colombian Government set out steps to protect labour rights in five priority sectors of palm oil, sugar, ports, mines and cut flowers. Under this commitment, the government was to organise increased labour inspections, but these have been inadequate, infrequent, not rigorous and failed to follow up on penalties.³⁹³

The National Protection Unit (NPU), a specialised corps of the Colombian police, is in charge of, amongst others, protecting human rights defenders from attacks and investigating and prosecuting cases. This also includes protection of 306 trade union leaders as of May 2019, representing around 6 percent of NPU's budget.³⁹⁴

Civil Society and NGO initiatives

The Nature Conservancy works in conservation projects in sugarcane growing territories since 2017.³⁹⁵

Multi-stakeholder initiatives

In the context of its sugarcane programme, Solidaridad works in Colombia. However, it is not clear what its most recent activities in the country are concerning this sector.³⁹⁶

6.3 Guatemala

6.3.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Guatemala has ratified all ILO Fundamental Conventions, as well as the four priority Governance Conventions³⁹⁷. In addition to the Guatemalan Constitution, which lays out core rights for workers, the Guatemalan Labour Code (*Código de Trabajo*) is the main legal instrument regulating the rights at work. Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare (*Ministerio de Trabajo y Previsión Social*) is responsible for implementation, enforcement and monitoring of this legislation.

Child labour

Guatemala has ratified the fundamental ILO conventions concerning child labour – including Convention 138 on Minimum Age and Convention 182 on the Worst Forms of Child Labour, as well as the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.³⁹⁸ Guatemala's domestic laws and regulations also largely meet minimum international standards on child labour – setting the minimum age for child labour at 14 – and the government has made significant strides in addressing child labour since 2019 with the introduction on new protections for adolescents, a new multi-agency mechanism providing care for child trafficking victims, and the adoption of monitoring and evaluation tools as part of an anticipated action plan to combat child labour.³⁹⁹

The reality on the ground, however, is far more sobering. Nearly 290,000 children aged between seven and fourteen are engaged in child labour in Guatemala, representing 9.3 percent of all children in this age group. Child labour is particularly prevalent in the agricultural sector, where 67.5 percent of working children are employed. ⁴⁰⁰ In this type of work, child labourers face dangerous work, low wages, long working days and little to no social protection as day wagers. Specific groups of children are particularly at risk of falling into child labour, most significantly children living in rural areas, girls, and indigenous children – who account for half of all child labourers in Guatemala.⁴⁰¹

Child labour is particularly persistent in sugarcane production. A study by Verité found that 55 percent of the workers interviewed indicated that children under the age of fourteen work in the sugarcane plantations where they last worked and indicated that children make up an important part of the workforce.⁴⁰² Workers reported that these children were seen using sharp tools such as machetes for cane cutting, and applying pesticides, both of which are dangerous tasks that fall under the worst forms of child labour both in international and Guatemalan law.⁴⁰³

On sugarcane plantations, children often work alongside an adult family member, usually the male head of the household. These children do not earn an individual wage, but instead help their family members increase their productivity, to meet the nearly impossible minimum production targets to achieve a reasonable income. Since the plantations usually do not offer childcare facilities – which is particularly problematic for migrant workers who live in communal housing and have little other support network – combined with the low pay often leaves parents no choice but to take their children along to work. Yet, even as a family, the collective income of children and their parents on a sugarcane plantation often does not even meet the equivalent of one minimum wage.⁴⁰⁴

Freedom of association

Guatemala has ratified all core ILO Conventions on the right of association and the rights to organise and collective bargaining, including Convention 11 on the Right of Association specifically for the agricultural sector.⁴⁰⁵ The Guatemalan national labour law largely complies with the ILO standards, including the right to unionise without being subject to discrimination (Art. 34 of the Guatemalan Constitution) and the right to strike (Art. 104 of the Constitution).

While on paper and in legislation, workers have the right to form unions and negotiate collectively, these rights are not respected in practice, especially in the agricultural sector. Violations of worker's freedom to associate and right to organise are persistent and even extremely violent, which is further exacerbated by impunity for perpetrators and a repressive regime. Additionally, in February 2020 the Guatemalan Congress approved a decree (No. 4-2020) that restricts freedom of association through criminalisation of foreign funding for "activities that alter public order in national territory", which would potentially include trade unions and NGOs opposing to suppression of workers' rights.⁴⁰⁶

Violations to trade unions' rights

Guatemala has a long and violent history regarding the systemic repression of trade unions and violence against its members. Well into 2020, union busting, violence against union leaders and retaliation against workers who partake in collective actions continue to make Guatemala one of the most dangerous places in the world for labour rights defenders. In the ITUC Global Rights Index, Guatemala was given a rating of 5, indicating that the country provides no guarantee of rights and workers are exposed to autocratic regimes and unfair labour practices. As such, Guatemala is named as one of the worst countries in the world of work.⁴⁰⁷

The legal protections that Guatemala has in place fail to safeguard the right to organise, the freedom of associations, and the right to collective bargaining, particularly in sectors where informality rates are high, including the agricultural sector. Union members and leaders do not only face unfair labour practices such as dismissal, unfair recruitment, and harassment, they even face violence. Guatemala has the highest per capital rate of trade unionist assassinations. Also, in the agricultural sector, workers do not feel safe to organise and as a result, workers are often forced to accept poor working conditions and low wages to avoid facing retaliation.⁴⁰⁸

As a result of trade union intimidation, Guatemalan sugarcane industry unions have disappeared, except one in the Palo Gordo mill, the eighth producer of ground cane, according to 2016 data.⁴⁰⁹

Occupational safety and health

Guatemala has ratified most key ILO Conventions on OSH, including C129 on Labour Inspections (Agriculture).⁴¹⁰ The national legal framework regulating occupational safety and health (OSH) in Guatemala has improved significantly over the last five years, but still leaves significant and concerning gaps. The Ministery of Labour and Social Welfare is responsible for implementation and monitoring of OSH and implementation of the General Regulations on Occupational Health and Safety, which places obligations on employers to prevent occupational accidents and illnesses (Art. 198 of the Guatemalan Labour Code).

However, as is the case with most labour rights issues in Guatemala, the OSH laws on paper are not effectively implemented and enforced, particularly in the agricultural sector where informality is rampant. Not only do plantation workers face hazardous work with strenuous tasks, but they also often have little to no access to PPE. Workers are often expected to bring their own PPE and tools, need to either purchase it themselves, or employers deduce a portion of their wage to cover the costs of the equipment supplied by the plantation. As a result, most plantation workers do not work with the necessary protective equipment when engaging in hazardous work.⁴¹¹

Companies are also legally required to maintain a first aid kit (Art. 197 of the Labour Code) and provide medical services to workers who are injured at work. However, this is often not the case in the agricultural sectors, and workers report that particularly temporary workers, subcontractors, and informal workers do not have access to medical services from the company.⁴¹²

Sugarcane production, by its very nature, poses significant health and safety risk to workers. The work is physically demanding, often performed during long working days with little breaks in high temperatures, exposing workers to heat exhaustion, sun damage, dehydration, respiratory problems, skin conditions and workplace CKD, a dangerous kidney disease. Since workers are usually not provided with drinking water and instead must bring or buy their own, this poses additional risks. On top of that, the use of dangerous tools, agrochemicals, smoke from burning cane fields and the absence of PPE exposes workers to additional health and safety risks.⁴¹³

These conditions are exacerbated for migrant workers who are provided housing by labour brokers. Generally, these housing conditions are extremely poor, forcing people to sleep on concrete floors, covering themselves with plastic sheets when it rains since there are no walls, cramped with thirty people in a single room. The housing often lacks water, cooking facilities and toilets, all of which pose significant health risks. It should be noted, however, that also local workers face unhygienic and inadequate housing conditions due to their extremely low wages well below the poverty line.⁴¹⁴

Sugarcane workers are also at risk due to the high rates of armed violence in Guatemala. In January 2021, three sugarcane workers in Retalhuleu were found dead while they were irrigating the fields. All three young men were found with multiple gunshot wounds, but the reasons for the killing are unknown.⁴¹⁵

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

The informal economy in Guatemala is estimated at 65.3 percent of total employment, although informal employment is more rampant in rural than in urban areas at 75.3 and 56.8 percent respectively.⁴¹⁶ According to the Economic and Commercial Office of Spain in Guatemala, the 12 Guatemalan sugar mills generate around 492,000 direct and indirect jobs during the harvest season. This corresponds to 5 percent of the total workforce. Of those, 82,000 jobs correspond to cutters.⁴¹⁷ However, these estimates do not distinguish between formal and informal workers. Nonetheless, it is estimated that informal workers make up for 70.6 percent of employment nationwide, in rural areas 8 out of 10 workers work informally.⁴¹⁸

An important part of sugarcane plantation workers are internal migrants who move to plantations during harvest seasons. Migrant workers often live-in employer-provided housing, which is a generally poor form of communal housing in large open structures with no sanitation or electricity. Moreover, they are transported in unsafe conditions for long distances. Many migrant workers come with their families and take their children along on the field. Hiring migrant workers rather than local labour is a known strategy to undermine labour rights, since they are less likely to organise and lack social networks to provide leverage. Many migrant workers are indigenous, particularly Mayan and Ladinos. Migrant workers are highly dependent on the brokers who help them obtain employment and who often confiscate their IDs and require brokerage fee, which renders them vunerable to debt bondage. In many cases, these brokers become the de-facto employer of the workers, rather than the actual plantation owners.⁴¹⁹

Access to social security

In the constitution, Guatemala recognises and guarantees the right to social security, managed by the Guatemalan Social Security Institute (*Instituto Guatemalteco de Seguridad Social*, IGSS). Although all workers that benefit from social security are expected to contribute to the system, retirees have a right to gratuitously receive allowance payments and complete coverage of medical services. Both employers and workers are expected to contribute to the social security system. But workers in the agricultural sector report that despite deductions from their wages for social security and benefits contributions, they never received IGSS social security cards and were not registered in the IGSS system. As a result, even formally employed workers who contribute to the social security system do not always have access to the benefits and are turned away at IGSS hospitals.⁴²⁰ Most workers on sugarcane plantations, however, work informally and have no

employment contract in the first place, so are not registered nor have access to the social security system.

Discrimination

Guatemala has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111).⁴²¹ The Guatemalan Constitution requires employers provide equal remuneration for equal work under equal conditions, levels of efficiency and seniority (Art. 102) and the Labour Code prohibits discrimination in recruitment on the basis of gender, ethnicity and marital status (Art. 151). In addition, the Labour Code provides some protections for female workers, particularly for pregnant and breastfeeding women.

Nevertheless, Guatemala ranks poorly on gender equality, placing 126th (out of 189 countries) in the Gender Inequality Index.⁴²² Gender discrimination is also systemic in the agricultural sector in Guatemala. Not only are women less likely to be hired, assigned different (supposedly lower skilled and therefore lower paid) tasks, often only earning 44 percent of their male counterparts, women also face sexual harassment of co-workers and supervisors.⁴²³

In addition, union members and human rights defenders and migrant workers are all subject to significant discrimination in the sugarcane sector. This discrimination is manifested in unfair dismissals, lower wages, and harassment, amongst others.⁴²⁴

6.3.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

As a result of years of violence against union members and repression of organised labour, the level of unionisations has dropped significantly over the last decades. With only about 30 unions in the private sector left, today only 2.6 percent of Guatemala's workforce is unionised, which is among the lowest rates in the world.⁴²⁵ These numbers are even lower in the agricultural sector, where as little as 0.8 percent of workers are unionised.⁴²⁶

Unionisation in agriculture is largely hindered by a rational fear of reprisals due to the long history of discrimination and violence against union members including dismissal, kidnapping, and murder. In fact, 88 percent of agricultural workers stated that they were too scared to even attempt to unionise.⁴²⁷ Even when there is a union, workers express mistrust, stating that the union serves the employers, rather than the employees' interests.

Organising in the agricultural sector is also particularly difficult due to the high prevalence of daily wage labour and informal work, the high rates of seasonal and migrant workers who are less likely to organise, and the labour contracting constructions where formally workers are hired through a number of brokers rather than directly by the plantation. As a result, unions in the Guatemalan sugarcane industry are nearly non-existent.⁴²⁸

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Two trade unions in Guatemala are members of IUF:

- Federación Sindical de Trabajadores de la Alimentación, Agro Industria y Similares de Guatemala (FESTRAS)
- Sindicato de Trabajadores Bananeros de Izabal (SITRABI).

Additionally, three unions are members of ITUC:

- General de Trabajadores de Guatemala (CGTG),
- Confederación de Unidad Sindical de Guatemala (CUSG)
- Unión Sindical de Trabajadores de Guatemala (UNSITRAGUA).

6.3.3 Social dialogue

According to Ulandssekretariatet, in Guatemala, labour disputes are governed by the labour code. These are first attempted to be solved under direct settlement between employers and workers. If settlements are not reached, the case may be referred to a Court of Conciliation, which makes a conciliation offer. If that is rejected, the case may be referred to arbitration by the Court of Arbitration, if the parties agree. These courts are presided by a judge from the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, and one each representing workers and employers. The most frequent employment disputes that result in litigation involve claims of unlawful termination, with the plaintiff seeking payment of indemnities and reinstatement. Employment disputes involving alleged breaches of collective bargaining agreements with unions also frequently result in litigation.⁴²⁹

6.3.4 Government involvement

The Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare (*Ministerio de Trabajo y Previsión Social*) is the key ministry responsible for implementing and enforcing labour laws, while labour disputes are settled before the Court of Conciliation of the Court of Arbitration, which consists of one judge from the Ministry, one judge from the employers, and one judge representing workers. In addition, the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Food (Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Alimentación) is in charge of legislation and promoting of agricultural production.⁴³⁰

6.3.5 Dutch governmental support

The Dutch Embassy in San José, Costa Rica, the Netherlands Business Support Offices (NSBSOs) and the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland - RVO), all support Dutch companies to secure business relationships in Central America, including Guatemala. Officials at the embassy and consulate in Guatemala City, as well as the NBSOs, help businesses through connecting partners and providing advice on conducting business in the countries where NBSOs are present. The RVO, which is the official agency for entrepreneurs, further supports these efforts with access to financing, as well as providing assistance and information on trading.

6.3.6 Labour rights initiatives

Government initiatives

To guarantee compliance with labour regulations and rights of Guatemalans, especially in the midst of the COVID crisis, the Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare launched the Strategic Labour Plan for Inspection Operations in October 2020. The plan includes procedures for the prevention and control of Covid-19 infections and seeks to train inspectors and assure that occupational health and safety measures are complied with.⁴³¹

Civil Society and NGO initiatives

The Campesino Unity Commission (Comité de Unidad Campesina, CUC) is a peasant and farm worker organisation that advocates for better agricultural wages and campaigns against discrimination of indigenous peoples.⁴³²

Solidaridad runs an occupational health and safety programme with smallholder farmer suppliers to the Pantaleón sugar mill in Guatemala, in cooperation with the National Sugarcane Owners Union (Unión Nacional de Cañeros, UNC-CNPR).⁴³³

6.4 Nicaragua

6.4.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Nicaragua has ratified all eight of the ILO Fundamental Conventions, as well as two priority Governance Conventions – except C081 – Labour Inspection Convention, 1947 (No. 81) and C129 – Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129).⁴³⁴ The main legislative instruments regulating labour rights in Nicaragua are the 1987 Constitution (amended in 2014), the 1996 Labour Law (Código del Trabajo), the 1997 Trade Union Law (Código del Reglamento de Asociaciones Sindicales), and the Social Security Law (Código Procesal del Trabajo y de la Seguridad Social).

The Constitution recognises the right to work, the right to equal pay for equal work, the right to social benefits and a decent wage, occupational health and safety, freedom of association and collective bargaining, and prohibits child labour. These rights are further promulgated in the Labour Law, which provides specific regulations on working hours and conditions and OHS, while the Labour Law regulates freedom of association.⁴³⁵

The Ministry of Labour is primarily responsible for the implementation and enforcement of labour laws, as well as for settling labour disputes. When conciliation through the Ministry of Labour fails, disputes are referred to Arbitration Tribunals which is presided by one member of the Ministry and one representative from workers and employers each.⁴³⁶

Child labour

Nicaragua has ratified the C138 – Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138) as well as C182 – Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182).⁴³⁷ In addition, the Labour Code stipulates a minimum working age of fourteen (Art. 131) and a minimum age for hazardous work of eighteen (Art. 130 and 133).

However, Nicaragua does not set a clear age up to which education is compulsory, since the Constitution stipulates mandatory primary education which is presumably until the age of twelve (Art. 121), while the Childhood and Adolescence Code states both primary and secondary school education are compulsory (Art. 43) suggesting the age of seventeen. This unclarity combined with the gap between the legal working age and the compulsory education age leaves children vulnerable to child labour. Although education is free, the costs of school supplies and transport are still inhibitive for children from impoverished families in rural areas.⁴³⁸

The Ministry of Labour (MITRAB) is responsible for implementing and enforcing child labour policies and managing the labour inspectorate, which is underfunded and lacks an adequate number of inspectors. Particularly in rural areas, a lack of personnel and the high costs associated with transportation form barriers to conducting child labour inspections, which is further complicated by Nicaragua's large informal workforce. In an attempt to eradicate child labour, MITRAB signed 6,129 cooperative agreements with businesses that pledged not to use child labour, but criminal enforcement and penalties on those break the law are insufficient to deter violations.⁴³⁹

Indeed, child labour is highly prevalent in Nicaragua. Around 47.7 percent of the children aged between ten and fourteen are working, particularly in agriculture (53.5 percent). Although the majority of children in that age group attend school (88.3 percent), over 15 percent of children do not complete primary school. The US Department of Labour estimates that most prevalent sectors of work within agriculture include the harvest of coffee, bananas, tobacco, and sugarcane. Particularly vulnerable to fall into child labour are children from poor, rural areas, those in the Caribbean Autonomous Regions, and migrants from the Northern Triangle countries.⁴⁴⁰

A 2015 study conducted in San Antonio mill concluded that child labour is a persistent issue in Nicaraguan sugarcane production. According to the report, children are often employed in the sector through third-party contractors with false ID numbers, leaving them vulnerable to exploitation. Children in the sector have reported the negative effects that the work has on their health, personal development and access to education. The excessive workloads, lack of PPE, little training and insufficient access to water, food and rest, cause severe health issues for child workers from dehydration, extreme fatigue and heat stress, urination issues and Chronic Kidney Disease.⁴⁴¹

However, local unions interviewed for this study challenge reports. Indeed, children are involved in the artisanal elaboration of sugar products, such as panela (or tapa de dulce, as it is known locally), as this is manufactured in family settings. However, artisanal production of sugarcane products makes up for a very small share of overall sugar production in Nicaragua. Because the Nicaraguan sugarcane sector has very high levels of formality, child labour in mills and plantations is non-existent.

Freedom of association

Nicaragua has ratified C087 - Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87), C098 - Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98), as well as C011 - Right of Association (Agriculture) Convention, 1921 (No. 11).⁴⁴²

Nicaraguan Labour Law provides for all workers – except those in the military and police – to form and join independent unions of their choice without prior authorisation. The Labour Law also prohibits antiunion discrimination but does not provide any measures or penalties or protect against violations of these rights. Despite the official independence of unions, in reality, the government exerts significant control over established unions and has attempted to diffuse efforts by creating parallel unions. Similarly, although the Constitution recognises the right to strike, the number of restrictions and burdensome procedures obstruct workers' ability to organise a strike.⁴⁴³

Violations to trade unions' rights

According to the US Department of State, freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining are not respected in Nicaragua. The government frequently intervenes, and independence is not preserved as most unions are allied with political parties, particularly the country's ruling party FSLN. During the pro-democracy uprising in 2018, the government promoted politically motivated findings to retaliate against workers who expressed support for protests, and public-sector job applicants have reportedly been required to prove FSLN party affiliation. Antiunion discrimination, violations against freedom of association, and violations of collective bargaining agreements are widespread in the formal sector, but government enforcement of these laws is insufficient to deter such violations.

Due to a lack of data, Nicaragua has not been included in the ITUC Global Rights Index rankings.

Occupational safety and health

Nicaragua has ratified none of the main ILO Conventions on OSH, including C155 - Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155), C184 - Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184). The country has also not ratified the Governance priority Conventions on labour inspections to uphold OSH standards, neither C081 - Labour Inspection Convention, 1947 (No. 81) nor C129 - Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129).⁴⁴⁵

The National Council of Labour Hygiene and Safety, as part of the Ministry of Labour, is in charge of enforcing OSH regulations. However, a lack of capacity and resources as well as insufficient enforcement of penalties was inconducive to deterring violations. In addition, OSH regulations are not widely enforced in the growing informal sector.⁴⁴⁶

There's increasing evidence for the significant health risks associated with sugarcane production. A study among over 400 field support staff, drip irrigation workers, seed cutters and burned sugarcane cutters in Nicaragua found that the higher the workload, the more likely workers are to suffer from Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD), a highly deadly chronical disease that mostly affects marginalised agricultural communities. CKD causes tens of thousands of deaths in Mesoamerica and is directly related to strenuous manual work, heat stress and dehydration. According to the sources interviewed for this study, in Nicaragua, soil contamination in the 1980s is another important cause of CKD. From this perspective, the high exposure of sugarcane workers to these conditions causes hundreds of workers to fall sick every year, even though the risks are easily reduced through more breaks in the shade, access to sufficient drinking water, and protection from direct sun exposure.⁴⁴⁷

A 2015 report stated that workers hardly enjoy these crucial health and safety protections. In Nicaragua, workers often work for more than 12 hours a day for seven days a week during harvest season, usually exposed to the sun for the entire working day with the exception of two breaks in the shade per day. Often, workers also need to bring or purchase their own drinking water, or report to only get water from the irrigation system with contamination risks.⁴⁴⁸ This notion, however, is challenged by the sources interviewed for this study who state that formally employed sugarcane workers work under favourable conditions with 20-minute breaks per 2 hours worked and with working days of no more than 12 hours.

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

There are no recent, trustworthy statistics on the rate of informal employment in Nicaragua. Although in 2012, the ILO estimated the informal employment at around 78 percent of total employment, the Central Bank of Nicaragua in 2020 estimated that around 57 percent of the workforce is working informally, particularly in the service sector, agriculture, and construction.⁴⁴⁹

However, the sources interviewed for this study indicated that the Nicaraguan sugarcane sector is highly formalised. In this context, 37,500 workers hired directly and 135,000 are subcontracted.

Access to social security

Access to social security in Nicaragua has a highly disputed history. In 2018, when the government under President Ortega announced cuts in social security benefits, the peaceful protests in response were violently shut down by the police and parapolice forces, resulting in the death of at least 325 people, over 2,000 injured and hundreds of protesters detained, tortured and disappeared. In August 2018, the Ortega government implemented a policy of 'exile, jail or death' against anyone perceived as in opposition and included civil society actors under laws governing terrorism.⁴⁵⁰ Despite the protests, the government cut pension payments with up to 40 percent, and raised employers' and workers' contributions to the social security system from 19 to 22.5 percent and from 6.25 to 7 percent respectively.⁴⁵¹

Employed workers, farmers who benefited from the Agrarian reform, members of professional associations and cooperatives benefit from old age (pension from the age of 60), disability and survivors' benefits, sickness and maternity benefits, work injury insurance and medical benefits. However, seasonal agricultural workers are explicitly excluded from the social security system, and informal workers do not qualify. In addition, self-employed workers can voluntarily join the system, but need to pay relatively high insurance fees.⁴⁵²

Discrimination

Nicaragua has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111).⁴⁵³ In addition, Nicaragua prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, sex, gender, disability, language, sexual orientation or gender identity, HIC or other communicable disease status, or social status. However, these laws are not effectively enforced and in reality, discrimination in employment is systemic. Women struggle to gain access to senior positions and are paid less than their male counterparts. Persons with disabilities face inadequate infrastructure, a lack of educational opportunities and unequal access to public-service jobs. In addition, persons of the LGBTI+ community, indigenous peoples and migrant workers face discrimination in employment, as well as workers who express disagreement with the government.⁴⁵⁴

According to the sources interviewed for this study, in some mills there are women in leadership positions and some mills also have quotas for personnel with special abilities. However, the fact that there are more men in leadership positions points to a structural problem related to subconsciously held stereotypes about women, and it is likely that these stereotypes are more pronounced in societies where sexist views hold women back, as is still the case in Latin America. In this context, women meet more resistance as they move up the ladder.

6.4.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

According to ILO estimates, 5.3 percent of workers in Nicaragua are unionised, which is well below the average for the Latin American region (16.3 percent). In addition, 7.6 percent of employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements.⁴⁵⁵ However, unionisation rates in the sugarcane sector are expected to be lower, due to the high levels of subcontracting.

The central trade union confederation, controlled by President Ortega's ruling party FSLN, is the National Workers' Front (FNT). Unions affiliated with the FNT together represent around 80 percent of trade union membership in Nicaragua. Affiliated FNT unions include the Association for Farm Worker (Asociación de Trabajadores del Campo, ACT) and the Confederation for workers in the agro-industrial sector (CNTAI). In addition, there are some independent trade unions, but in recent years there have been reports that unions not affiliated with the FSLN have been dissolved through government interference and the dismissal of unionised employees.⁴⁵⁶

6.4.3 Social dialogue

There are some tripartite structures in place in Nicaragua, including labour dispute settlement through the Arbitration Council with representatives of the Ministry of Labour, employers and workers, as well as some tripartite and bipartite organs such as the National Health Council, the Social Security Council, the National Council for Social Economic Planning and National Commission on the Occupational Health and Safety of the Workers and Workplace Hygiene.⁴⁵⁷ In reality, however, social dialogue systems do not function fairly due to severe repression from the Ortega government, severe government interference in unions, associations and labour disputes, violent retaliation against strikes and assemblies, and the disbanding of NGOs, civil society organisations and independent unions.⁴⁵⁸

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

The following three trade unions in Nicaragua are affiliated with IUF:459

- Federación Unitaria de Trabajadores de la Alimentación, Agroindustria, Turismo, Servicio, Comercio y Conexos de Nicaragua (FUTATSCON)
- Sindicato de Trabajadores de la Compañía Centroamericana de Productos Lácteos (SINPROLAC)
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores de Industria Nacional de Refrescos SA (SUT-INARSA).

Another four unions are affiliated with ITUC:460

- Central de Trabajadores de Nicaragua (CTN)
- Central Sandinista de Trabajadores (CST)
- Confederación de Unificación Sindical (CUS)
- Frente Nacional de los Trabajadores (FNT).

6.4.4 Government involvement

The Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (Ministerio Agropecuario y Forestal, MAG-FOR) is the main responsible entity for the promotion and development of agriculture in Nicaragua, alongside the Ministry of Industry and Commercefront (Ministerio de Fomento, Industria y Comercio, MIFIC). In addition, the Ministry of Labour is primarily responsible for implementing and enforcing labour laws, including in the sugarcane sector.

6.4.5 Dutch governmental support

The Netherlands as a consular service located in Manugua, Nicaragua, but the embassy for the region is located in San José in Costa Rica.⁴⁶¹ Because Nicaragua is not a major trade partner of the Netherlands, there are few representatives or services on behalf of the Dutch government.

6.4.6 Labour rights initiatives

Government initiatives

In May 2019, the Nicaraguan Ministry of Labour issued a statement clarifying that in the event that an employer or company is forced to suspend its activities, this will not affect any labour rights of the workers.⁴⁶² Despite the pro-worker rhetoric, the government is frequently the subject of human rights' organisations pledges to stop violence against workers. In this context, most recently, the government was urged to stop intimidating health workers during the CVODI-19 pandemic.⁴⁶³

Civil Society and NGO initiatives

The La Isla Network, founded by the La Isla Foundation in 2016, is a civil society organisation from Nicaragua dedicated to fighting Chronic Kidney Disease among agricultural workers through research and data-driven policy recommendations to improve OSH standards. The network has conducted several studies that were published internationally as well as campaigns to raise attention for the CKD caused by the poor working conditions of sugarcane workers.⁴⁶⁴

Multi-stakeholder initiatives

The Adelante Initiative, founded by Bonsucro, La Isla Network, Nicaragua Sugar Estates Limited and the Nicaraguan Sugar Producers Association, is a multi-stakeholder platform to improve the occupational health and safety of sugarcane workers in Nicaragua, and of agricultural workers in tropical and subtropical areas who are at increased risk of developing chronic kidney disease 9CKDu). Specifically, the Adelante Initiative conducts assessments on CKDu risks in workplace, provides advice on evidence-based workplace interventions, and advocates for improved treatment and prevention of heat stress and CKDu among policy makers and the private sector. In this context, the Adelante Initiative has conducted research, launched programs together with sugar mill Ingenio San Antonio and is currently developing additional programs for other mills using an approach they call 'protection resilience efficiency and prevention for manual laborers in a challenging climate (PREP)'. Although currently, the initiative is focused on the Nicaraguan sugarcane sector, the initiative aims to grow in cooperation with international NGOs, governments and the ILO to develop safe and healthy work conditions for all workers who are at risk of CKD and other relevant diseases and injuries.⁴⁶⁵

6.5 Peru

6.5.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Peru has ratified the eight Fundamental Conventions of the ILO as well as three of four priority Governance Conventions, except C129 - Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129).⁴⁶⁶ Peru's Constitution recognises fundamental human rights, including the right to social security (Art. 10), the right – and duty – to work (Art. 22), regulated minimum wages and benefits (Art. 24), working hours (Art. 25) and non-discrimination (Art. 26 and 27). The Constitution also recognises the right of workers to join trade unions, to engage in collective bargaining, and to strike (Art. 28). Peru's Labour Law provides more detailed guarantees and protections of these rights. The Ministry of Labour and Promotion of Employment (MTPE) is in charge of implementing and enforcing labour rights.

Child labour

Peru has ratified all key international conventions concerning child labour.⁴⁶⁷ Peru has a minimum working age of fourteen (Art. 51 of the Child and Adolescent Code) and a minimum age for hazardous work of eighteen (Art. 58).

In recent years, Peru has made significant advancements to eliminate child labour, including through legal instruments and targeted programs. Nevertheless, nearly 1.3 million children (21.8 percent of children between ages five and fourteen) are working, particularly in the agricultural sector (63.8 percent). Particularly migrant children are vulnerable to child labour in Peru, such as Venezuelan migrants and refugees, as well as Indigenous and Afro-Peruvian children and children from rural communities, who have less access to education and are more likely to fall into hazardous agricultural work.

Although Peru's legal system is largely in line with ILO standards on child labour, gaps mostly persist in the enforcement of laws against child labour. The National Labour Inspection Superintendency, as part of the Ministry of Labour, conducts labour inspections and in 2019 had ten inspectors dedicated to forced and child labour and has provided coordinated child labour training for more than 3,800 labour inspectors and regional governments. Despite some significant successes by this special inspection group, including numerous interventions removing children from hazardous working conditions in agriculture, mining and manufacturing, budget constraints hamper efficient operations. Criminal law enforcement around trafficking and forced labour have been successful in specific cases, but insufficient to deter violations.⁴⁶⁸

Freedom of association

Peru has ratified C087 - Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87), C098 - Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98). Indeed, the Peruvian Constitution states that "the State recognises the right of workers to join trade unions, to engage in collective bargaining, and to strike" (Art. 28).

The Peruvian Labour Law recognises unions on three levels: workplace unions, sector federations and confederations. While workplace unions require a minimum of 20 members, federations and confederations need to have a minimum of 50 members.⁴⁶⁹ Although Peruvian legislation around freedom of association largely meets international standards, labour reforms in recent years have sought to make the labour market more flexible, making it more difficult for unions to register. In addition, the high rates of short-term and outsourced labour contracts in addition to the large informal economy hinder union effectiveness.

Violations to trade unions' rights

According to Education International, Peru is one of the countries with the largest number of filed complaints before the ILO and before the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (IACHR) for the violation of labour rights.⁴⁷⁰ This is not surprising, since Peruvian labour law is deficient and so are certain practices which frequently enable violations.⁴⁷¹

In 2020, Peru ranked four out of five at ITUC's Global Rights Index. This means that there is systematic violation of rights in Peru and that the government and companies regularly interfere in collective labour rights or fail to fully guarantee important aspects of these rights.⁴⁷² In addition to routinely paralysing unions, ignoring their autonomy and their right to free association and unionisation, corporations threaten union leaders with death and assassination.⁴⁷³

In December 2020, an agricultural worker was shot dead by the police during a strike for better wages and to demand the repeal of the Agrarian Promotion Law, which workers argue deprives them of their rights and incomes.⁴⁷⁴

Occupational safety and health

Peru has ratified ILO conventions on OSH in the mining and dock work sectors but has not ratified C155 - Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155) nor C184 - Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184).⁴⁷⁵ The 2011 OSH legislation (*Ley de Salud & Seguridad en el Trabajo*) specifies the responsibilities of all employers to offer a safe and sanitary workplace. Particularly, the government establishes three levels of responsibility: inspection and supervision by the government, prevention by the employer, and participation of the worker. OSH regulation and implementation is supervised through joint councils between the Ministry of Labour and the Ministry of Health. In addition to the general OSH legislation, Peru has promulgated specific legislative texts in place for specific industries, but this is not the case for agriculture.⁴⁷⁶

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

While the informal economy had been declining over the last few years before the COVID-19 crisis, still around 74 percent, one of the highest rates in Latin America. The agricultural sector is almost completely informal (97 percent). These workers do not provide protections on crucial labour rights, such as the right to organise, health and safety, or access to social security.⁴⁷⁷

Since 2017, Peru has seen a large influx of Venezuelan migrants and refugees, whose status usually do not allow them to legally work (77 percent). As a result, nearly 90 percent of Venezuelan workers operate in informality, including in agriculture, and are vulnerable to labour exploitation.⁴⁷⁸

Access to social security

Around 76 percent of workers are covered by health insurance, but workers in the informal economy have no access to national social security schemes.⁴⁷⁹

Discrimination

Peru has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111)⁴⁸⁰ and establishes a right to equal opportunity without discrimination in labour relationships in the Constitution (Art. 26) as well as through labour legislation. But despite laws against discrimination on the basis of gender, cultural and ethnic aspects, big wage gaps persist particularly affecting women and indigenous people, and inspections are insufficient to enforce protections in practice.⁴⁸¹

6.5.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

According to ILO estimates, only 5.7 percent of workers in Peru are unionised.⁴⁸² Ulandssekretariatet estimates this rate to be even lower at 4.3 percent of total employment. In addition, 337 CBAs are active covering 4.4 percent of formal workers.⁴⁸³

Peru's trade union structure is divided into three different levels: workplace unions, sector federations, and confederations. In total, there are 913 private/public trade unions, 76 trade union federations, and 11 confederations. On the national level, there are four main trade union confederations:⁴⁸⁴

- Confederación General de Trabajadores del Perú (CGTP)
- Central Unitaria de Trabajadores del Perú (CUT)
- Central Autónoma de Trabajadores del Perú (CATP)
- Confederación de Trabajadores del Perú (CTP).

Unions in the agricultural industry representing sugarcane workers include the Trade Union of Agricultural Workers in Peru (*Sindicato de Trabajadores Agrarios Del Peru*, SITAG-Peru), and the FENTRAIR federation (*Federacion Nacional De Trabajadores Del Sector Agrario, Industria, Riego y Similares Del Peru*).

With respects to the sugarcane sector, the sources interviewed for this study indicated the existence of the following unions:

- Sindicato Empresa Agroindustrial Tumán
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores De Casa Grande Y Anexos
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores de Pomalca y Anexos
- Sindicato de Trabajadores de Empresa Pomalca Sutazucpa
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores de Agroindustrial Laredo SAA
- Sindicato de Trabajadores Estables y Contratados de Agroindustrial Laredo SAA y Anexos
- Sindicato Unitario de Trabajadores de la Empresa Agroindustrial Laredo S.A.A
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores de Cartavio y Anexos S.A.S
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores de la Empresa Agroindustrial Cayaltí
- Sindicato General Unificado de Trabajadores de Empresa Agropucalá
- Sindicato General Unificado de Trabajadores Azucareros de Agro Pucalá S.A.A
- Sindicato General de Trabajadores de Paramonga y Anexos
- Sindicato Único de Trabajadores EAA Andahuasi SAA

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Two Peruvian trade union federations are ITUC members:⁴⁸⁵

- Central Autónoma de Trabajadores del Perú (CATP)
- Central Unitaria de Trabajadores del Perú (CUT).

Three trade union federations are affiliated to IUF:486

- National Federation of Workers in the Food, Beverage and Related Sector (FNT-CGTP-ABA),
- Mondelez Workers Union
- National Union of Workers of Peruvian Breweries Backus and Johnston (Backus and Johnston).

6.5.3 Government involvement

The Peruvian government, through the Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation (MINAGRI), the Ministry of Energy and Mines (MINEM), the Ministry of the Environment (MINAM), and the Ministry of Production (PRODUCE) are at the centre of governance of the sugarcane sector.

6.5.4 Social dialogue

The National Council for Labour and Employment Promotion (CNTPE) is a mechanism for social dialogue of the Ministry of Labour and Employment Promotion (MTPE). Its aim is to establish labour policies, to promote employment and job training, and social protection. CNTPE includes the most representative trade unions and business associations in the country (including the General Confederation of Workers of Peru (CGTP), National Confederation of Private Business Institutions (CONFIEP), National Society of Industries (SNI), Chamber of Commerce of Lima, Association of Small and Medium Industrial Entrepreneurs of Peru (APEMIPE Peru), Exporters Association (ADEX) Unitary Workers Union of Peru (CUT), Autonomous Unitary of Workers of Peru (CATP), Confederation of Workers of Peru (CTP)),⁴⁸⁷ as well as officials from MTPE and representatives of labour support organisations. CNTPE was established in the year 2000. Its functions are determined through Supreme Decree No. 004-2014-TR and Supreme Decree N° 001-2005-TR.⁴⁸⁸

According to CNTPE, significant progress has been made institutionalising tripartite dialogue at the regional level. To date, 24 Regional Labour and Employment Promotion Councils (CRTPE) have been created, one for each of Peru's 24 departments. These CRTPEs replicate the socio-labour dialogue model of CNTPE.⁴⁸⁹ Despite these claims, others argue that while tripartite debate on economic and labour policies effectively takes place, at the end of the day, the government (often in agreement with employers' organisations) turns a blind eye to the concerns of Peruvian unions.⁴⁹⁰

With respects to the state of social dialogue in the Peruvian sugar sector, the sources we interviewed for this study confirmed collective bargaining processes in Casa Grande, San Jacinto, Laredo and Pomalca. Based on information from union leaders, the collective agreements favour wage increases in the form of closing bonuses. Moreover, documents published by companies indicate positive relations with the unions:

- San Jacinto mill claims to maintain spaces where constant dialogue and exchange take place on the basis of mutual respect, harmony and cooperation between the company and its workers. In this context, the company has devoted a department dedicated to the management, problem solving, and attention of workers through work meetings, and awareness of labour rights.⁴⁹¹
- In the case of Cartavio, a CBA was signed with the Sindicato Único de Trabajadores de Cartavio y Anexos S.A.S for a period of three years (2019-2022). The agreement included salary increases of 65 Soles (EUR 14.96) in 2019, 70.00 Soles (EUR 16.11) in 2020 and 70.00 Soles in 2021 and a completion bonus of 2500 Soles (EUR 575.53), among other benefits that remain in force.⁴⁹²

6.5.5 Dutch governmental support

The RVO provides support to Dutch companies through the network of embassies. The Netherlands has diplomatic representation in Lima.⁴⁹³

6.5.6 Labour rights initiatives

Government initiatives

With the aim of improving the access of people with disabilities to decent employment opportunities and raising awareness about the skills and potential of this population to contribute to the productive life and development of their communities and the country, the United Nations System and the Peruvian State presented the Decent Work and People with Disabilities Joint Program in May 2018. The initiative proposes to create a management model to promote the right to decent work for people with disabilities through local governments. It places special emphasis on the situation of vulnerability of women with disabilities, who face higher unemployment rates, as well as barriers to respecting their right to work and the recognition of their work and productive capacity.⁴⁹⁴

Multi-stakeholder initiatives

In 2019, the Ministry of Labour and Employment Promotion of Peru, through the General Directorate of Fundamental Rights and Safety and Health at Work and the Office for Cooperation and International Affairs, with the support of the ILO, organised a kick-off workshop "Peru, pioneer country of Alliance 8.7: towards a country free of child labour and forced labour". Alliance 8.7 is a global initiative that seeks cooperation between countries of the world, international organisations and civil society to achieve SDG 8.7, referring to ending child labour, forced labour, human trafficking and modern slavery.

In this context, the Alliance 8.7 in Peru committed to:495

- Executing a pilot survey on the prevalence of forced labour in the Cusco region (2019-2020); to subsequently have national information by 2025.
- Promoting the submission process of the 2014 Protocol relative to ILO Convention 29 on forced labour.
- Implementing the III National Plan to Combat Forced Labour 2019–2022.

Executing a project for the labour reintegration of victims of forced labour and / or human trafficking for the purposes of labour and sexual exploitation during 2020-2021.

6.6 Cambodia

6.6.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Cambodia has ratified all eight ILO Fundamental Conventions, but only ratified one of four priority Governance Conventions (namely C122 – Employment Policy Convention, 1964 (No. 122)).⁴⁹⁶ Rights at work in Cambodia are safeguarded primarily through the 1997 Labour Law, and further supported by the 1993 Constitution, specific regulations, and ILO conventions.

Agricultural workers, including those on sugarcane plantations, are covered under the Labour Law. The law includes both formal and informal or casual workers regardless of their gender, nationality or legal status. However, self-employed workers are not considered employees in the 1997 Labour Law, who are not allowed to form trade unions. Within the 1997 Labour Law, Chapter VII sets out special conditions of work in agricultural professions, including regularly employed workers on sugar cane plantations.⁴⁹⁷

Child labour

Cambodia has ratified C182 – Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182) as well as the C138 – Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138).⁴⁹⁸ Article 177 of the 1997 Labour Law sets the minimum age for paid employment at fifteen years, with a minimum age of eighteen years for hazardous work.

Although most children in Cambodia between ages five to fourteen attend school (87 percent), 8.4 percent of children ages seven to fourteen are working, particularly in the agricultural sector (78.4 percent).⁴⁹⁹ Cambodia's Education Law established free basic education, but the additional fees that schools charge remain prohibitive for many families, particularly for ethnic minority children, children with disabilities, and children in rural communities.⁵⁰⁰

Child labour is also common in Cambodia's sugarcane industry. Because around 80 percent of the work on sugarcane plantations is seasonal, migrant workers traveling to plantations during harvest seasons usually take their families with them. Rather than leaving their children unsupervised in the shared housing and because of the lack of a social support system, parents take their children with them to the fields. Although these children do not earn a direct wage, they contribute to their household's income by increasing productivity and thereby meeting higher piece rate wages.⁵⁰¹

Freedom of association

Cambodia has ratified the core conventions on freedom of association, C087 - Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87), and C098 - Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98). However, Cambodia has not ratified C011 - Right of Association (Agriculture) Convention, 1921 (No. 11).⁵⁰² The Constitution also provides for freedom of association, and chapter XI of the 1997 Labour Law guarantees that "workers and employers, without distinction of any kind, have the right, without prior authorization, to establish professional organizations of their choice, having as their sole object the study, promotion and defense of rights, as well as of moral and material interests, both collective and individual, of the persons covered by their statutes" (Art. 266). The law also includes provisions against union busting, acts of interference or other unfair treatment of unionised workers, and guarantees the right to strike barring some legal limitations.⁵⁰³

However, the law also restricts these rights. Civil society organisations, NGOs and workers associations are required to be politically neutral, which severely restricts the right to association and the right to free expression. In addition, the Labour Law includes various provisions that prohibit activities that "jeopardise peace, stability, and public order", which is so broadly formulated that the government can arbitrarily restrict the right of association. In addition, the procedure to establish trade unions require such lengthy and costly bureaucratic registration processes that forming unions is burdensome and vulnerable to politicisation, and operations by unregistered unions is illegal.⁵⁰⁴ The law also allows for government intervention in internal union affairs, excludes certain groups of workers from union membership, and permits third parties to seek dissolution of a trade union. Informal workers are not allowed to form or join unions, only 'associations', which provides fewer protections.⁵⁰⁵

In December 2019, the Cambodian Senate approved a set of amendments to the Law on Trade Unions, which have been seen by civil society as further curtailing union and workers' rights. Concerns include the exclusion of informal workers in forming unions as well as employees of businesses with fewer than ten employees, which de facto denies the right to organise for domestic workers and other small business workers. The amendments also allow for increased involvement of regulators in internal affairs, including the election of union leadership and the forming of union constitutions and rules, which require approval from government authorities.⁵⁰⁶

Violations to trade unions' rights

The severe limitations on the right to organise and freedom of association mean that, in practice, these rights are systematically violated. There are various reports of employers refusing to recognise a union or engaging in antiunion discrimination and unfair dismissals.⁵⁰⁷ Some employers as well as local governments have refused to cooperate in the registration of unions or complicate the process significantly. In addition, there are countless reports of governments harassing independent union leaders through ambiguous legal charges, intimidation by deploying police during union meetings or strikes, and criminal charges against strikers.⁵⁰⁸

This is also reflected in the ITUC Global Rights Index, in which Cambodia is ranked as Rating 5, meaning that workers do not enjoy a guarantee of rights, citing the arrests of union leaders and violations of the right to collective bargaining.⁵⁰⁹

Occupational safety and health

Cambodia has not ratified C129 – Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129), nor the key conventions on OSH such as C155 – Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 154) or C184 – Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184).⁵¹⁰

Article 137 of the 1997 Labour Law stipulates a maximum working day of eight hours, or 48 hours per week. To safeguard rest, it is prohibited to employ a worker for more than six days a week, barring some exceptions and rotating schedules. For agricultural workers, a working day of up to nine hours is permitted and overtime up to ten hours in a day (Art. 194 through 197).⁵¹¹

Chapter VIII of the 1997 Labour Law lays out the provisions on health and safety of workers, placing a responsibility on employers to facilitate clean and safe working conditions, appropriate tools and procedures, and mechanisms of control through labour inspections. Occupational medical services are also included in the Labour Law, but employers are only required to provide primary medical care to regular workers, thereby excluding informal, casual and self-employed workers (Art. 238).⁵¹²

Nevertheless, work-related injuries and occupational diseases are widespread. There are multiple reports of severe injuries particularly in the garment and construction industries. Although there are labour inspections conducted by the government which result in fines and penalties, the number of inspections if by far insufficient to effectively enforce OSH laws, and there are no specific provisions to protect workers who raise OSH concerns. In addition to hazards in the workplace, transportation provided by employers are often extremely dangerous, and there are several reports of workers dying or getting severely injured in transportation provided by employers.⁵¹³

Regarding OSH in the sugarcane sector, a 2017 study found that workers in a sugarcane plantation in Kampong Cham operated under high environmental heat exposure as the heat stress index levels for each day in the sugarcane farm areas were above the Threshold Limit Value (TLV) of American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienist (ACGIH) (27.5°C). In this context, most of the workers that informed that study reported heat exhaustion (87.2%), tiredness (86.4%), headache (61.8%) and muscle cramps (60.0%).⁵¹⁴

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

Cambodia has one of the highest rates of informal employment in the region at an estimated 93 percent of the total workforce in 2018, according to the ILO.⁵¹⁵ Accordingly, sugar plantations tend to employ seasonal workers and most labourers are informally employed for shorts periods of time, and often come from other regions within Cambodia to work during harvest peak seasons.⁵¹⁶

Access to social security

Cambodia's Labour Law provides for access to social insurance by private-sector employees, but excludes self-employed persons, household workers and informal workers. Employers have to contribute 2.6 percent of monthly earnings to the social insurance system, and thereby bear the full cost of the social security system, which covers sickness benefits, maternity leave and assistance and medical benefits as part of the National Social Security Fund, governed by the Ministry of Labour and Vocational Training and supported by the Ministry of Health. In addition, employers of private sector employees contribute 0.8 percent of monthly earnings to the social insurance for work-related injuries to cover disability benefits, pensions and medical care following an occupational injury.⁵¹⁷ However, even in the formal sector, many companies are not registered to the National Social Security Fund and as a result, workers cannot get access to compensation and benefits. On top of that, agricultural workers, who are predominantly informally employed are defacto excluded from the social security system.⁵¹⁸

Discrimination

Cambodia has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111).⁵¹⁹ Cambodia's 1997 Labour Law prohibits discrimination on the bases of race, colour, sex, belief, religion, political opinion, national ancestry, social origin, union membership in making decisions regarding hiring, conduct and distribution of work, training, advancement or promotion, compensation, granting of social benefits or the termination of employment (Art. 12). These guarantees of non-discrimination do not address gender or sexual identity beyond biological sex, nor age, marital status, nationality, migrant status, and other potential grounds of discrimination.

The laws on non-discrimination are generally not enforced by the government. Although there are penalties for discrimination by employers, mostly in the form of fines, these are insufficient to deter violations, and in reality, 38 percent of workers feel uncomfortable at work, including because of sexual harassment and a lack of a safe system to report harassment or discrimination.⁵²⁰

6.6.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

According to CNV Internationaal, in the past three decades unions have been a hub of contention in Cambodia's politics. In this context, Cambodian unions are numerous, specially when contrasted to neighbouring Vietnam and China, where a single state-aligned union is the norm. Moreover, the level of unionisation in Cambodia is much higher than Thailand, where union pluralism is also fostered. Nonetheless, CNV International notes that the high level of unionisation should not be considered conducive to a healthy environment for freedom of association and other labour rights, but rather, it indicates that unions are generally considered as an institutional channel to access power and often profit.⁵²¹

With regards to the agricultural sector, the Cambodian Agricultural Worker Federation (CAWF), member of the Cambodian Labour Confederation (CLC), has made several attempts to form a union for sugarcane workers in Cambodia, but these have been unsuccessful, and workers in the sector are hardly unionised.⁵²² In this context, the sources interviewed for this study indicated that between 2015 and 2016, CAWF reached out to one plantation in Kompong Speub. At that time, a union was form and there was an election too, but the union registration was not possible since all the seasonal workers that formed the union had moved away when CAWF started working on the registration. In this context, it was highlighted that most companies never know their workers, as the working relation is mostly facilitated through the brokers.

Plantation workers, particularly those that are migrant workers and living in dormitories on the plantations, often have little awareness of trade unions that could represent them. Because sugar plantations tend to use seasonal labour, most workers are informally employed for shorts periods of time, and often come from other regions to work during harvest peak seasons. These seasonal, migrant workers are less likely to unionise and are more easily dismissed, which causes workers to refrain from defending their labour and human rights.⁵²³

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Cambodian unions that are member of IUF include:524

- Cambodian Food and Service Workers' Federation (CFSWF)
- Naga World Hotel Casino (Labour Rights Supported Union of Khmer Employees of Naga Hotel, NHW).

Unions in Cambodia that are ITUC affiliates:525

- Cambodia Confederation of Trade Unions (CCTU)
- Cambodian Confederation of Unions (CCU)
- Cambodian Labour Confederation (CLC).

6.6.3 Social dialogue

Cambodia does not have strong social dialogue mechanisms, nor effective tripartite systems. Collective disputes are referred to the Arbitration Council, which in a sense forms the central tripartite mechanism due to a lack of other social dialogue mechanisms. The Arbitration Council consists of 30 arbitrators with ten each from trade unions, employers' organisations, and the Ministry of Labour. However, the Arbitration Council is only equipped to process collective disputes, while individual cases are to be referred to a specialised labour court, which to date does not exist despite legal provisions.⁵²⁶

The Arbitration Council has been criticised for the ineffectiveness of its decisions, as employers often choose not to apply the non-binding recommendations, and the council did not process complaints from independent unions. Because cases are referred to the Arbitration Council by the Ministry of Labour, the application of these rules have been inconsistent since public officials can arbitrarily classify disputes as individual rather than collective, thereby inhibiting a process before the council. In recent years, however, the arbitration Council has become more effective, and unions are increasingly able to represent workers from minority unions.⁵²⁷

Other key mechanisms are the Labour Advisory Commission, a tripartite institution composed of 14 government, 7 trade union and 7 employer representatives to provide recommendations on minimum wages and collective bargaining agreements.⁵²⁸

6.6.4 Government involvement

The key governmental stakeholders in the sugarcane sector are the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, as well as the Ministry of Land Management, Urban Planning and Construction. In addition, the Ministry of Labour and Vocational Training is in charge of implementing and enforcing labour laws in the sugarcane sector.

6.6.5 Dutch governmental support

The Netherlands does not have an embassy in Cambodia but represents Dutch interests in the country from the embassy in Bangkok. However, the Netherlands has a consulate in Phnom Penh and Siem Reap and supports Dutch businesses through the Netherlands Cambodia Chamber of Commerce (NCCC) as well as through the agricultural councils (Landbouwraad).⁵²⁹

6.6.6 Labour rights initiatives

Government initiatives

In 2011, the Royal Government of Cambodia issued the Sub-Decree on Contract Farming (CF). The objective of this Sub-Decree is to enhance agricultural production through trusted framework between producers and buyers with support from the authority. The Sub-Decree specifies that Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries is the lead body in communicating, coordinating, monitoring and providing suitable environment to the development of contract farming. Moreover, this Sub-Decree set the conditions for contract-based agricultural production and established a mechanism for resolving disputes.⁵³⁰

Despite the creation of the Sub-Decree, to date, there has been no intervention from government. Instead of formal rules or policy, farmers try to find their own way to obtain benefits and sustain CF through trust and mutual understanding. In this context, policy, strategy and an action plan have been identified as crucial for CF to improve agricultural productivity and living wages for farmers.⁵³¹

Civil Society and NGO initiatives

Cambodia has a thriving civil society and NGO space at the sub-national and local space. Civil society organisations working on human rights in agriculture include Equitable Cambodia, Cambodia Center for Human Rights (CCHR), NGO Forum, Ponlok Khmer, and ADHOC Cambodia. Various international NGOs are also active in Cambodia's agricultural sector, including Oxfam and ActionAid. Trade unions active in the sugarcane sector are the Cambodia Agricultural Worker Federation, as part of the Cambodian Labour Confederation.⁵³²

The biggest NGO in Cambodia is the Cooperation Committee for Cambodia (CCC), which brings together 170 NGOs and CSOs working on sustainable development. This includes national and international organisations that advocate for labour rights in agriculture.⁵³³

The Independent Democratic Informal Economy Association (IDEA) is a member-based organisation of informal workers in Cambodia with over 10,000 members, who defend the rights of informal workers.⁵³⁴

In addition, the Community Legal Education Center (CLEC) is an organisation providing strategic litigation and legal aid service to vulnerable communities and human rights defenders in Cambodia and has previously defended and assisted workers in labour rights struggles.⁵³⁵

6.7 Indonesia

6.7.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Indonesia, who became an ILO member in 1950, has ratified all eight Fundamental Conventions as well as two priority Governance Conventions, excluding the C122 – Employment Policy Convention, 1964 (No. 122) and the C129 – Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129). In addition to these core conventions, Indonesia has only ratified ten out of 178 of the technical conventions.⁵³⁶

The 1945 Indonesian Constitution lays out some basic rights, such as the right to work and receive a fair remuneration and treatment in employment, the freedom to associate and assemble, and the right to social security (Chapter X and Chapter XA). In addition, the 2003 Labour Law forms the country's main legislative text on labour rights. The Labour Law lays out basic rights to and at work, such as equal opportunities and treatment (Art. 5 and 6). The government agency responsible for implementation of the Labour Law is the Ministry of Manpower, and disputes are settled before the Labour Court.

Indonesia is currently in the process of overhauling 79 laws, which also includes various articles and provisions of the Labour Law, of which the results are not yet known.⁵³⁷

Child labour

Indonesia has ratified all key ILO conventions on child labour, including C138 – Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138) and C 182 – Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182).⁵³⁸ In addition, the 2003 Labour Law prohibits child labour, but leaves various gaps. The minimum age for work in Indonesia is fifteen years, although children aged between thirteen and fifteen years old may be employed for light work (Art. 69). Children under the age of eighteen cannot be engaged in hazardous work, but sugarcane cultivation is not specified as hazardous work in Indonesian law (Art. 74). Although forced labour is prohibited (Art. 74), there are no strict prohibitions against child trafficking.

In Indonesia, 3.7 percent of children between ages ten and fourteen are working, mostly in the agricultural sector (61.6 percent). Children working in the agricultural sector are mostly employed on palm oil, coffee, tobacco, and rubber plantations, as well as fishing. On plantations, children face hazardous working conditions with long hours and exposure to extreme heat, dangerous tools and toxic agrochemicals.⁵³⁹ North Sumatra, Central Java and East Java are the three provinces with the largest incidences of child labourers in the agricultural sector.⁵⁴⁰

However, because labour inspectorate is grossly underfunded and the Ministry has insufficient inspectors to cover the entire country, the Ministry of Manpower largely relies on community-based monitoring and neighbourhood chiefs to report child labour. In 2019, these inspections only identified one incidence of a child labour violation, although officials admit that many more occur but are not reported due to the inability to conduct adequate inspections.⁵⁴¹

Freedom of association

Indonesia has ratified the two fundamental conventions on the freedom of association, C087 – Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87) as well as C098 – Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98). However, Indonesia has not ratified technical conventions regarding this issue, including C135 – Workers' Representatives Convention, 1971 (No. 135) and C141 – Rural Workers' Organisation Convention, 1975 (No. 141), nor C154 - Collective Bargaining Convention, 1981 (No. 154).

However, in the Labour Law, Indonesia outlines that "every worker has the right to form and become a member of a trade/labour union" (Art. 104). These unions are also empowered to make collective work agreements between the union and one or multiple employers (Art. 116), though only 6 percent of registered companies are operating within Collective Bargaining Agreements (CBAs).⁵⁴²

The right to strike is recognised as a "fundamental right" if carried out legally, orderly and peacefully when all other negotiation techniques have failed (Art. 137). The Labour Law also recognises both bipartite cooperation, which is required for every enterprise employing more than 50 workers (Art. 106) as well as tripartite cooperation institutes that include the National Tripartite Cooperation Institute, Provisional and District or City Tripartite Cooperation Institutes, and Sector-based institutions both on national and local levels (Art. 107).

Violations to trade unions' rights

In the ITUC Global Rights Index, Indonesia is given a Rating 5, which means that workers have no guaranteed access to their rights and are exposed to unfair labour practices, making Indonesia one of the world's worst countries for workers and dangerous conditions for trade union leaders who face arbitrary arrests and imprisonment.⁵⁴³

Indeed, violations of trade union rights are rampant, with frequent reports of union-busting. Despite legal protections, the poor enforcement and lack of inspections have exposed union members to unfair labour practices and autocratic regimes. The government is also criticised for its crackdown on organised labour, particularly by excluding trade unions from minimum wage negotiations and designating industries as national vital objects (thereby de facto banning actions and strikes).⁵⁴⁴

A particular issue relating to trade union rights is a mismatch between legislation and practice, coupled with a lack of clear and strict guarantees and protections in the Constitution and in the Labour Law. For example, anti-union discrimination is prohibited but still happens frequently in practice, and companies outsource labour far beyond legal provisions to prevent workers from organising. Strikes and demonstrations by workers are frequent and widespread but are frequently suppressed and even criminalised, including through military interventions.⁵⁴⁵

Rights defenders in the sugarcane industry also face retaliation and violence. In April 2020, Glenn Fredly, an activist campaigning against the expansion of sugarcane plantations in Bali, was killed.⁵⁴⁶

Occupational safety and health

Indonesia has not ratified key ILO conventions to safeguard the health and safety of workers, including C155 – Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155), C184 – Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184), nor key labour inspection conventions such as C129 – Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129). Indonesia only ratified C187 – Promotional Framework for Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 2006. ⁵⁴⁷

The Indonesian Labour Law, however, does outline protections regarding the safety and health of workers, but these articles are limited to an expectation on enterprises that employ more than 100 workers to implement an OSH Management System (Art. 86 and 87).

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

Around 84 percent of Indonesia's workers are active in the informal economy, despite significant declines in recent years. The informal workforce mostly consists of women (58 percent of Indonesia's total female workforce) compared to 49 percent of Indonesia's male workforce. Although agriculture is the biggest formal employer (30 percent of employment), it only contributes 13 percent to GDP, suggesting high levels of informal employment coupled with low productivity.⁵⁴⁸

Access to social security

The Labour Law indicates that all workers and their families are entitled to social security for employees (Art. 99). Workers from the informal economy also have access to national social security schemes, but the coverage is inadequate since the services are voluntary. In total, 59 percent of the population is covered by health social protection.⁵⁴⁹

Discrimination

Indonesia has ratified C111 – Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111).⁵⁵⁰ Although the Indonesian Constitution states that "all citizens shall be equal before the law and the government" (Art. 27) and that "every person shall have the right to be free from discriminative treatment based upon any grounds whatsoever and shall have the right to protection from such discriminative treatment" (Art. 28I), the Constitution does not specify any grounds of discrimination.

Indonesia's 2003 Labour Law also lays out principles of non-discrimination regarding equal opportunities (Art. 5), equal treatment (Art. 6) and job placement (Art. 32). In a 2003 Supplement, the Labour Law clarifies that this refers to discrimination based on sex, ethnicity, race, religion, skin colour, and political orientation, leaving significant and important gaps on gender, sexuality, marital status, cultural background and other grounds of discrimination. In addition, the Labour Law also prohibits antiunion discrimination.⁵⁵¹

6.7.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

Of the total employment (including own-account workers), 2.7 percent of workers in Indonesia are unionised. In the agricultural sector, only 4 percent of employees are unionised. In the last years, there has been a significant shift away from company-specific unions towards more federations representing entire sectors. In 2018, 137 trade unions federations and 13 confederations were officially registered while the factory-level unions fell by 38 percent between 2012 and 2018. The total number of trade unions in Indonesia in 2018 was 7,294.⁵⁵²

In 2017, there were 13,829 active CBAs, a number that has been increasing steadily. Also the number of bipartite and tripartite agreements has increased with 24 percent to 64,151 in 2017. However, trade unions have been significantly concerned about their exclusion from minimum wage negotiations since 2015.⁵⁵³

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Indonesian unions that are affiliated with IUF include:554

- Federation of Hotel, Restaurant, Plaza, Apartment, Catering and Tourism Workers' Free Union (FSPM)
- National Federation of Food and Beverage Workers (FSBMM)
- Serikat Pekerja P.T. Sarihusada Generasi Mahardhika (PERKASA)

In addition, two unions are members of ITUC:555

- Confederation of Indonesian Trade Unions (KSPI/CITU)
- Konfederasi Serikat Buruh Sejahtera Indonesia (KSBSI)

6.7.3 Social dialogue

Indonesia recognises tripartite consultations at national, provincial and district levels, although there is no uniform structure across provinces and districts. The central bodies are the National Tripartite Cooperation Institution, National Wage Council and National Occupational Safety and Health Council, which each consist of government, employers' organisations, and trade unions. Indonesia ranks as 67 out of 141 countries on labour-employer relationships, but lacks a strong collective bargaining culture, which results in many labour disputes.⁵⁵⁶

6.7.4 Government involvement

The government of Indonesia is closely involved in the sugarcane industry, both through publicly owned sugar mills and producer companies, through associations and tripartite mechanisms, and as a legislator. The Ministry of Manpower and Transmigrations (*Kementerian Tenaga Kerja Dan Transmigrasi Indonesia*) is primarily responsible for labour relations in Indonesia. In addition, the Ministry of Trade, Ministry of Industry and the Ministry of Agriculture oversee elements of the sugarcane industry.

The Chamber of Commerce and Industry (Kadin) of Indonesia also actively supports the sugarcane industry, and in 2015 founded the Indonesian Sugar Council (*Dewan Gula Indonesia*) to synchronise data on sugar and represent the interests of the industry at the government.⁵⁵⁷

6.7.5 Dutch governmental support

Due to the colonial history, the Netherlands has fairly strong trade and consular relationships with Indonesia. The Dutch embassy in Jakarta, Indonesia has a dedicated agriculture department, which supports trade relationships between the Netherlands and Indonesia. In addition, the Agriculture Council Indonesia (*Landbouwraad Indonesië*) operates from the embassy to support agricultural development in Indonesia and the region. In Surbaya, a Netherlands Business Support Office is in charge of supporting Dutch companies that want to trade with Indonesian companies.⁵⁵⁸

6.7.6 Labour rights initiatives

This research could not identify any major labour rights initiatives in the Indonesian sugarcane industry.

6.8 Vietnam

6.8.1 Working conditions

Legal framework

Vietnam has ratified seven of the Fundamental ILO Convention, of which C105 – Abolition of Forced Labour Convention, 1957 (No. 105) will come into force on 14 July 2021. To date, Vietnam has not ratified C087 – Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87). In addition, Vietnam has ratified three of the four ILO Governance Conventions, except C129 – Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129).⁵⁵⁹

The Constitution of the Republic of Vietnam of 2003 establishes the right to work under equal and safe conditions free from discrimination, forced labour and employment under the minimum working age (Art. 35). In addition, the 2012 Labour Code is Vietnam's main legislative document that regulates labour standards and rights.

According to the sources interviewed for this study, although Vietnam's Labour Code prohibits forced labour, the law provides very small penalties, which are not enough to discourage labour rights violations. In this context, Article 17 of the Labour Code 2019 regulated Prohibited acts of employers when signing and implementing employment contracts:

1. To keep the worker's original identification documents, degrees and certificates;

2. To request the worker to make a deposit in cash or other asset to guarantee his/her implementation of employment contract;

3. To coerce a worker to perform an employment contract for payment of loans borrowed from the employers.

It is likely that as a result of this legal framework, Vietnam has high rates of forced labour, usually through unlicensed brokers charging high fees, forcing particularly migrant workers into debt.

Child labour

Vietnam has ratified C138 – Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138) as well as C182 – Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182). Although Vietnam restricts the legality of employing minors, children from the age of 13 to 15 can undertake light work with consent from a legal representative and ensuring that the working hours do not affect schoolwork. From the age of 15 to 18, minors can be employed for work with some limitations on the number of hours, no hazardous work and a ban on overtime or night work (Art. 163).

To understand the occurrence of child labour in Vietnam, the Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs (MoLISA) with assistance from the ILO has conducted a National Child Labour Survey, first in 2012 and a second one in 2018. Between these years, a significant reduction in the portion of working children aged between five and seventeen was observed (decreasing from 15.5 to 9.1 percent). Nevertheless, in 2018 over 1.7 million children (9.1 percent) engaged in economic activities and over 1 million (5.4 percent) were engaged in child labour. Around 37 percent of working children do not go to school, while the majority of child workers combine school with work (67 percent).⁵⁶⁰ According to the U.S. Department of Labor, sugarcane in Vietnam is among the goods produced by child labour.⁵⁶¹

Over half of the children in child labour work in hazardous, heavy, or dangerous conditions. Most of the child workers, nearly 60 percent, are active in agriculture, especially younger children and boys. In many cases, this includes children who assist their families, either on family farms or at plantations, and support their parent's productivity without earning a wage themselves (82 percent of working children are unpaid). Children in rural areas are more likely to fall into child labour, as over 84 percent of children in child labour are in rural areas of Vietnam.⁵⁶²

Freedom of association

Vietnam has ratified C098 - Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, 1949 (No. 98), but has not ratified nor signed C087 - Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, 1948 (No. 87).⁵⁶³

Freedom of association and the right to organise are extremely restricted in Vietnam. Although both the Constitution and the Labour Code establishes the right to associate and to demonstrate, these rights are extremely limited. All unions are controlled by the Vietnam General Confederation of Labor (VGCL), a trade union confederation run and controlled by Vietnam's ruling party, the Communist Party of Vietnam (CPV). The VGCL has the exclusive authority to recognise unions, appoint union leaders, and represent lower-level unions. In sectors or workplaces where no union exists, the VGCL takes this position, even when workers have not requested or voluntarily chosen to organise. Since the VGCL answer directly to the CPV, the government may strongly interfere and control union activity.⁵⁶⁴

A 2019 amendment to the Labour Code allowed workers to form independent, grassroots workers representative organisations (WROs). However, these WROs are still under control of the VGCL and other restrictions, such as the law that only citizens may join a union, severely restrict the freedom of association.⁵⁶⁵ Although strictly speaking, these WROs are not unions, they can operate alongside the VGCL, although restrictions remain, and new organisations need to get permission from state authorities to operate. The reform was mostly motivated by the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership and a free trade agreement with the EU, both of which required the opening of independent unionisation.⁵⁶⁶

Although unions have a right to organise strikes, there are severe limitations on this right. The law only allows for strikes that arise from collective labour disputes and forbids strikes over rightsbased disputes or those arising from economic and social policy measures (defined as interestbased strikes). Strikes can also not take place at the sector or industry level and need support of at least 50 percent of the workers to be considered legal. Antiunion discrimination is prohibited, but control and fines are too limited to deter violations. Instead, labour activists face harassment from the government (see section 0).⁵⁶⁷

Violations to trade unions' rights

Compared to 2019, Vietnam improved its 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index ranking from 5 (no guarantee of rights) to 4 (systematic violations of rights). The improvement in the rating was mostly due to the passing of an amending text to the Labour Code which now allows independent grassroots workers representative organisations (WROs) of workers' own choosing to operate. Although these WROs still need permission from the state and cannot consolidate upper-level organisations (a right that is still exclusive to the VGCL), these organisations can now recruit and represent members, conduct collective bargaining and organise strikes. However, despite this improvement, violations of labour rights, particularly trade union rights, are persistent. Labour rights activists and union leaders face prosecution for participation in demonstrations, which in some cases leads to disproportionally long prison sentences, high fines, or harassment from the government.⁵⁶⁸

Occupational safety and health

Vietnam has ratified C155 - Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155) but not C184 - Safety and Health in Agriculture Convention, 2001 (No. 184). Vietnam has also not ratified C129 - Labour Inspection (Agriculture) Convention, 1969 (No. 129), although labour inspections are a crucial tool to ensure that employers provide safe and healthy working conditions.⁵⁶⁹ The Labour Code establishes the development of the National Programme on Occupational Safety and Health and requires employers to ensure safe working conditions. In addition, the Vietnam National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (VN NIOSH, formerly known as the National Institute of Labour Protection, NILP) was founded by government as part of the oversee the OSH in Vietnam and represent the country in regional platforms such as the Asian Pacific Occupational Safety and Health Health Organization (APOSHO) and the Asia Pacific Regional Network on Occupational Safety and Health.⁵⁷⁰

However, the government does not effectively enforce labour laws, particularly in the informal economy. Violations of OSH standards are frequently reported, and particularly vulnerable are migrant workers and uncontracted labourers, who are often subjected to the most hazardous working conditions, while these same groups often cannot access social security and health care. In 2018, the government reported 7,997 occupational accidents with 8,229 victims, including 972 fatal incidents with 1,038 deaths.⁵⁷¹

Significance of the informal sector and migrant workers

In 2019, 38.1 million people (70.2 percent of total employment) were active in the informal economy in Vietnam.⁵⁷² Migrant workers, which also includes internal migrants, as well as ethnic minorities are among the most vulnerable workers in the Vietnamese sugarcane sector. Not only are migrant workers and people of ethnic minorities subjected to the most hazardous working conditions, but they are also more likely to work in debt bondage and to be employed informally. The incomes of migrant workers are lower while working longer hours than local workers, and informal workers have very limited access to social security.⁵⁷³

Access to social security

Vietnam has three obligatory social security systems: social insurance – including sick pay, maternity leave, work-related injury allowance, and a pension - health insurance, and unemployment insurance, applicable to employees who are on a labour contract of at least three months.⁵⁷⁴ However, according to estimates of the Ministry of Planning and Investment, only 28 percent of the total labour force accessed the social security scheme, and among own account workers and unpaid family workers, this drops to only 0.8 percent. Agricultural workers, who are usually informally employed, are unlikely to access social security coverage.⁵⁷⁵

Discrimination

Vietnam has ratified C111 - Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111)⁵⁷⁶, and the Labour Code prohibits discrimination "*on the basis of gender, race, colour, social class, marital status, belief, religion, HIV status, disabilities or for the reason of establishing, joining trade union and participating in trade union activities*" (Art. 8). However, the government does not effectively enforce non-discrimination laws, and discriminatory hiring practices persist, particularly relating to gender, sexuality, age, disability and marital status, as well as against independently unionised workers and human rights defenders.⁵⁷⁷

6.8.2 Trade union involvement in the sugarcane sector

Overall unionisation

Until January 2021, only one confederation union, the state-supervised Vietnam General Confederation of Labour (VGCL) was exclusively authorised to operate and is under strict orders of the CPV. Under the VGCL, twenty affiliate unions are active, including the Vietnam National Union of Agricultural & Rural Development Workers. In total, over 7 million workers are members of the VGCL.⁵⁷⁸

Global Union Federation (GUF) involvement

Currently, there are no Vietnamese labour unions affiliated to ITUC or IUF.

6.8.3 Government involvement

The Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs (*Bộ Lao động - Thương binh và Xã hội*) is the main government agency in charge of implementing and enforcing labour laws. The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (*Bộ Nông nghiệp và Phát triển Nông thôn*) is responsible for rural development and the agricultural sector, including the sugarcane sector, alongside the Ministry of Industry and Trade (*Bộ Công thươngl*). In addition, the Vietnam Chamber of Commerce and Industry represents the interests of businesses in the context of government, civil society, media and the industry.

6.8.4 Social dialogue

The Labour Code includes several provisions on social dialogue, but this is generally not effectively practiced due to Vietnam's strict limitations on independent unionisation – though this may change from January 2021 now that independent unions can form. At the company level, the Labour Code requires labour-management dialogue at least quarterly, as well as sectoral social dialogue through unions and representatives.⁵⁷⁹ However, well-functioning social dialogue in the highly informal agricultural sector and the sugar industry is unlikely.

6.8.5 Dutch governmental support

The free trade agreement between the EU and Vietnam included several requirements on the rights of workers in attempts to ensure fair, just and sustainable trade. According to critics, however, the trade agreement falls short in ensuring that these agreements are upheld and enforced. CNV Internationaal commented that the lack of an independent monitoring mechanism and a failure to ensure representation from independent unions and other civil society stakeholders makes it impossible to ensure that labour rights are respected in practice.⁵⁸⁰

6.8.6 Labour rights initiatives

Multi-stakeholder initiatives

In December 2017, the Government of Vietnam signed a memorandum of understanding with the ILO's workers' and employer's organisations as well as the ILO to implement the Decent Work Country Programme Vietnam 2017-2021. This programme has three priorities:⁵⁸¹

- Promote decent employment and an enabling environment for sustainable entrepreneurship opportunities.
- Reduce poverty by extending social protection for all and reduce unacceptable forms of work, especially for the most vulnerable.

Build effective labour market governance compliant with fundamental principles and rights and at work.

Reference

- 1 Kuepper, B. and G. Rijk (2020, October), *Who's Profiting from Brazilian Soy? An Analysis of the Dutch Soy Supply Chain*, Amsterdam, Netherlands: Greenpeace Netherlands.
- 2 International Sugar Organization (n.d.), "The sugar market", online: https://www.isosugar.org/sugarsector/sugar, viewed in December 2020.
- 3 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 4 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 5 FAO (n.d.), "Definition and classification of commodities 3. Sugar crops and sweeteners and derived products", online: http://www.fao.org/es/faodef/fdef03e.HTM, viewed in December 2020.
- 6 OECD-FAO (2019), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, p. 155.
- 7 USDA Foreign Agriculture Service (2020), "Production, supply and distribution: Sugar, centrifugal Cane sugar production", online: https://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/app/index.html#/app/advQuery, viewed in December 2020.
- 8 Indian Sugar Mills Association (n.d.), "In ethanol, govt's sugar solution", online: https://www.indiansugar.com/NewsDetails.aspx?nid=42607, viewed in January 2021.
- 9 OECD-FAO (2019), Agricultural Outlook 2019-2028, pp. 208-209; International Sugar Organization (n.d.), "The sugar market", online: https://www.isosugar.org/sugarsector/sugar, viewed in December 2020.
- 10 Eggleston, G. and I. Lima (2015), "Sustainability issues and opportunities in the sugar and sugar-bioproduct industries", *Sustainability*, Vol. 7: 12209-12235.
- 11 Formann, S., Hahn, A., Janke, L., Stinner, W., Sträuber, H., Logroño, W. and M. Nikolausz (2020, November), "Beyond sugar and ethanol production: Value Generation opportunities through sugarcane residues", *Frontiers of Energy*, online: https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2020.579577, viewed in January 2021.
- 12 Hayes, P. (2019), "Riding the wave", Sugar Producer, June/July, p. 22.
- Expert interviews, January 2021;
 Hayes, P. (2019), "Riding the wave", Sugar Producer, June/July, p. 22.
- 14 Hayes, P. (2019), "Riding the wave", Sugar Producer, June/July, p. 22.
- 15 OECD-FAO (2019), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, pp. 160-161.
- Sentelhas, P.C. and A.B. Pereira (2019, April 8), "El Niño Southern oscillation and its impacts on local climate and sugarcane yield in Brazil", Sugar Tech, Vol. 21: 979-985; FTS (2016, April 28), "How El Niño droughts impact sugar crops now, and into the future", online: https://ftsinc.com/posts/how-el-nino-droughts-impact-sugar-crops-now-and-into-the-future/, viewed in January 2021.
- 17 USDA Foreign Agricultural Service (2020, November), Sugar: World Markets and Trade.
- 18 OECD-FAO (2019), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, pp. 208-209.
- 19 ISO (n.d.), "About sugar", online: https://www.isosugar.org/sugarsector/sugar, viewed in January 2021.
- 20 ISO (n.d.), "About sugar", online: https://www.isosugar.org/sugarsector/sugar, viewed in January 2021.
- 21 Imarc Group (2020), "Sugar market: Global industry trends, share, size, growth, opportunity and forecast 2020-2050, online: https://www.imarcgroup.com/sugar-manufacturing-plant, viewed in December 2020.
- 22 See e.g. also Mars Inc. (n.d.), "Added sugars", online: https://www.mars.com/about/policies-and-practices/added-sugars, viewed in January 2021.
- 23 Coca-Cola Company (n.d.), "Around the world", online: https://www.coca-colacompany.com/sustainablebusiness/in-our-products, viewed in January 2021.
- 24 Allsopp, P. (2020), Social and Livelihood Impacts Pacific and Asia.

- 25 Wright, C. (2020, May 12), "Sugar consumption update: The first fall in 40 years", online: https://www.czarnikow.com/blog/sugar-consumption-update-the-first-fall-in-40years#:~:text=In%20previous%20years%20we%20have,This%20is%201%25%20per%20year.&text=Coronavirus%20 has%20interrupted%20the%20upward,of%201%25%20growth%20each%20year., viewed in January 2021.
- 26 Gray, A. (2020, April 21), "Coke sales volumes down 25% as bars and stadiums close", *Financial Times*, online: https://www.ft.com/content/c8fdc7d6-033d-489b-9c85-fd3dd9758776, viewed in January 2021.
- 27 Jha, M. and A. de Sousa (2020, June 14), "Stuck at home, the world is eating less sugar", *Bloomberg*, online: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-06-14/stuck-at-home-the-world-is-eating-lesssugar+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=nl, viewed in December 2020.
- 28 Macquarie (200626), "COVID-19's impact on sugar", online: https://www.macquarie.com/au/en/perspectives/covid-19-impact-on-sugar.html, viewed in December 2020.
- 29 Argusmedia (2020, December 31), "Viewpoint: Pandemic drives Asia-Pacific ethanol markets", online: https://www.argusmedia.com/en/news/2173398-viewpoint-pandemic-drives-asiapacific-ethanol-markets, viewed in January 2021; Chemical Watch (2020, April 8), "Sanitiser choices in Indonesia limited by halal restrictions", online: https://chemicalwatch.com/106181/sanitiser-choices-in-indonesia-limited-by-halal-restrictions, viewed in January 2021.
- 30 OECD-FAO (2020), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, p. 152.
- 31 Sugar Asia Magazine (2020, November 1), "Looking ahead to world sugar outlook in 2020-2021", online: http://sugar-asia.com/looking-ahead-to-world-sugar-outlook-in-2020-2022/, viewed in December 2020.
- 32 OECD-FAO (2020), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, p. 151.
- 33 Paho, WHO, Japan Government and World Bank Group (2020), Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Pre-packaged Foods: the Impact of Taxation on Price, Consumption, and Revenues and its Contribution to Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals in Central America, Panama, and the Dominican Republic, pp. 13-16.
- 34 OECD-FAO (2020), Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029, p. 151.
- 35 Jha, M. and A. de Sousa (2020, June 14), "Stuck at home, the world is eating less sugar", *Bloomberg*, online: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-06-14/stuck-at-home-the-world-is-eating-lesssugar+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=nl, viewed in December 2020.
- 36 *Gro Intelligence* (2019, November 7), "How big ethanol plans will rock global corn and sugar markets", online: https://gro-intelligence.com/insights/articles/how-big-ethanol-plans-will-rock-global-corn-and-sugarmarkets#conclusion, viewed in January 2021.
- 37 Innovation Forum (2016, November 17), "Sugarcane supply chain's scalable solutions Interview with Simon Usher", online: https://innovation-forum.co.uk//analysis.php?s=sugarcane-supply-chains-scalable-solutions, viewed in January 2017.
- Kiezebrink, V., Van der Wal, S., Theuws, M. And P. Kachusa (2015, December), *Bittersweet*, Amsterdam, Netherlands: SOMO, pp. 11-13;
 Rein, P., Turner, P. and K. Mathias (2011), *Good Management Practices Manual for the Cane Sugar Industry*, Johannesburg, South Africa: PGBI Sugar & Bio Energy for the IFC, pp. 18-25.
- 39 The Coca-Cola Company (2015), *Review on Child and Forced Labor and Land Rights in Guatemala's Sugar Industry*, p. 4.
- 40 Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work Branch (2017), *Child Labour in the Primary Production of Sugarcane*, Geneva, Switzerland: ILO, p. V.
- 41 Fairtrade Foundation (2013, January), Fairtrade and Sugar, p. 8.
- 42 Bureau for the Appraisal of Societal Impacts and Costs (BASIC) (2014, November), Who's Got the Power? Tackling Imbalances in Agricultural Supply Chains, Fair Trade Advocacy Office, p. 40.
- 43 Fundamental Princpiles and Rights at Work Branch (2017), *Child Labour in the Primary Production of Sugarcane*, Geneva, Switzerland: ILO, pp. 24, 25.

- 44 León Sánchez IC, Useshe Cárdenas LF (2017), La producción de la caña de azúcar y panela, y la incidencia que esta práctica tiene en el nivel de vida de las familias productoras del municipio de Villeta, departamento de Cundinamarca, online: https://ciencia.lasalle.edu.co/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1145&context=maest_gestion_desarrollo, viewed in April 2021, p. 43.
- 45 Nemarumane TN, Mbohwa C (2015), "Social Life Cycle Assessment in the South African Sugar Industry: Issues and Views", in: S.S. Muthu (ed.), Social Life Cycle Assessment, Environmental Footprints and Eco-design of Products and Processes, Singapore: Springer, p. 97.
- 46 Philippine Institute for Development Studies (2018, October), The Wage Gap between Male and Female Agricultural Workers: Analysis and Implications for Gender and Development Policy, p. 8.
- 47 Sharma R, Kamboj K, Bhardwaj J (2018), Gender Response and Safe Carrying Load Limit for Sugar Industry Workers, International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics, 1–25.
- 48 Abdulsamad, A., Frederick, S., Guinn, A. and G. Gereffi (2015, September), *Pro-Poor Development and Power Asymmetries in Global Value Chains*, Durham, United States: Center on Globalization, Governance and Competitiveness of Duke University, pp. 60-65.
- 49 See e.g.:

Ferrante, L. and P.M. Fearnside (2019, November 18), "Sugarcane threatens Amazon forest and world climate; Brazilian ethanol is not clean (commentary)", Mongabay, online: https://news.mongabay.com/2019/11/sugarcanethreatens-amazon-forest-and-world-climate-brazilian-ethanol-is-not-clean-commentary/, viewed in January 2021; Berton, E.F. (2016, October 12), "Exclusive: Rainforest rapidly cleared for sugarcane in Bolivia", *Mongabay*, online: https://news.mongabay.com/2016/10/exclusive-rainforest-rapidly-cleared-for-sugarcane-in-bolivia/, viewed in January 2021;

Obidzinski, K., Kusters, K. and S. Gnych (2015, March), "Taking the bitter with the sweet: Sugarcane's return as a driver of tropical deforestation", *Conservation Letters*.

- 50 Fairtrade International (n.d.), "Sugar", online: https://info.fairtrade.net/product/sugar, viewed in January 2021.
- 51 European Commission (2012, December 15), "Agreement establishing an association between the European Union and its Member States, on the one hand, and Central America on the other", Official Journal of the European Union; ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets from EU28", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in April 2021;

European Commission (2017, April 5), Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council -Third Annual Report on the Implementation of Part IV of the Agreement establishing an Association between the European Union and its Member States, on the one hand, and Central America on the other, COM(2017) 160 final, pp. 5-6.

- 52 Castillo, R.O. (2020), "The impact of COVID-19 on the sustainability of the sugar cane industry The Americas", ISSCT Webinar, June.
- 53 Bureau for the Appraisal of Societal Impacts and Costs (BASIC) (2014, November), Who's Got the Power? Tackling Imbalances in Agricultural Supply Chains, Fair Trade Advocacy Office, p. 35.
- 54 Fairtrade International (n.d.), "Sugar", online: https://info.fairtrade.net/product/sugar, viewed in January 2021.
- 55 Fairtrade Nederland (2019, September), Monitoring the Scope and Benefits of Fairtrade: Sugar Monitoring Report 10th Edition, p. 4.
- 56 FAO (2019, May), Market Assessments: Sugar, p. 41.
- 57 Fairtrade Nederland (2019, September), Monitoring the Scope and Benefits of Fairtrade: Sugar Monitoring Report 10th Edition, p. 4.
- 58 Richardson, B. (2015), Sugar, Cambridge, United Kingdom: Polity Press, p. 186.
- 59 Bonsucro (2014, July 16), Invitation Meet with Bonsucro in Manila.
- 60 Bonsucro (2019), Outcome Report 2019, p. 7; FAO (2019, May), Market Assessments: Sugar, p. 41.
- 61 ISCC (2018), Addressing the Sustainability of Sugarcane.
- 62 Young, R.D. and A. Mersie (2019, January 9), "Olam International to shut sugar trade desk -spokeswoman", *Reuters*, online: https://www.reuters.com/article/sugar-trade-olam-idUSL1N1Z81WX, viewed in December 2020.
- 63 Olam (2020, March), "Mitr Phol Corporation to acquire Olam International's remaining 50% stake in Indonesian sugar joint venture", *Press release*.
- 64 Wilmar (2020, June 12), AGM Presentation, p. 15.
- 65 Copersucar (2019), Sustainability Report 2016-2018, p. 15.
- 66 ED&F Man (n.d.), "About us", online: http://www.edfman.com/new-about-us#facts-about-ed-f-man, viewed in December 2020.
- 67 Sucden (n.d.), "Products and services Sugar", online: https://www.sucden.com/en/products-and-services/sugar/, viewed in December 2020.
- 68 Louis Dreyfus Company (n.d.), "Sugar", online: https://www.ldc.com/product/sugar/, viewed in December 2020.
- 69 Teixeira, M. and M. Angel (2020, July 2), "Exclusive: Raízen, Wilmar set to end sugar trading venture RAW", *Reuters*, online: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-sugar-companies-exclusive/exclusive-razen-wilmar-set-to-end-sugar-trading-venture-raw-idUSKBN24330V, viewed in January 2021.
- 70 Voora, V., Bermúdez, S. and C. Larrea (2020), Global Market Report Sugar, Winnipeg, Canada: IISD, p.4.
- ABSugar (n.d.), "Global sourcing map", online: https://www.absugar.com/sourcing-map, viewed in January 2021.
- See e.g.: Know the Chain (2017), Pepsico – Questions Regarding forced Labour Risks in Your Company's Sugar Cane Supply Chain; Know the Chain (2017), The Coca Cola Company - – Questions Regarding forced Labour Risks in Your Company's Sugar Cane Supply Chain.
- 73 Nordzucker (n.d.), "Sourcing cane sugar", online: https://sustainability.nordzucker.com/en/growingsourcing/sourcing/sourcing-cane-sugar/, viewed in January 2021.
- 74 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 75 Eurostat (2021), "EU trade since 1988 by HS2-HS4", viewed in January 2021.
- 76 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 77 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 78 Peña-Balderrama, G., Khatiwada, D., Gardumi, F., Alfstad, T., Ulloa-Jimenez, S. and M. Howells (2020, October), "Integrated analysis of land-use, energy and water systems for ethanol production from sugarcane in Bolivia", *Research Square*, DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-97263/v1.
- 79 Luxbacher, K. (ed.) (2017, December), Bolivia Possible E10 Mandate in 2018, USDA GAIN Report.
- 80 USDA Foreign Agriculture Service (2020), "Production, supply and distribution: Sugar, centrifugal Cane sugar production", online: https://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/app/index.html#/app/advQuery, viewed in December 2020.
- 81 *Los Tiempos* (2021, January 18), "Por rebrote, prevén vender hasta 1,5 MM de litros de alcohol por mes", online: https://www.lostiempos.com/actualidad/pais/20210118/rebrote-preven-vender-15-mm-litros-alcohol-mes, viewed in January 2021.
- 82 Los Tiempos (2021, January 18), "Por rebrote, prevén vender hasta 1,5 MM de litros de alcohol por mes", online: https://www.lostiempos.com/actualidad/pais/20210118/rebrote-preven-vender-15-mm-litros-alcohol-mes, viewed in January 2021.
- 83 Periodico Bolivia (2020, April 6), "Guabirá multiplicó la producción de alcohol desinfectante", online: https://www.periodicobolivia.com.bo/guabira-multiplico-la-produccion-de-alcohol-desinfectante/, viewed in January 2021.
- 84 Nolte, G.E. (2018, March 19), Bolivia Enters Ethanol Era, USDA GAIN Report.
- 85 BN Americas (2020, May), "Bolivia will increase to 12% the percentage of anhydrous ethanol mixture in gasoline", online: https://www.bnamericas.com/en/news/bolivia-will-increase-to-12-the-percentage-of-anhydrous-ethanol-mixture-in-gasoline, viewed in January 2021.
- 86 Nolte, G.E. (2018, March 19), Bolivia Enters Ethanol Era, USDA GAIN Report.

- 87 BNAmericas (2019, August 19), "Sugar mills project \$ 500 million investment to produce ethanol", online: https://www.bnamericas.com/en/news/sugar-mills-project--500-million-investment-to-produce-ethanol, viewed in December 2020.
- 88 Peña-Balderrama, G., Khatiwada, D., Gardumi, F., Alfstad, T., Ulloa-Jimenez, S. and M. Howells (2020, October), "Integrated analysis of land-use, energy and water systems for ethanol production from sugarcane in Bolivia", *Research Square*, DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-97263/v1
- 89 Peperkamp, M. (2017), *Fact-Finding Agro-Food Bolivia*, Den Haag, Netherlands: Netherlands Enterprise Agency, p. 20.
- 90 Peña-Balderrama, G., Khatiwada, D., Gardumi, F., Alfstad, T., Ulloa-Jimenez, S. and M. Howells (2020, October), "Integrated analysis of land-use, energy and water systems for ethanol production from sugarcane in Bolivia", *Research Square*, DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-97263/v1.
- 91 See e.g.: Unagro (n.d.), "Alcohol", online: https://www.unagro.com.bo/productos/alcohol/, viewed in January 2021; Página Siete (2019, April 8), "EASBA cuenta solo con 30% de la caña sembrada que require", online: https://www.paginasiete.bo/economia/2019/4/8/easba-cuenta-solo-con-30-de-la-cana-sembrada-que-requiere-214479.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 92 Luxbacher, K. (ed.) (2017, December), Bolivia Possible E10 Mandate in 2018, USDA GAIN Report.
- 93 Unagro (n.d.), "Alcohol", online: https://www.unagro.com.bo/productos/alcohol/, viewed in December 2020.
- 94 Unagro (n.d.), "Quienes somos", online: https://www.corp-unagro.com/quienes-somos/, viewed in January 2021.
- 95 Are, T. (2018, September 23), "Cristóbal Roda: su major posgrado fue trabajar 20 años con su padre", *El Deber*, online: https://eldeber.com.bo/economia/cristobal-roda-su-mejor-posgrado-fue-trabajar-20-anos-con-su-padre_43386, viewed in January 2021; Autoridad de Supervisión des Slistema Financiero (2010), "Trajeto de Registro: Emisores – Ingenio Sucroalcoholero Aguai S.A.", online: https://appweb.asfi.gob.bo/Reportes_asp/rmi/tarjeta.asp?c=52952&t=2, viewed in January 2021.
- 96 OTAI, in: Industrias Sucroalcoholeras (2016), Prospecto Marco Para un Programa de Emisiones de Bonos, p. 73.
- 97 Bonsucro (n.d.), "Bonsucro Certified Entities Dashboard", online: http://www.bonsucro.com/certified-members-3/, viewed in January 2021.
- 98 Ulandssekretariatet (2021), Labour Market Profile Bolivia 2021, online: https://www.ulandssekretariatet.dk/wpcontent/uploads/2021/01/LMP-Bolivia-2021-Final.pdf, p. 8.
- 99 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Bolivia", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 100 Shipment data 2019/20, available to Profundo; Ishima (n.d.), "Corporate vision", online: https://ishima01.jimdofree.com/english/, viewed in December 2020.
- 101 Shipment data 2019/20, available to Profundo.
- 102 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Bolivia", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 103 Shipment data 2019/20, available to Profundo.
- 104 Ávila, P. & Orgáz V. (2018), Evaluación del Sistema Generalizado de Preferencias de la Unión Europea en Bolivia (SGP+), p. 49.
- 105 Los Tiempos (2021, 18 January), "Por rebrote, prevén vender hasta 1,5 MM de litros de alcohol por mes", online: https://www.lostiempos.com/actualidad/pais/20210118/rebrote-preven-vender-15-mm-litros-alcohol-mes, viewed in January 2021.
- 106 Los Tiempos (2021, 18 January), "Por rebrote, prevén vender hasta 1,5 MM de litros de alcohol por mes", online: https://www.lostiempos.com/actualidad/pais/20210118/rebrote-preven-vender-15-mm-litros-alcohol-mes, viewed in January 2021.
- 107 Los Tiempos (2021, 18 January), "Por rebrote, prevén vender hasta 1,5 MM de litros de alcohol por mes", online: https://www.lostiempos.com/actualidad/pais/20210118/rebrote-preven-vender-15-mm-litros-alcohol-mes, viewed in January 2021.

- 108 Flores, E. (2020, December), "Unos 140 trabajadores del ingenio Guabirá vencen el Covid-19", online: https://eldeber.com.bo/economia/unos-140-trabajadores-del-ingenio-guabira-vencen-el-covid-19_195536, viewed in January 2021.
- 109 La Razón (January 2021), "COD denuncia despidos en empresas cruceñas que paralizaron operaciones", online: https://www.la-razon.com/ciudades/2020/04/08/cod-denuncia-despidos-en-empresas-crucenas-que-paralizaronoperaciones/, viewed in January 2021.
- 110 Montaño, R. (2020, April), "Más de doscientos trabajadores de IABSA no cobran sueldo desde diciembre", online : https://www.elperiodico-digital.com/2020/04/28/mas-de-doscientos-trabajadores-de-iabsa-no-cobran-sueldodesde-diciembre/, viewed in January 2021.
- 111 WageIndicator (2021), "Minimum Wage Bolivia", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/minimum-wage/bolivia, viewed in January 2021.
- 112 WageIndicator (n.d.), "Minimum Wage Regulations Bolivia", online: https://wageindicator.org/labour-laws/labour-law-around-the-world/minimum-wages-regulations/minimum-wages-regulations-bolivia, viewed in January 2021.
- 113 Ávila, P. (2020), Derechos Laborales en la Explotación de Caña de Azúcar: Principal Materia Prima de las Exportaciones de Alcohol Etílico a la Unión Europea Bajo el SGP+, La Paz, Bolivia: CEDLA, p. 35.
- 114 Ávila, P. (2020), Derechos Laborales en la Explotación de Caña de Azúcar: Principal Materia Prima de las Exportaciones de Alcohol Etílico a la Unión Europea Bajo el SGP+, La Paz, Bolivia: CEDLA, p.36.
- 115 Ávila, P. (2020), Derechos Laborales en la Explotación de Caña de Azúcar: Principal Materia Prima de las Exportaciones de Alcohol Etílico a la Unión Europea Bajo el SGP+, La Paz, Bolivia: CEDLA. 39.
- 116 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021; Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 117 Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 118 New Agriculturist (n.d.), "Country profile: Colombia", online: http://www.newag.info/en/country/profile.php?a=1056, viewed in January 2021.
- 119 Asocaña (2019), Memoria Annual 2018/19, p. 14,
- 120 Arche Advisors (2015, March), Colombia Sugar Industry Situation Analysis, Analysis prepared for the Coca-Cola Company, p. 6.
- 121 Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 122 Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 123 Smith, J.E. (2021, January 26), "Colombians ask: Who would dare to patent?", *New York Times*, online: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/26/science/colombia-panela-patent-gonzalez.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 124 Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 125 Statista (2021), "Sugarcane used for fuel ethanol production in Colombia from 2010 to 2019", online: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1042879/colombia-fuel-ethanol-sugarcane-consumption/, viewed in January 2021.
- 126 Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 127 *Energia Limpia* (2019, March 18), "Energía con caña de azúcar Colombia Manuelita aumenta la generación y venta de energía eléctrica", online: https://energialimpiaparatodos.com/2019/03/18/energia-con-cana-de-azucar-colombia-manuelita-aumenta-la-generacion-y-venta-de-energia-electrica/, viewed in December 2020.
- 128 Omari, T. (2015, June 3), "Colombia's 'sugar cartel' and its alleged attempts to keep prices high", *Colombia Reports*, online: https://colombiareports.com/colombias-sugar-cartel-and-its-alleged-attempts-to-keep-prices-high/, viewed in January 2021.
- 129 *La Nota* (2020, December 5), "Ranking 2019 azúcar y alcohol carburante de Colombia", online: https://www.lanota.com/index.php/CONFIDENCIAS/ranking-2019-azucar-y-alcohol-carburante-de-colombia.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 130 The Coca-Cola Company (2020, April), Nestlé Supply Chain Disclosure: Sugar (Snapshot December 2019).
- 131 Bonsucro (n.d.), "Bonsucro Certified Entities Dashboard", online: https://www.bonsucro.com/certified-members-3/,

viewed in January 2021.

- 132 Asocaña (n.d.), "Nosotros", online: https://www.asocana.org/publico/info.aspx, viewed in January 2021.
- 133 Asocaña (n.d.), "Nosotros", online: https://www.asocana.org/publico/info.aspx, viewed in January 2021.
- 134 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Colombia", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 135 Office of the United States Trade Representative (n.d.), "Sugar", online: https://ustr.gov/issueareas/agriculture/sugar, viewed in January 2021.
- 136 Zuñiga Quisoboni, Y. (2012), El Cluster del Azúcar en el Valle Geográfico del Río Cauca, Colombia, Facultad de Agronomía Universidad de Buenos Aires.
- 137 Shipment data 2019/20, available to Profundo.
- 138 Gomez, L. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Colombia, USDA GAIN Report CO2020-0012.
- 139 El País (2019, December 19), "Los retos que enfrenta el sector azucarero en el país de cara al 2020", online: https://www.elpais.com.co/economia/los-retos-que-enfrenta-el-sector-azucarero-en-el-pais-de-cara-al-2020.html, viewed in December 2020; El País (2020, February 4), "Valle del Cauca le saca más 'jugo' a la agroindustria de la caña".
- 140 Shipment data 2019/20, available to Profundo.
- 141 Shipment data 2019/20, available to Profundo.
- 142 Sectorial (2020, December), "Balance de la Producción de Azúcar al Cierre de 2020", online : https://www.sectorial.co/informativa-azucar-y-etanol/item/377859-balance-de-la-producci%C3%B3n-deaz%C3%BAcar-al-cierre-de-2020, viewed in January 2021.
- 143 AIL (2020, April), "Estas son las acciones empresariales de 5 sectores de la economía durante la emergencia del COVID 19", Agencia de Información Laboral, online : https://ail.ens.org.co/noticias/estas-son-las-acciones-empresariales-de-5-sectores-de-la-economia-durante-la-emergencia-del-covid-19/, viewed in January 2021.
- 144 InfoBae (2020, August), "Colombia superó los 15.000 muertos por coronavirus y se acerca al medio millón de contagios", online : https://www.infobae.com/america/colombia/2020/08/16/colombia-supero-los-15000-muertos-por-coronavirus-y-se-acerca-al-medio-millon-de-contagios/, viewed in January 2021.
- 145 Ministerio del Trabajo (2019), Decreto Número 2360 del 19 de Diciembre de 2019 por el cual se fija el salario mínimo mensual legal.
- 146 Bluradio (2020, December 7), "Salario mínimo en Colombia, respecto de la economía, es de los más altos del mundo: MinHacienda", online: https://www.bluradio.com/economia/salario-minimo-en-colombia-es-de-los-mas-altos-del-mundo-ministro-de-hacienda, viewed in December 2020.
- 147 Bluradio (2020, December 7), "Salario mínimo en Colombia, respecto de la economía, es de los más altos del mundo: MinHacienda", online: https://www.bluradio.com/economia/salario-minimo-en-colombia-es-de-los-mas-altos-del-mundo-ministro-de-hacienda, viewed in December 2020.
- 148 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Labour Market Colombia Profile 2020-2021, page 21.
- 149 Global Living Wage Coalition (2020), "Living Wage Report: Caribbean Coast of Colombia", online: https://www.globallivingwage.org/living-wage-benchmarks/living-wage-for-caribbean-coast-of-colombia/.
- 150 Suárez, C. (2020, September 29), "Condiciones de trabajo y salud en el cultivo de caña de azúcar", Agencia de Información Laboral, online: https://ail.ens.org.co/opinion/condiciones-de-trabajo-y-salud-en-el-cultivo-de-cana-de-azucar/, viewed in January 2021.
- 151 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 152 Tay, K. (2019, April), Sugar Annual Guatemala New Varieties Paying Off with Increased Yield, USDA GAIN Report GT19003.
- 153 Tay, K. (2019, April), Sugar Annual Guatemala New Varieties Paying Off with Increased Yield, USDA GAIN Report GT19003, p. 5.
- 154 Zagaceta, J. (2019, June), "APAAD: Los productores de azúcar están en una situación de incertidumbre", online : https://elcomercio.pe/economia/peru/apaad-productores-azucar-situacion-incertidumbre-noticia-nndc-650415-

noticia/, viewed in January 2021.

- 155 Azucar de Guatemala (n.d.), "El azúcar de Guatemala en el mundo", online: https://www.azucar.com.gt/azucar-deguatemala-en-el-mundo/, viewed in January 2021.
- 156 Central America Data (2020, October), "Proposal to Mix Ethanol with Fuels", online: https://en.centralamericadata.com/en/article/home/Proposal_to_Mix_Ethanol_with_Fuels, viewed in January 2021.
- 157 Cutz, L., Tomei, J. and L.A.H. Nogueira (2020, July), "Understanding the failures in developing domestic ethanol markets: Unpacking the ethanol paradox in Guatemala", *Energy Policy*, Vol. 145: 111769.
- 158 Estragia y Negocios (2019, October 2), "La cadena productiva del ron de Guatemala obtiene certificación ISCC Plus", online: https://www.estrategiaynegocios.net/empresasymanagement/1323639-330/la-cadena-productiva-del-ron-de-guatemala-obtiene-certificaci%F3n-iscc-plus, viewed in January 2021.
- 159 *Liquor.com* (2018, July 27), "A Guatemalan rum you've never heard of has arrived in the US", online: https://www.liquor.com/articles/magdalena-guatemala/viewed in January 2021.
- 160 Cengicaña (2020), Generación de Energía, Boletín Estadístico, pp. 2, 4.
- 161 Tay, K. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Guatemala, USDA GAIN Report GT2020-0003.
- 162 Labardor, G., Villagrán, X., Sánchez, R. and J. Alvarado (2017, April 25), "El cartel del azúcar de Guatemala", *El Faro*, online: https://elfaro.net/es/201704/centroamerica/20091/El-cartel-del-az%C3%BAcar-de-Guatemala.htm, viewed in January 2021; González, R.S., Sánchez, J.L., Alonso, E. et al. (2018), "Enslaved land", online: https://www.europeanpressprize.com/article/enslaved-land/, viewed in January 2021.
- 163 The Coca-Cola Company (2015), Review on Child and Forced Labor and Land Rights in Guatemala's Sugar Industry, p. 5.
- 164 Carte, L., Schmook, B., Radel, C. And R. Johnson (2019, June), "The slow displacement of smallholder farming families: Land, hunger, and labor migration in Nicaragua and Guatemala", *Land*, Vol. 8(89): doi:10.3390/land8060089.
- 165 Circle of Blue (2019, February 18), "HotSpots H2O: Palm and Ssugarcane plantations strip Guatemalan farmers of land, water access", online: https://www.circleofblue.org/2019/hotspots/hotspots-h2o-palm-and-sugarcane-plantations-strip-guatemalan-farmers-of-land-water-access/, viewed in January 2021; Oxfam America (2013, August), "Farmers struggle for land in Guatemala", online: https://www.oxfamamerica.org/explore/stories/farmers-struggle-for-land-in-guatemala/, viewed in January 2021.
- 166 Tomei, J. (2015, November), "The sustainability of sugarcane-ethanol systems in Guatemala: Land, labour and law", *Biomass and Bioenergy*: 94-100.
- 167 Alonso-Fradejas, A. (2012, December), "Land control-grabbing in Guatemala: the political economy of contemporary agrarian change", *Canadian Journal of Development Studies*, Vol. 33: 509-528.
- 168 Grupo Pantaléon (2020), Reporte Desarrollo Responsible 2019.
- 169 *Liquor.com* (2018, July 27), "A Guatemalan rum you've never heard of has arrived in the U.S.", online: https://www.liquor.com/articles/magdalena-guatemala/, viewed in January 2021.
- 170 The Coca-Cola Company (2020, April), Nestlé Supply Chain Disclosure: Sugar (Snapshot December 2019).
- 171 Bonsucro (n.d.),"Bonsucro Certified Entities Dashboard", online: https://www.bonsucro.com/certified-members-3/, viewed in January 2021.
- 172 Guatemala Sugar for Good (n.d.), "About us", online: http://sugarforgood.com/about-us/#associated-mills, viewed in January 2021.
- 173 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Guatemala 2015.
- 174 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Guatemala", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 175 Tay, K. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Guatemala, USDA GAIN Report GT2020-0003.
- 176 Cutz, L., Tomei, J. and L.A.H. Nogueira (2020, October), "Understanding the failures in developing domestic ethanol markets: Unpacking the ethanol paradox in Guatemala", *Energy Policy*, Vol. 145.

- 177 Central America Data (2020, February), "Sugar: Guatemala Loses for Lack of FTA with Korea", online: https://en.centralamericadata.com/en/article/home/Sugar_Guatemala_Loses_for_Lack_of_FTA_with_Korea, viewed in January 2021.
- 178 Tay, K. (2019, April), Sugar Annual Guatemala New Varieties Paying Off with Increased Yield, USDA GAIN Report GT19003, p. 7.
- 179 Velix, C. and Aguila, D. (2020, March), "Agexport: Crisis del COVID-19 es una oportunidad para exportaciones", online: https://lahora.gt/agexport-crisis-del-covid-19-es-una-oportunidad-para-exportaciones/, viewed in January 2021.
- 180 Central America Data (2020, October), "Agriculture: Challenges in Times of Pandemic", online: https://en.centralamericadata.com/en/article/home/Agriculture_Challenges_in_Times_of_Pandemic, viewed in January 2021.
- 181 Wage Indicator (2020), "Minimum Wage Guatemala", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/minimumwage/guatemala, viewed in October 2020
- 182 CNV Internationaal (2016), Condiciones Socio-Laborales en la Industria del Azúcar en Guatemala Estudio de Campo, p. 11.
- 183 Global Living Wage Coalition (2019, September), "Living Wage Update: September 2019 rural Guatemala Central Departments", online: https://www.globallivingwage.org/living-wage-benchmarks/rural-guatemala/, viewed in January 2021.
- 184 Aarts, V. and R. Glass (eds.) (2015), Give Them a Break: The Bitter Consequences of Poor Working Conditions in the Central American Sugarcane Industry, FairFood International, CNV Internationaal, ICAES, p. 12.
- 185 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 72.
- 186 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 42..
- 187 SER San Antonio (n.d.), "Azúcar", online: http://www.nicaraguasugar.com/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=24&Itemid=121, viewed in January 2021.
- 188 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 189 Romero, J. (2021, January), "Sectores económicos expectantes ante posible llegada de vacuna contra el Covid-19 a Nicaragua", online: https://www.vostv.com.ni/economia/16011-sectores-economicos-expectantes-con-llegada-de-vac/, viewed in January 2021.
- 190 SER San Antonio (n.d.), "Azúcar", online: http://www.nicaraguasugar.com/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=24&Itemid=121, viewed in January 2021.
- 191 Bolaños, J. (2019, April 12), Nicaragua Sugar Annual, USDA GAIN Report.
- 192 Aarts, V. and R. Glass (eds.) (2015), Give Them a Break: The Bitter Consequences of Poor Working Conditions in the Central American Sugarcane Industry, FairFood International, CNV Internationaal, ICAES, p. 20.
- 193 SER San Antonio (n.d.), "Energía", online: http://www.nicaraguasugar.com/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=5&Itemid=127, viewed in January 2021.
- 194 Gestión Agropecuaria Profesional (2018, July), *Review on Child and Forced Labor and Land Rights in Nicaragua's Sugar Industry*, Prepared for The Coca-Cola Company, p. 15.
- 195 SER San Antonio (n.d.), "Producción industrial", online: http://www.nicaraguasugar.com/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=7&Itemid=177, viewed in January 2021.
- 196 Grupo Pantalón (n.d.), "Our operations", online: https://www.pantaleon.com/?lang=en#mapa-de-operaciones, viewed in January 2021.
- 197 Marín, F.R. et al. (2018), Modelaciónde la Caña de Azúcar en Latinoamérica, JRC Science Hub, p. 28.
- 198 Bonsucro (n.d.), "Bonsucro Certified Entities Dashboard', online: http://www.bonsucro.com/certified-members-3/,

viewed in January 2021.

- 199 CNPA (n.d.), "Quiénes somos", online: https://cnpa.com.ni/#, viewed in January 2021.
- 200 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Peru", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 201 Morin, J. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Nicaragua, USDA GAIN Report NU2020-0004.
- 202 Central America Data (2020, February), "Sugar: Guatemala Loses for Lack of FTA with Korea", online: https://en.centralamericadata.com/en/article/home/Sugar_Guatemala_Loses_for_Lack_of_FTA_with_Korea, viewed in January 2021.
- 203 Shipment data for 2019/20, available to Profundo
- 204 FUNIDES (2020), "Impactos del COVID-19 y recomendaciones a corto plazo para el sector agropecuario", online: https://funides.com/notas-informativas/impactos-del-covid-19-y-recomendaciones-a-corto-plazo-para-el-sectoragropecuario/, viewed in January 2021.
- 205 Romero, J. (2021, January), "Sectores económicos expectantes ante posible llegada de vacuna contra el Covid-19 a Nicaragua", online: https://www.vostv.com.ni/economia/16011-sectores-economicos-expectantes-con-llegada-de-vac/, viewed in January 2021.
- 206 WageIndicator (2021), "Minimum Wage Nicaragua", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/minimumwage/nicaragua, viewed in January 2021.
- 207 Global Living Wage Coalition (2021), "Living Wage Update 2020, Northwest Nicaragua", online: https://www.globallivingwage.org/living-wage-benchmarks/northwest-nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.
- 208 Bejarano, M. (2017, March 13), "Más de 35,000 empleos genera la industria azucarera", online: https://www.elnuevodiario.com.ni/economia/421527-mas-35-000-empleos-genera-zafra-azucarera/, viewed in January 2021.
- 209 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 210 Nolte, G.E. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Peru 2020, USDA GAIN Report PE2020-0015.
- 211 Marín, F.R. et al. (2018), Modelaciónde la Caña de Azúcar en Latinoamérica, JRC Science Hub, p. 22.
- 212 Nolte, G.E. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Peru 2020, USDA GAIN Report PE2020-0015.
- 213 Nolte, G.E. (2020, October), Biofuels Annual Peru, USDA GAIN Report PE2020-030.
- 214 Renewables Now (2020, June 25), "Renewables produce 6.2% of Peru's power in May", online: https://renewablesnow.com/news/renewables-produce-62-of-perus-power-in-may-704017/, viewed in January 2020.
- 215 APAAD (2018), Quienes Somos, p. 10.
- 216 COAZUCAR (n.d.), "Quienes somos", online: http://www.coazucar.com/esp/coazucar_nosotros.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 217 Class & Asociados (2020, June), Corporación Azucarera del Peru S.A. y Subsidiarias, p. 6.
- 218 COAZUCAR (n.d.), "Bienvenidos", online: http://www.coazucar.com/esp/index.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 219 Nolte, G.E. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Peru 2020, USDA GAIN Report PE2020-0015.
- 220 The Coca-Cola Company (2020, April), Nestlé Supply Chain Disclosure: Sugar (Snapshot December 2019).
- 221 APAAD (n.d.), "Nosotros", online: https://www.apaad.org/, viewed in January 2021.
- 222 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Peru", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 223 Nolte, G.E. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Peru 2020, USDA GAIN Report PE2020-0015.
- 224 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Peru", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 225 Office of the United States Trade Representative (n.d.), "Sugar", online: https://ustr.gov/issueareas/agriculture/sugar, viewed in January 2021.

- 226 El Comercio (2019, June), "APAAD: Los productores de azúcar están en una situación de incertidumbre", online : https://elcomercio.pe/economia/peru/apaad-productores-azucar-situacion-incertidumbre-noticia-nndc-650415noticia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 227 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Peru", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 228 Gestión (2020, July), "Minagri: sector agropecuario creció 0.6% en abril, pese a impacto del coronavirus", online: https://gestion.pe/economia/coronavirus-peru-minagri-sector-agropecuario-crecio-06-en-abril-pese-a-impacto-delcoronavirus-nndc-noticia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 229 Saavedra, B. (2020), "Industria de alcohol en el Perú: ¿Cómo le ha ido durante la pandemia?", online : https://infomercado.pe/industria-de-alcohol-en-el-peru-como-le-ha-ido-durante-la-pandemia-bs/, viewed in January 2021.
- 230 *RPP* (2020, June), "Chiclayo: Trabajadores de Agropucalá denuncian que son obligados a viajar aglomerados en buses", online : https://rpp.pe/peru/lambayeque/coronavirus-en-peru-chiclayo-trabajadores-de-agropucaladenuncian-que-son-obligados-a-viajar-aglomerados-en-buses-sin-respetar-distanciamiento-social-lambayequenoticia-1271982?ref=rpp, viewed in January 2021.
- 231 ILO (n.d.), "Salarios mínimos fijados por ley. El ejemplo de Perú", online: https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/wages/minimum-wages/setting-machinery/WCMS_535695/lang--es/index.htm, viewed in October 2020.
- 232 Plataforma única del estado Peruano (2018, April 4), "Valor Remuneración Mínima Vital", online: https://www.gob.pe/476-valor-remuneracion-minima-vital, viewed in October 2020.
- 233 INEI (2019), Perú: Evolución de los indicadores de empleo e ingreso por departamento, 2007-2018, online: https://www.inei.gob.pe/media/MenuRecursivo/publicaciones_digitales/Est/Lib1678/libro.pdf, viewed in October 2020.
- 234 Cartavio (2021, March), Memoria del Directorio Año 2020, p. 11; San Jacinto (2020, July), Memoria del Directorio Año 2019, p. 11; Casa Grande (2021, March), Memoria del Directorio Año 2020, p. 11.
- 235 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 236 *Phnom Penh Post* (2018), "Sugarcane a 'huge potential for farmers', online: https://www.phnompenhpost.com/business/sugarcane-huge-potential-farmers, viewed in January 2021.
- 237 USDA Foreign Agriculture Service (2020), "Production, supply and distribution: Sugar, centrifugal Cane sugar production", online: https://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/app/index.html#/app/advQuery, viewed in January 2021.
- 238 Chan, S. (2020, September), "Sweet news for palm sugar suppliers, users", online: https://www.khmertimeskh.com/50760225/sweet-news-for-palm-sugar-suppliers-users/, viewed in January 2021.
- 239 Phnom Penh Sugar (n.d.), "Social Responsibility", online: http://phnompenhsugar.com/community/social-responsibility.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 240 *The Phnom Penh Post* (2017, March 17), "Sugar slowly moves to market", online: https://www.phnompenhpost.com/business/sugar-slowly-moves-market, viewed in January 2021.
- 241 *The Phnom Penh Post* (2017, March 17), "Sugar slowly moves to market", online: https://www.phnompenhpost.com/business/sugar-slowly-moves-market, viewed in January 2021.
- 242 International Sugar Journal (2020, February 13), "Cambodia New US\$360 million cane sugar factory mothballed".
- 243 VOA Cambodia (2020, February 4), "Massive Chinese sugarcane firm disappears from Preah Vihear", online: https://www.voacambodia.com/a/massive-chinese-sugarcane-firm-disappears-from-preah-vihear/5273014.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 244 Jirojmontree, C. (2020, June 5), "Sre Ambel' Sugar Industry: Perpetually Embittered and Non-Existent Land Rights of Koh Kong People in Cambodia", *Green News Agency*, online: https://greennews.agency/?p=21169, viewed in January 2021.
- 245 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Cambodia", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 246 UNCTAD (2005, April 11), Effects of the 'Everything but Arms' Initiative on the Sugar Industries of the Least Developed Countries, pp. 3-4.

- 247 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021...
- 248 Equitable Cambodia and Inclusive Development International (2013), *Bittersweet Harvest: A Human Rights Impact* Assessment of the European Union's Everything But Arms Initiative in Cambodia, p. 22.
- 249 European Commission (2020, August 12), "Cambodia loses duty-free access to the EU market over human rights concerns", online: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_1469, viewed in January 2021; European Commission (2020, February 12), Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2020/550, Official Journal of the European Union, L 127/1.
- 250 High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy (2020, February 10), *Report on Enhanced Engagement With Three Everything But Arms Beneficiary Countries: Bangladesh, Cambodia and Myanmar*, European Commission Joint Staff Working Document, SWD(2020) 19 Final, p. 19; European Parliament (2019), *'Everything But Arms': The Case of Cambodia*.
- 251 Inclusive Development International (2020, February 26), "ANZ agrees to landmark settlement with Cambodian farmers displaced by sugar company it financed", online: https://www.inclusivedevelopment.net/cambodia/anz-agrees-to-landmark-settlement-with-cambodian-farmers-displaced-by-sugar-company-it-financed/, viewed in January 2021; Equitable Cambodia and Inclusive Development International (2013). Bittersweet Harvest: A Human Rights Impact

Assessment of the European Union's Everything But Arms Initiative in Cambodia; Sotheary, P. (2018, July 2), "Land dispute settled in Koh Kong", Khmer Times, online: https://www.khmertimeskh.com/507031/land-dispute-settled-in-koh-kong/, viewed in January 2021.

- 252 European Commission (2020, February 12), *Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2020/550*, Official Journal of the European Union, L 127/1.
- 253 Ang, L. (2020, July), "Will Cambodia's shift in focus to small-scale farming work?", online: https://thediplomat.com/2020/07/will-cambodias-shift-in-focus-to-small-scale-farming-work/, viewed in January 2021.
- 254 Khmer Times (2020), "IDEA asks the government to help informal workers", online: https://www.khmertimeskh.com/723284/idea-asks-the-government-to-help-informal-workers/, viewed in January 2021.
- 255 WageIndicator (2021), "Minimum Wage Cambodia", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/minimumwage/cambodia-1, viewed in January 2021.
- 256 Arnold, D. (2017), Political Space and Cambodia's Plantations Internal Report, p. 6.
- 257 WageIndicator (2018), "Living Wage Series Cambodia January 2018 In Riel, per Month", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/living-wage/archive-no-index/cambodia-living-wage-series-january-2018-countryoverview, viewed in January 2021.
- 258 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021.
- 259 Global Business Guide Indonesia (2016), "Indonesia's sugar industry overview: Still a long way from self-sufficiency", online: http://www.gbgindonesia.com/en/agriculture/article/2016/indonesia_s_sugar_industry_overview_still_a_long_way _from_self_sufficiency_11463.php#:~:text=Aging%20factories%2C%20low%20productivity&text=With%20productio n%20ranging%20from%202.5,estimated%20at%2025%20trillion%20IDR., viewed in December 2020.
- 260 Meylinah, S. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-008.
- 261 McDonald, G. and S. Meylinah (2019, April), Indonesia Sugar Annual Report 2019, USDA GAIN Report ID1908.
- 262 Meylinah, S. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-008.
- 263 Sulaiman, A.A., Sulaeman, Y., Mustikasari, N., Nursyamsi, D., and A.M. Syakir (2019), "Increasing sugar production in Indonesia through land suitability analysis and sugar mill restructuring", *Land*, *8*(4), 61.
- 264 Jakarta Post (2020, April 6), "Indonesia's biofuel plan in limbo as problems in sugarcane production mount", online: https://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2020/04/06/indonesias-biofuel-plan-in-limbo-as-problems-in-sugarcaneproduction-mount.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 265 McDonald, G. (2020, August), Biofuels Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-0016.
- 266 BioEnergy Consult (2021, January 7), "Biomass energy in Indonesia", online: https://www.bioenergyconsult.com/biomass-energy-resources-in-indonesia/, viewed in January 2021.

- 267 Global Business Guide Indonesia (2016), "Indonesia's sugar industry overview: Still a long way from self-sufficiency", online: http://www.gbgindonesia.com/en/agriculture/article/2016/indonesia_s_sugar_industry_overview_still_a_long_way _from_self_sufficiency_11463.php#:~:text=Aging%20factories%2C%20low%20productivity&text=With%20productio n%20ranging%20from%202.5,estimated%20at%2025%20trillion%20IDR., viewed in December 2020.
- 268 BioEnergy Consult (2021, January 7), "Biomass energy in Indonesia", online: https://www.bioenergyconsult.com/biomass-energy-resources-in-indonesia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 269 Meylinah, S. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-008.
- 270 Hartono, S. (2017), "Identifying opportunities in Indonesian sugar refinery industry", Sugar Indonesia: The Related Industries, Technologies, and Impact to the Nation, August 15, Surabaya Grand City Convex.
- 271 Bonsucro (n.d.), "Bonsucro Certified Entities Dashboard", online: http://www.bonsucro.com/certified-members-3/, viewed in January 2021.
- 272 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 273 AGI (n.d.), "Sejarah", online: https://asosiasigulaindonesia.org/sejarah/, viewed in January 2021.
- 274 APTRI (n.d.), "Sejarah", online: https://www.aptri.or.id/sejarah/, viewed in January 2021.
- 275 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Indonesia", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020; Meylinah, S. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-008.
- 276 *Reuters* (2012, November 20), "Indoneisa sugar refining capacity to rise by a third", online: https://cn.reuters.com/article/indonesia-sugar-idUKL4N09014L20121120, viewed in January 2021.
- 277 Sulaiman, A.A., Sulaeman, Y., Mustikasari, N., Nursyamsi, D. and A.M. Syakir (2019, April), "Increasing sugar production in Indonesia through land suitability analysis and sugar mill restructuring", *Land*, Vol.8, 61.
- 278 McDonald, G. (2020, August), Biofuels Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-0016.
- 279 McDonald, G. (2020, August), Biofuels Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-0016.
- 280 Meylinah, S. (2020, April), Sugar Annual Indonesia 2020, USDA GAIN Report ID2020-008.
- 281 Bhwana, P. (2020, April), "Sugar Deficit, Association Asks for Reduced Consumption", *Tempo*, online: https://en.tempo.co/read/1336862/sugar-deficit-association-asks-for-reduced-consumption, viewed in January 2021.
- 282 Brunnersum, M. (2020), "What Indonesia's labor reforms mean for workers' rights, the environment", DW, online: https://www.dw.com/en/indonesia-labor-reforms-hit-workers-environment/a-55204313, viewed in January 2021.
- 283 ILO (2003), Act of the Republic of Indonesia Number 12 Year 2003, Concerning Manpower.
- 284 Asia Briefing (2021), "Indonesia Minimum Wage 2021", online: https://www.aseanbriefing.com/news/wpcontent/uploads/2020/12/Indonesia-Minimum-Wage-2021.jpg, viewed in January 2021.
- 285 WageIndicator (2018), "Living Wage Series Indonesia January 2018", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/living-wage/indonesia-living-wage-series-january-2018-country-overview, viewed in January 2021.
- 286 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020, p. 14.
- 287 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020, p.9.
- 288 FAOStat (2021), "Production Crops", online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC, viewed in January 2021..
- 289 Phu Hung Securities (2019, November), Thanh Thanh Cong Bien Hoa Joint Stock Company, p. 3.
- 290 USDA Foreign Agriculture Service (2020), "Production, supply and distribution: Sugar, centrifugal Cane sugar production", online: https://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/app/index.html#/app/advQuery, viewed in December 2020.
- 291 SGGP News (2020, November), "Unstableness of domestic sugar industry", online: https://sggpnews.org.vn/business/unstableness-of-domestic-sugar-industry-89199.html, viewed in January 2021.

- 292 Anh Tú, N. and N. T. Khanh (2017), *Business Directory on Sugar Industry in Viet Nam*, Hanoi, Vietnam: GIZ Energy Support Programme Unit, p. 12.
- 293 GIZ (2018), Sweetening the Deal for Biomass Energy in Viet Nam's Sugar Industry, p. 3.
- 294 Vietnam+ (2019, April), "Power plant's use of sugarcane bagasse raises farmers' incomes", online: https://en.vietnamplus.vn/power-plants-use-of-sugarcane-bagasse-raises-farmers-incomes/150970.vnp, viewed in January 2021.
- 295 Anh Tú, N. and N. T. Khanh (2017), *Business Directory on Sugar Industry in Viet Nam*, Hanoi, Vietnam: GIZ Energy Support Programme Unit, p. 7.
- 296 TTC Group (n.d.), "Agriculture Overview", online: https://www.ttcgroup.vn/en/business-sector/agriculture/, viewed in January 2021.
- 297 The Coca-Cola Company (2020, April), Nestlé Supply Chain Disclosure: Sugar (Snapshot December 2019).
- 298 ITC Trademap (2020), "List of importing markets for a product exported by Vietnam", online: https://www.trademap.org/, viewed in December 2020.
- 299 Nguyen, M. (2020, September), "EU to exempt import duties for 20,000 tonnes of Vietnamese raw sugar per year under EVFTA", Vietnam Times, online: https://vietnamtimes.org.vn/eu-to-exempt-import-duties-for-20000-tonnesof-vietnamese-raw-sugar-per-year-under-evfta-24639.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 300 Vietnam Investment Review (2019), "Thanh Thanh Cong Sugar's ambition to conquer ASEAN and EU sugar markets", online: https://www.vir.com.vn/thanh-thanh-cong-sugars-ambition-to-conquer-asean-and-eu-sugar-markets-65116.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 301 Anh, P. (2020, December), "Sugar producers accuse Thai firms of dumping", VN Express, online: https://e.vnexpress.net/news/business/industries/sugar-producers-accuse-thai-firms-of-dumping-4200294.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 302 VN Explorer (2020), "Sugar industry in difficulty due to a double crisis", online: https://vnexplorer.net/sugarindustry-in-difficulty-due-to-a-double-crisis-a202034502.html, viewed in January 2021; VCCI (2020, September 30), "Measures thrashed out to protect sugar farmers", online: https://en.vcci.com.vn/measures-thrashed-out-to-protect-sugar-farmers, viewed in January 2021.
- 303 Viêt Nam News (2020, February), "PM tells sugar firms it's time to sink or swim", online: https://vietnamnews.vn/economy/602416/pm-tells-sugar-firms-its-time-to-sink-or-swim.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 304 Viêt Nam News (2020, May), "Sugarcane farmers in Sóc Trăng Province unable to sell crop", online: https://vietnamnews.vn/society/717226/sugarcane-farmers-in-soc-trang-province-unable-to-sell-crop.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 305 Sen (2020, May), "Street vendors struggle to earn livelihood as pandemic hits tourism", VN Express, online: https://e.vnexpress.net/news/news/street-vendors-struggle-to-earn-livelihood-as-pandemic-hits-tourism-4101892.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 306 Quy, N. (2021, January), "32.1 million Vietnamese workers hurt by Covid-19 in 2020", VN Express, online: https://e.vnexpress.net/news/news/32-1-million-vietnamese-workers-hurt-by-covid-19-in-2020-4217091.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 307 WageIndicator (2021), "Minimum Wage Vietnam", online: https://wageindicator.org/salary/minimumwage/vietnam, viewed in January 2021.
- 308 Global Living Wage Coalition (2020), "Living Wage for Economic Zone 4 Rural Vietnam", online: https://www.globallivingwage.org/living-wage-benchmarks/rural-vietnam/.
- 309 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/.
- 310 Jenkins, B., Baptista, P. and M. Porth (2015), Collaborating for Change in Sugar Production: Building Blocks for Sustainability at Scale, Cambridge, U.S.: Harvard Kennedy School, p. 15.
- 311 Personal communication with N. Tuñón (Bonsucro), January 2021.

- 312 ISO (2019), "Survey of Domestic Prices for Sugar (MECAS(19)05)", online: https://www.isosugar.org/publication/159/survey-of-domestic-prices-for-sugar-(mecas(19)05), viewed January 2021.
- 313 Shell (n.d.), "Biofuels", online: https://www.shell.com/energy-and-innovation/newenergies/biofuels.html#iframe=L3dlYmFwcHMvMjAx0V9CaW9mdWVsc19pbnRlcmFjdGl2ZV9tYXAv, viewed January 2021.
- 314 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX Ratifications for Bolivia (Plurinational State of)", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102567, viewed in January 2021.
- 315 OAS (2011), Constitución Política del Estado (CPE) (7-Febrero-2009).
- 316 ILO (n.d.), "Decreto Supremo de 24 de mayo de 1939, por el que se dicta la Ley General del Trabajo, elevado a ley el 8 de diciembre de 1942.(en su tenor actualizado hasta 1992).", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/WEBTEXT/46218/65057/S92BOL01.htm, viewed in January 2021.
- 317 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 318 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Bolivia", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 319 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Bolivia", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 320 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 321 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index: The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 322 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index: The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 323 *Página 12* (2020, July), "Encontraron muerto a un trabajador dentro del Ingenio El Tabacal", online: https://www.pagina12.com.ar/279340-encontraron-muerto-a-un-trabajador-dentro-del-ingenio-el-tab, viewed in January 2021.
- 324 Montaño, R. (2020, April), "Más de doscientos trabajadores de IABSA no cobran sueldo desde diciembre", *El Periodico*, online : https://www.elperiodico-digital.com/2020/04/28/mas-de-doscientos-trabajadores-de-iabsa-no-cobran-sueldo-desde-diciembre/, viewed in January 2021.
- 325 OISS (2018, November), Trabajadores de la caña de azúcar, p. 3.
- 326 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX Ratifications for Bolivia (Plurinational State of)", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102567, viewed in January 2021.
- 327 Ulandssekretariatet (2021), Labour Market Profile Bolivia 2021.
- 328 Flores, E. (2020, December), "Unos 140 trabajadores del ingenio Guabirá vencen el Covid-19", *El Deber*, online: https://eldeber.com.bo/economia/unos-140-trabajadores-del-ingenio-guabira-vencen-el-covid-19_195536, viewed in January 2021.
- 329 Flores, E. (2020, December), "Unos 140 trabajadores del ingenio Guabirá vencen el Covid-19", *El Deber*, online: https://eldeber.com.bo/economia/unos-140-trabajadores-del-ingenio-guabira-vencen-el-covid-19_195536, viewed in January 2021.
- 330 Pasquali, M. (2020), "Bolivia: informal employment share 2011-2018", *Statista*, online: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1039899/informal-employment-share-bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 331 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 332 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 333 CATIBERO (2018, November), Niñas/Niños y Adolescentes Trabajadores de la Calle en Cochabamba (Bolivia), p. 328.

- 334 OISS (2018, November), Trabajadores de la caña de azúcar, p. 3.
- 335 Ávila, P. (2020), Derechos Laborales en la Explotación de Caña de Azúcar: Principal Materia Prima de las Exportaciones de Alcohol Etílico a la Unión Europea Bajo el SGP+, La Paz, Bolivia: CEDLA.
- 336 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX Ratifications for Bolivia (Plurinational State of)", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102567, viewed in January 2021.
- 337 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 338 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 339 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Bolivia, online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/bolivia/", viewed in January 2021.
- 340 Kugler, A. (2019), IMF Working Paper: Impacts of Labor Market Institutions and Demographic Factors on Labor Markets in Latin America, p. 13.
- 341 Ulandssekretariatet (2021), Labour Market Profile Bolivia 2021, p. 7.
- 342 IUF (2020), "IUF affiliates", online: http://pre2020.iuf.org/w/?q=node/3439, viewed in January 2021.
- 343 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX Ratifications for Bolivia (Plurinational State of)", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102567, viewed in January 2021.
- 344 Ulandssekretariatet (2021), Labour Market Profile Bolivia 2021, p. 9.
- 345 Ulandssekretariatet (2021), Labour Market Profile Bolivia 2021, p. 10.
- 346 Los Tiempos (2019), "Unicef reporta que 5 mil infantes dejaron de trabajar en 13 años", online : https://www.lostiempos.com/actualidad/economia/20190819/unicef-reporta-que-5-mil-infantes-dejaron-trabajar-13-anos, viewed in January 2021.
- 347 Solidar Suiza (n.d.), "Antecedentes", online: https://www.solidar-suiza.org.bo/antecedentes.php , viewed in March 2021.
- 348 Solidaridad (n.d.), "Desarrollo sostenible de la cadena de la caña de azúcar en Bolivia y Argentina", online: https://www.solidaridadsouthamerica.org/es/proyectos/desarrollo-sostenible-de-la-cadena-de-la-ca%C3%B1a-deaz%C3%BAcar-en-bolivia-y-argentina, viewed in January 2021.
- 349 Eju (2020, August), "Impulsan el 'Triple Sello', certificación para empresas que luchan contra el trabajo infantil", online: https://eju.tv/2020/09/impulsan-el-triple-sello-certificacion-para-empresas-que-luchan-contra-el-trabajoinfantil/, viewed in January 2021.
- 350 ILO, "Ratifications for Colombia," online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102595, viewed in October 2020.
- 351 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Labour Market Colombia Profile 2020-2021.
- 352 ILO-Natlex (2014), "Colombia (593)", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.countrySubjects?p_lang=en&p_country=COL, viewed in December 2020.
- 353 ILO, "Ratifications for Colombia," online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102595, viewed on 8th October 2020.
- 354 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Labour Market Colombia Profile 2020-2021, page 21.
- 355 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor.
- 356 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor.
- 357 Torres Tovar, M. (2020), "Trabajo infantile: más frecuente en la informalidad rural que en la agroindustria", UN *Periódico*, online: https://unperiodico.unal.edu.co/pages/detail/trabajo-infantil-mas-frecuente-en-la-informalidadrural-que-en-la-agroindustria/, viewed in January 2021.

- 358 ILO, "Ratifications for Colombia," online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102595, viewed on 8th October 2020.
- 359 Corte Constitucional (n.d.), "Sentencia C-1491/00, Derecho de Asociación Sindical", online: https://www.corteconstitucional.gov.co/relatoria/2000/C-1491-00.htm#:~:text=El%20derecho%20de%20asociaci%C3%B3n%20sindical,y%20los%20una%20en%20defensa, viewed in December 2020.
- 360 ITUC (2014), "Survey of violations of trade union rights Colombia", online: https://survey.ituccsi.org/Colombia.html?lang=en#tabs-2, viewed in December 2020.
- 361 ENS (2018), The Precarious state of labour rights in Colombia. Resolution 2628 of the European Parliament.
- 362 ITUC (2014), "Survey of violations of trade union rights Colombia", online: https://survey.ituccsi.org/Colombia.html?lang=en#tabs-2, viewed in December 2020.
- 363 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index. The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 364 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 365 ILO, "Ratifications for Colombia," online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102595, viewed on October 2020.
- 366 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 367 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 368 Gallo O, Hawkins D, Luna-García J. E, Torres-Tovar M. (2020), « Producción de aceite de palma en Colombia: ¿trabajo decente y saludable? » *Rev Cienc Salud*, *18*(2):1-23.
- 369 ENS (2019), El Sindicalismo en el Sector Palmero.
- 370 Martínez, L. (2020, October), "Este es el panorama de la salud de los trabajadores de la caña de azúcar en Colombia", Agencia de Información Laboral, online : https://ail.ens.org.co/opinion/este-es-el-panorama-de-la-salud-de-los-trabajadores-de-la-cana-de-azucar-en-colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 371 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 372 Legis (n.d.), "Estos son los derechos laborales de los inmigrantes en Colombia", online: http://www.tiendalegis.com/Noticias/estos-son-los-derechos-laborales-de-los-inmigrantes-encolombia.asp?utm_campaign=noticias&utm_source=post&utm_medium=twitter, viewed in December 2020.
- 373 Farné, S., Sanín, C. (2020), Panorama Laboral de los Migrantes Venezolanos en Colombia 2014-2019.
- 374 ILO (2020), Personas Refugiadas y Migrantes Venezolanas en América Latina y el Caribe, Respuesta de la OIT, Actualización COVID-19.
- 375 Prada, C., Chaves, S. (2018), "Health system structure and transformations in Colombia between 1990 and 2013: a socio-historical study", *Critical Public Health*, *29*(3): 314-324.
- 376 Mendieta González, D. Jaramillo, C. E. (2020), "El sistema general de seguridad social en salud de Colombia. Universal, pero ineficiente: a propósito de los veinticinco años de su creación", *Revista latinoamericana de derecho social*, https://doi.org/10.22201/iij.24487899e.2019.29.13905.
- 377 ILO, "Ratifications for Colombia," online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102595, viewed on 8th October 2020.
- 378 ILO-NATLEX (2014), "Colombia. Equality of opportunity and treatment", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.listResults?p_lang=en&p_country=COL&p_count=593&p_classification=05&

p_classcount=27, viewed in December 2020.

- 379 Nuvaez Castillo, J. J. (2020), "La discriminación laboral en razón del género y la edad en Colombia", *Revista Arbitrada Interdisciplinaria Koinonía*, 4(7).
- 380 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 381 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 382 Kugler, A. (2019), Impacts of Labor Market Institutions and Demographic Factors on Labor Markets in Latin America, IMF Working Paper, p. 13.
- 383 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Labour Market Colombia Profile 2020-2021, page 21.
- 384 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Labour Market Colombia Profile 2020-2021.
- 385 ITUC (2019), List of affiliated organisations, online: https://www.ituccsi.org/IMG/pdf/list_of_affiliates_nov_2019.pdf, viewed in November 2020.
- 386 IUF (n.d.), "Colombia", online: https://www.iuf.org/who-we-are/affiliates/colombia/, viewed in December 2020.
- 387 ILO (n.d.), "Colombia. Fortalecimiento de capacidades institucionales para prevenir y resolver conflictos mediante diálogo social", online: https://www.ilo.org/lima/programas-y-proyectos/WCMS_732998/lang--es/index.htm, viewed in December 2020.
- 388 ILO (2020), Sistema de alerta temprana conflictos laborales. Para subcomisiones departamentales de concertación de políticas salariales y laborales en Colombia.
- 389 ILO (2020), Sistema de alerta temprana conflictos laborales. Para subcomisiones departamentales de concertación de políticas salariales y laborales en Colombia.
- 390 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 391 Semana (2020, January 28), "Esta es la estrategia el Gobierno para atajar el desempleo", online: https://www.semana.com/pais/articulo/esta--es-la-estrategia-el-gobierno-para-atajar-el-desempleo/281198/, viewed in January 2021.
- 392 LNV (2020), Agricultura Circular; lo que une a Colombia con los Países Bajos.
- 393 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 394 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Colombia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/colombia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 395 The Nature Conservancy (2017), Local Spotlight, Cauca Valley, Colombia-A Range of Well-Being Benefits.
- 396 Solidaridad (n.d.), "Sugarcane", online: https://www.solidaridadnetwork.org/supply-chains/sugarcane, viewed in January 2021.
- 397 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Guatemala", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102667, viewed in January 2021.
- 398 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Guatemala", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102667, viewed in January 2021.
- 399 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Guatemala", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/guatemala, viewed in October 2020.
- 400 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Guatemala", online:

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/guatemala, viewed in October 2020.

- 401 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Guatemala", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/guatemala, viewed in October 2020.
- 402 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 30.
- 403 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 55.
- 404 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 55.
- 405 ILO (n.d.), "Ratifications for Guatemala", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102667, viewed in October 2020.
- 406 Civicus (2020), "NGO oversight law limits and restricts freedom of association in Guatemala", online: https://monitor.civicus.org/updates/2020/03/09/ngo-oversight-law-limits-and-restricts-freedom-associationguatemala/, viewed in January 2021.
- 407 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index. The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 408 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 66.
- 409 Labardor, G., Villagrán, X., Sánchez, R. and J. Alvarado (2017, April 25), "El cartel del azúcar de Guatemala", *El Faro*, online: https://elfaro.net/es/201704/centroamerica/20091/El-cartel-del-az%C3%BAcar-de-Guatemala.htm, viewed in January 2021.
- 410 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Guatemala", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102667, viewed in January 2021.
- 411 Castellanos-Navarrete, A., Tobar-Tomás, W. V., & López-Monzón, C. E. (2019), "Development without change: Oil palm labour regimes, development narratives, and disputed moral economies in Mesoamerica", *Journal of Rural Studies*, 71, 169-180.
- 412 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 82.
- 413 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p.76.
- 414 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 83.
- 415 Román, J. and Ruiz, V. (2021, January), "Ultiman a tres empleados de una finca de caña de azúcar en Retalhuleu", online : https://www.prensalibre.com/ciudades/retalhuleu/ultiman-a-tres-empleados-de-una-finca-de-cana-de-azucar-en-retalhuleu/, viewed in January 2021.
- 416 Instituto Nacional de Estadística Guatemala (n.d.), "Encuesta nacional de empleo e ingresos", online : https://www.ine.gob.gt/ine/estadisticas/bases-de-datos/encuesta-nacional-de-empleo-e-ingresos/, viewed in January 2021.
- 417 Oficina Económica y Comercial de España en Guatemala (2019, May), Informe Económico y Comercial. Guatemala, p. 7.
- 418 Oficina Económica y Comercial de España en Guatemala (2019, May), *Informe Económico y Comercial. Guatemala*, p. 23.
- 419 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 30.
- 420 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 56.
- 421 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Guatemala", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102667, viewed in

January 2021.

- 422 UNDP (2018), "Gender Inequality Index", online: http://hdr.undp.org/en/composite/GII, viewed in November 2020.
- 423 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research.
- 424 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research.
- 425 ILOSTAT (n.d.), "Country Profiles: Guatemala", online: https://ilostat.ilo.org/data/country-profiles/, viewed in October 2020.
- 426 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 66.
- 427 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 66.
- 428 Verité (2017), Risk Analysis of Labor Violations Among Farmworkers in the Guatemalan Sugar Sector: A Report on Findings from Rapid Appraisal Research, p. 66.
- 429 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Guatemala 2015.
- 430 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Guatemala 2015.
- 431 *Diario de Centro América* (2020, October 7), "Gobierno define plan para garantizar derechos laborales", online: https://dca.gob.gt/noticias-guatemala-diario-centro-america/gobierno-define-plan-para-garantizar-derechoslaborales/, viewed in January 2021.
- 432 CUC (2008), "¿QUIENES SOMOS?", online: http://www.cuc.org.gt/web25/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=5&Itemid=160, viewed in January 2021.
- 433 Solidaridad (2020, September), "Sustainable practices in sugarcane for smallholders", online: https://www.solidaridadnetwork.org/news/sustainable-practices-in-sugarcane-for-smallholders, viewed in January 2021.
- 434 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Nicaragua", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102780, viewed in January 2021.
- 435 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Nicaragua, p. 3-4.
- 436 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Nicaragua, p. 3-4.
- 437 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Nicaragua", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102780, viewed in January 2021.
- 438 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Nicaragua", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/nicaragua, viewed in January 2021.
- 439 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Nicaragua", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/nicaragua, viewed in January 2021.
- 440 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Nicaragua", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/nicaragua, viewed in January 2021.
- 441 La Isla Foundation (2015), Cycle of Sickness: A Survey Report on Child Labor in the Nicaraguan Sugarcane Fields of Ingenio San Antonio.
- 442 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Nicaragua", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102780, viewed in January 2021.
- 443 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.
- 444 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online:

https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.

- 445 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Nicaragua", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102780, viewed in January 2021.
- 446 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.
- 447 Hansson, E., Glaser, J., Weiss, I., Ekström, U., Apelqvist, J., Hogstedt, C. & Wegman, D. H. (2019), "Workload and cross-harvest kidney injury in a Nicaraguan sugarcane worker cohort", *Occupational and environmental medicine*, 76(11), 818-826.
- 448 Aarts, V. and R. Glass (eds.) (2015), Give Them a Break: The Bitter Consequences of Poor Working Conditions in the Central American Sugarcane Industry, FairFood International, CNV Internationaal, ICAES, p. 13.
- 449 Romero, J. (2020, February), "Empleo informal continúa creciendo en Nicaragua", online: https://www.vostv.com.ni/economia/12731-empleo-informal-nicaragua-crisis/, viewed in January 2021.
- 450 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.
- 451 Selser, G. (2019, February), "Fears rise in Nicaragua over new social security overhaul", *APNews* online: https://apnews.com/article/e049398b9d9e495cb64eefe5134a4c62, viewed in January 2021.
- 452 U.S. Social Security Administration (2017), "Social Security Programs Throughout the World: The Americas, 2017", online: https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/progdesc/ssptw/2016-2017/americas/nicaragua.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 453 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Nicaragua", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/de/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102780, viewed in January 2021.
- 454 U.S. Department of State (2020), : 2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.
- 455 Kugler, A. (2019), Impacts of Labor Market Institutions and Demographic Factors on Labor Markets in Latin America, IMF Working Paper, p. 13.
- 456 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/.
- 457 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Nicaragua, p. 3.
- 458 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nicaragua", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/nicaragua/, viewed in January 2021.
- 459 IUF (2020), "IUF affiliates", online: http://pre2020.iuf.org/w/?q=node/3439, viewed in January 2021.
- 460 ITUC (2020), "List of Affiliated Organisations", online: https://www.ituccsi.org/IMG/pdf/list_of_affiliates_nov_2019.pdf, viewed in January 2021.
- 461 Rijksoverheid (n.d.), "Bij wie kunt u als ondernemer terecht in Nicaragua?", online: https://www.nederlandwereldwijd.nl/landen/nicaragua/zakendoen/bij-wie-kunt-u-terecht, viewed in January 2021.
- 462 *La Voz del Sandinismo* (2019, May 5), "Ministerio del trabajo de Nicaragua refrenda derechos laborales", online: https://www.lavozdelsandinismo.com/nicaragua/2019-05-22/ministerio-del-trabajo-de-nicaragua-refrendaderechos-laborales/, viewed in January 2021.
- 463 Amnesty International (2020, June 17), "Nicaragua: Organizaciones internacionales piden al presidente Ortega que cese el acoso y los despidos arbitrarios de personal sanitaria", online: https://www.amnesty.org/es/latest/news/2020/06/nicaragua-president-ortega-stop-arbitrary-dismissals-health-workers/, viewed in January 2021.

- 464 La Isla Network (n.d.), "About us", online: https://laislanetwork.org/about-us/, viewed in January 2021.
- 465 Adelante Initiative (n.d.), "About", online: https://adelanteinitiative.org/about/, viewed in January 2021.
- 466 ILO (n.d.), "Ratifications for Peru", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11200:0::NO::P11200_INSTRUMENT_SORT,P11200_COU NTRY_ID:2,102805, viewed in December 2020.
- 467 ILO (n.d.), "Ratifications for Peru", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11200:0::NO::P11200_INSTRUMENT_SORT,P11200_COU NTRY_ID:2,102805, viewed in December 2020.
- 468 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Peru", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/peru, viewed in January 2021.
- 469 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 470 IEAL (2019, September 27), "Perú es el país que más denuncias posee por violación de derechos humanos y laborales", online: http://ei-ie-al.org/noticias/peru-es-el-pais-que-mas-denuncias-posee-por-violacion-de-derechoshumanos-y-laborales, viewed in November 2020.
- 471 IEAL (2019, September 27), "Perú es el país que más denuncias posee por violación de derechos humanos y laborales", online: http://ei-ie-al.org/noticias/peru-es-el-pais-que-mas-denuncias-posee-por-violacion-de-derechoshumanos-y-laborales, viewed in October 2020.
- 472 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index. The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 473 IEAL (2019, September 27), "Perú es el país que más denuncias posee por violación de derechos humanos y laborales", online: http://ei-ie-al.org/noticias/peru-es-el-pais-que-mas-denuncias-posee-por-violacion-de-derechoshumanos-y-laborales, viewed in October 2020.
- 474 *France* 24 (2020, December), "Un trabajador rural muere en primer conflicto laboral bajo nuevo gobierno de Perú", online : https://www.france24.com/es/minuto-a-minuto/20201203-un-trabajador-rural-muere-en-primer-conflicto-laboral-bajo-nuevo-gobierno-de-per%C3%BA, viewed in January 2021.
- 475 ILO (n.d.), "Ratifications for Peru", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11200:0::NO::P11200_INSTRUMENT_SORT,P11200_COU NTRY_ID:2,102805, viewed in December 2020.
- 476 Cruz, I., and R. Huerta-Mercado (2015). Occupational Safety and Health in Peru. *Annals of global health*, 81(4), 568-575.
- 477 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 478 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 479 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 480 ILO (n.d.), "Ratifications for Peru", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11200:0::NO::P11200_INSTRUMENT_SORT,P11200_COU NTRY_ID:2,102805, viewed in December 2020.
- 481 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 482 Kugler, A. (2019), Impacts of Labor Market Institutions and Demographic Factors on Labor Markets in Latin America, IMF Working Paper, p. 33.
- 483 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 484 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Peru Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 485 ITUC (2020), "International Trade Union Confederation: List of Affiliated Organisations", online: https://www.ituccsi.org/IMG/pdf/list_of_affiliates_nov_2019.pdf, viewed in November 2020.
- 486 IUF (n.d.), "Peru", online: https://www.iuf.org/who-we-are/affiliates/peru/, viewed in December 2020.
- 487 CNTPE (n.d.), "Integrantes del Consejo Nacional de Trabajo y Promoción del Empleo", online: http://www2.trabajo.gob.pe/cntpe/fotografias/mesas-de-trabajo-cut-catp-cgtp-ctp/, viewed in October 2020.
- 488 CNTPE (n.d.), "¿Quiénes somos?, online: http://www2.trabajo.gob.pe/cntpe/quienes-somos/, viewed in October 2020.

- 489 CNTPE (n.d.), "Articulación del CNTPE y los CRTPE", online: http://www2.trabajo.gob.pe/cntpe/coordinacion-concrtpe/consejos-regionales/, viewed in October 2020.
- 490 Mondiaal FNV (2019), Diálogo Social y Trabajadores Informales. Lo que Podemos aprender en 8 casos exitosos, online: https://www.fnv.nl/getmedia/f6d9c243-0461-4d2c-b122-6bdfb9437266/Dialogo-social-y-trabajadoresinformales.pdf, viewed in October 2020.
- 491 Agroindustrias San Jacinto (2020), Memorias del Directorio 2019, p. 17.
- 492 Cartavio (2020), Memoria del Directorio año 2019.
- 493 Rijksoverheid (n.d.), "Nederland Wereldwijd Ecuador", online: https://www.nederlandwereldwijd.nl/landen/ecuador, viewed in October 2020.
- 494 Plataforma Digital Unica del Estado Peruano (2018, September 25), "Presentaron programa laboral para personas con discapacidad", online: https://www.gob.pe/institucion/conadis/noticias/21970-presentaron-programa-laboral-para-personas-con-discapacidad, viewed in January 2021.
- 495 Iniciativa Regional América Latina y Caribe Libre de Trabajo Infantil (n.d.), "Perú se suma a los países pioneros de la Alianza 8.7", online: https://www.iniciativa2025alc.org/es/Peru-se-suma-a-los-paises-pioneros-de-la-Alianza-8-7, viewed in January 2021.
- 496 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Cambodia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103055, viewed in December 2020.
- 497 ILO (n.d.), "Kram Dated March 13, 1997 On the Labor Law", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/701/labour, viewed in January 2021.
- 498 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Cambodia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103055, viewed in December 2020.
- 499 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Cambodia", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/cambodia, viewed in January 2021.
- 500 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "Child Labor and Forced Labor Reports: Cambodia", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/cambodia, viewed in January 2021.
- 501 Arnold, D. (2017), Political Space and Cambodia's Plantations Internal Report, p. 6.
- 502 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Cambodia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103055, viewed in December 2020.
- 503 ILO (n.d.), Kram Dated March 13, 1997 On the Labor Law, online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/701/labour, viewed in January 2021.
- 504 Fleischer, C. (2019), Shrinking Civil Space in Cambodia NGOs Manoeuvring and Navigating Restrictions and Insecurities in the Cambodian Pre-election Landscape, M.Sc. Thesis, The Netherlands: Wageningen University, p. 13.
- 505 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 506 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 507 FIDH (2019, December 18), "Law on Trade Unions and cases against union leaders", online: https://www.fidh.org/en/region/asia/cambodia/law-on-trade-unions-and-cases-against-union-leaders, viewed in January 2021.
- 508 U.S. Department of State (2019), 2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia, online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/.
- 509 ITUC (2020), "2020 ITUC Global Rights Index: The World's Worst Countries for Workers", online: https://www.ituccsi.org/ituc-global-rights-index-2020?lang=en, viewed in January 2021.
- 510 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Cambodia", online:

https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103055, viewed in December 2020.

- 511 ILO (n.d.), "Kram dated March 13, 1997 on the labor law", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/701/labour, viewed in January 2021.
- 512 ILO (n.d.), Kram dated March 13, 1997 on the labor law, online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/701/labour, viewed in January 2021.
- 513 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 514 Radir, A. F., Hashim, Z., Phan, K., Sao, V., and J. H. Hashim (2017), "The impact of heat on health and productivity among sugarcane workers in Kampong Cham, Cambodia", Asia Pacific Environmental and Occupational Health Journal, 3(1): 9 − 19.
- 515 ILO (2018), "More than 68 per cent of the employed population in Asia-Pacific are in the informal economy", online: https://www.ilo.org/asia/media-centre/news/WCMS_627585/lang--en/index.htm, viewed in January 2021.
- 516 Arnold, D. (2017), Political Space and Cambodia's Plantations Internal Report, p. 6.
- 517 U.S. Social Security Administration (2018), "Social Security Programs Throughout the World: Asia and the Pacific, 2018", online: https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/progdesc/ssptw/2018-2019/asia/cambodia.html, viewed in January 2021.
- 518 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 519 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Cambodia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103055, viewed in December 2020.
- 520 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 521 CNV Internationaal (2021), Cambodia's Garment Sector in Transformation External Shocks, Political Space and Supplier Consolidation, p. 20.
- 522 SOMO (2017), Study Report: Sugarcane Sector in Cambodia Internal Report, p. 20.
- 523 Arnold, D. (2017), Political Space and Cambodia's Plantations Internal Report, p. 6.
- 524 IUF (2020), "Affiliates: Cambodia", online: https://www.iuf.org/who-we-are/affiliates/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 525 ITUC (2019), List of Affiliated Organisations.
- 526 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Cambodia.
- 527 U.S. Department of State (2019), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Cambodia", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/cambodia/, viewed in January 2021.
- 528 Ulandssekretariatet (2015), Labour Market Profile Cambodia.
- 529 Rijksoverheid (n.d.), "Information on the Netherlands for people from Cambodia", online: https://www.netherlandsandyou.nl/your-country-and-the-netherlands/cambodia, viewed in January 2021.
- 530 Royal Government of Cambodia (2011), Sub-Decree on Contract Farming.
- 531 Sreymom, S. and K. Pirom (2015), Contract Farming in Cambodia: Different Models, Policy and Practice, p. 8.
- 532 SOMO (2017), Study Report: Sugarcane Sector in Cambodia linternal Report, p. 20.
- 533 CCC (n.d.), "Who we are", online: https://www.ccc-cambodia.org/en/about-us/who-we-are, viewed in January 2021.
- 534 IDEA (n.d.), "Improving working conditions in Cambodia", online: https://voice.global/grantees/improving-workingconditions-rights-cambodian-domestic-

workers/#:~:text=Country&text=The%20Independent%20Democratic%20Informal%20Economy,informal%20econo my%20workers%20in%20Cambodia.&text=IDEA%20is%20active%20in%20bringing,agenda%2C%20including%20so cial%20security%20rights., viewed in January 2021.

- 535 CLEC (n.d.), "About us", online: https://www.clec.org.kh/aboutus.php, viewed in January 2021.
- 536 ILO NORMLEX (n.d.), "Ratifications for Indonesia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102938, viewed in January 2021.
- 537 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Labour Market Profile 2020 Indonesia, p. iii.
- 538 ILO NORMLEX (n.d.), "Ratifications for Indonesia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102938, viewed in January 2021.
- 539 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor: Indonesia", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/indonesia, *viewed in Januar2021*.
- 540 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020, p. 22.
- 541 U.S. Department of Labor (2019), "2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor: Indonesia", online: https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/indonesia, viewed in January 2021.
- 542 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 543 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index: The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 544 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 545 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 546 Nugraha, I. (2020, April), "Glenn Fredly, Penyanyi Peduli Lingkungan dan Kemanusiaan Itu Telah Pergi", *Mongabay*, online: https://www.mongabay.co.id/2020/04/09/glenn-fredly-penyanyi-peduli-lingkungan-dan-kemanusiaan-itu-telah-pergi/, viewed in January 2021.
- 547 ILO NORMLEX (n.d.), "Ratifications for Indonesia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102938, viewed in January 2021.
- 548 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 549 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 550 ILO NORMLEX (n.d.), "Ratifications for Indonesia", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:102938, viewed in January 2021.
- 551 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 552 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 553 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 554 IUF (2020), "IUF affiliates", online: http://pre2020.iuf.org/w/?q=node/3439, viewed in January 2021.
- 555 ITUC (2019), International Trade Union Confederation: List of Affiliated Organisations.
- 556 Ulandssekretariatet (2020), Indonesia Labour Market Profile 2020.
- 557 Laoli, N. (2015), "Kadin resmi bentuk Dewan Gula Indonesia", online: https://industri.kontan.co.id/news/kadin-resmi-bentuk-dewan-gula-indonesia, viewed in January 2021.
- 558 RVO (2020), "Indonesië: bij wie kunt u terecht?", online: https://www.rvo.nl/onderwerpen/internationaalondernemen/landenoverzicht/indonesi%C3%AB/indonesi%C3%AB-bij-wie-kunt-u-terecht, viewed in January 2021.
- 559 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Viet Nam", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103004, viewed in January 2021.
- 560 ILO and the Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs of Viet Nam, Viet Nam National Child Labour Survey 2018: Key Findings, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization.

- 561 U.S. Department of Labor (2020), 2020 List of Goods Produced by Child Labor or Forced Labor.
- 562 ILO and the Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs of Viet Nam, *Viet Nam National Child Labour Survey 2018: Key Findings*, Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization.
- 563 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Viet Nam", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103004, viewed in January 2021.
- 564 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/, viewed in January 2021.
- 565 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/, viewed in January 2021.
- 566 Hutt, D. (2019), "Workers of Vietnam, Unite? A revised labor code could have important implications for how trade unions operate in the country", online: https://thediplomat.com/2019/11/workers-of-vietnam-unite/, viewed in January 2021.
- 567 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/, viewed in January 2021.
- 568 ITUC (2020), 2020 ITUC Global Rights Index: The World's Worst Countries for Workers.
- 569 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Viet Nam", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103004, viewed in January 2021.
- 570 NILP (n.d.), "About VN NIOSH: History", online: http://vnniosh.vn/english/Infomation/id/2114/History, viewed in January 2021.
- 571 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/, viewed in January 2021.
- 572 ILO (2020, April), COVID-19 and the Labour Market in Viet Nam, p. 7.
- 573 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/, viewed in January 2021.
- 574 BIPO (2018), Understanding Social Security System in Vietnam.
- 575 OECD (2018), Increasing Social Insurance Coverage in Viet Nam's SMEs, p. 15.
- 576 ILO (n.d.), "NORMLEX: Ratifications for Viet Nam", online: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11200:0::NO:11200:P11200_COUNTRY_ID:103004, viewed in January 2021.
- 577 U.S. Department of State (2020), "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Vietnam", online: https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/vietnam/, viewed in January 2021.
- 578 Hutt, D. (2019), "Workers of Vietnam, Unite? A revised labor code could have important implications for how trade unions operate in the country", online: https://thediplomat.com/2019/11/workers-of-vietnam-unite/, viewed in January 2021.
- 579 Quynh Chi, D. (2016), Vietnam Country Study Labour Standards in the Garment Supply Chain, Research Center for Employment Relations (ERC) for CNV Internationaal, p. 19.
- 580 CNV Internationaal (2020), "Nieuw eu-vrijhandelsakkoord met Vietnam mist adequaat monitoringmechanisme voor arbeidsrechten", online: https://www.cnvinternationaal.nl/nl/ons-werk/nieuws/2020/februari/nieuwe-euvrijhandelsovereenkomst-met-vietnam-mist-adequaat-monitoringmechanisme-voor-arbeidsrechten, viewed in January 2021.
- 581 ILO (2017), Decent Work Country Programme 2017-2021 Viet Nam.



Radarweg 505 1043 NZ Amsterdam The Netherlands +31-20-8208320 profundo@profundo.nl www.profundo.nl